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Forward-Looking Statements

This report on Form 10−K contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which
are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by those laws. We have based our forward-looking
statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. Our forward-looking
statements include information about possible or assumed future results of our operations. All statements,
other than statements of historical facts, included or incorporated by reference in this report that address
activities, events or developments that we expect or anticipate may occur in the future, including such
things as the growth of our business and operations, our business strategy, competitive strengths, goals,
plans, future capital expenditures and references to future successes may be considere d forward-looking
statements. Also, when we use words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“plan,” “probably” or similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements.

Numerous risks and uncertainties may impact the matters addressed by our forward-looking
statements, any of which could negatively and materially affect our future financial results and
performance.  We describe some of these risks and uncertainties in greater detail in Item 1A of this report,
Risk Factors.

Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are
reasonable, any of these assumptions, and, therefore, also the forward-looking statements based on these
assumptions, could themselves prove to be inaccurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in
the forward-looking statements that are included in this report, our inclusion of this information is not a
representation by us or any other person that our objectives and plans will be achieved. Our forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date made, and we will not update these forward-looking
statements unless the securities laws require us to do so. In light of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, any forward-looking event discussed in this report may not occur.
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PART I

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

Business Overview

Independence Holding Company is a Delaware corporation (NYSE: IHC) that was formed in
1980.  We are a holding company principally engaged in the life and health insurance business with
principal executive offices located at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06902. We
currently own a 49.7% equity interest in American Independence Corp. (NASDAQ:AMIC), which owns
Independence American Insurance Company ("Independence American") and several managing general
underwriters ("MGUs").

Our website is located at www.ihcgroup.com.  Detailed information about IHC, its corporate
affiliates and insurance products and services can be found on our website. In addition, we make our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to such reports available, free of charge, through our website, as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the SEC.  The information on our website, however, is
not incorporated by reference in, and does not form part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 IHC provides specialized life and health coverages and related services to commercial customers
and individuals.  We focus on niche products and/or narrowly defined distribution channels in the United
States.  Our wholly owned insurance company subsidiaries, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of
New York ("Standard Security Life") and Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison
National Life") market their products through independent and affiliated brokers, producers and agents.
 Independence American also distributes through these sources as well as to consumers through a
dedicated controlled distribution.

Madison National Life and Standard Security Life are sometimes collectively referred to as the
"Insurance Group." IHC and its subsidiaries (including the Insurance Group) are sometimes collectively
referred to as the "Company", or "IHC", or are implicit in the terms "we", "us" and "our".

IHC retains much of the risk that it underwrites, and focuses on the following lines of business:
· Medical excess (or "stop-loss")
· Multiple fully insured health lines
· Group disability and life
· Individual life, primarily through block acquisitions

Each of Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and our affiliate, Independence American,
is rated A- (Excellent) by A.M. Best Company, Inc. ("Best"). Standard Security Life is domiciled in New
York and licensed as an insurance company in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Virgin Islands
and Puerto Rico.  Madison National Life is domiciled in Wisconsin, licensed to sell insurance products in
49 states, the District of Columbia, the Virgin Islands and Guam, and is an accredited reinsurer in New
York. Independence American is domiciled in Delaware and licensed to sell insurance products in 49
states and the District of Columbia. We have been informed by Best that a Best rating is assigned after an
extensive quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a company's financial condition and operating
performance and is also based upon factors relevant to policyholders, agents, and intermediaries, an d is
not directed toward protection of investors. Best ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any
of our securities.  
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Our administrative companies underwrite, market, administer and/or price life and health
insurance business for our owned and affiliated carriers, and, to a lesser extent, for non-affiliated
insurance companies.  They receive fees for these services and do not bear any of the insurance risk of the
companies to which they provide services, other than through profit commissions or profit slides. Our
principal administrative companies are Insurers Administrative Corporation (“IAC”), Majestic
Underwriters, LLC ("Majestic"), Health Plan Administrators, Inc. (“HPA”), GroupLink Inc.
(“GroupLink”), and Actuarial Management Corporation ("AMC"). AMIC's administrative companies are
IndependenceCare Underwriting Services, Risk Assessment Strategies, and Voorhees Risk Management,
d.b.a. Marlton Risk Group (collectively, the "AMIC MGUs").

Our general agencies earn commissions for selling life and health insurance products
underwritten by IHC’s owned and affiliated insurance companies and also by unaffiliated carriers. IHC’s
principal agency is IHC Health Solutions, Inc. (“IHC Health Solutions”). In addition, AMIC owns
controlling interests in Independent Producers of America, LLC ("IPA") and Healthinsurance.org LLC.
IPA is a national, career agent marketing organization. Healthinsurance.org LLC is an online marketing
company that owns www.healthinsurance.org, a lead generation site for individual health insurance.  
 

For information pertaining to the Company's business segments, reference is made to Note 21 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.

Our Philosophy

Our business strategy consists of maximizing underwriting profits through a variety of niche life
and health insurance products and/or through distribution channels that enable us to access underserved
markets or markets in which we believe we have a competitive advantage.  Standard Security Life and
Madison National Life focus on establishing preferred relationships with producers who seek an
alternative to larger, more bureaucratic health insurers, and on providing these producers with
personalized service and unique rewards programs.  Independence American focuses on alternative
distribution sources, such as captive agencies and direct-to-consumer initiatives.  While our management
considers a wide range of factors in its strategic planning and decision-making, underwriting profit is
consistently emphasized as the primary goal in all decisions. We seek transactions that will generate fee
income and profi t commissions for our administrative operating companies as well as risk income for our
insurance carriers, thereby permitting us to leverage IHC's vertically integrated organizational structure.

The health insurance industry tends to be cyclical, and excess products, such as medical stop-loss,
tend to be more volatile than fully insured health products.  During a “soft” market cycle, a larger number
of companies offer insurance on a certain line of business, which causes premiums in that line to trend
downward.  In a “hard” market cycle, insurance companies limit their writings in certain lines of business
following periods of excessive losses and insurance and reinsurance companies redeploy their capital to
lines that they believe will achieve higher margins.

As a result of our expansion into the Fully Insured Health Segment and our increased control of
distribution through corporate acquisitions, we are now better able to respond to market cycles by
redeploying the focus of our insurance underwriting activity across a larger number of business lines.
 During the “soft” medical stop-loss market that has persisted for the past five years, we have encouraged
our owned and affiliated MGUs to be more selective in order to achieve better underwriting results.
 While we had seen improvement in our 2005 results, we recognized during 2007 that several of our
MGUs had been less selective in their 2006 and 2007 business.  As a result we terminated several non-
owned MGUs in 2008 and reduced our retention on the business generated by others, and have been
successful in improving our underwriting results.  While we expect to see some decrease in our gross writ
ten stop-loss premiums, we anticipate greater fully insured health premiums both on a gross- and a
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net-retained basis, as we selectively retain more risk on certain programs.  We are also benefiting from fee
income from our administrative and sales companies, which is generally not subject to insurance risk.

DISTRIBUTION

Medical Stop-Loss

We market medical stop-loss primarily through MGUs which are non-salaried contractors that
receive administrative fees. MGUs are responsible for underwriting accounts in accordance with
guidelines formulated and approved by us, billing and collecting premiums, paying commissions to
agents, third party administrators ("TPAs") and/or brokers, and processing claims. We are responsible for
selecting MGUs, establishing underwriting guidelines, maintaining approved policy forms and overseeing
claims for reimbursement, as well as for establishing appropriate accounting procedures and reserves. In
order to accomplish this, we audit the MGUs' underwriting, claims and policy issuance practices to assure
compliance with our guidelines, provide the MGUs with access to our medical management and cost
containment expertise, and review cases that require referral based on our underwriting guidelines. MGUs
receive fee income, g enerally 8% to 12% of gross premium produced by them on behalf of the insurance
carriers they represent, and typically are entitled to additional income based on underwriting results.

During 2008, Standard Security Life and Madison National Life wrote approximately 53.9% of
their medical stop-loss business through Majestic, the AMIC MGUs and TRU Services (“TRU”)
(collectively, the "Affiliated MGUs"). During 2008, we terminated three MGUs and did not appoint any
new ones.

The agents and brokers that produce this business are non-salaried contractors that receive
commissions.

Fully Insured Health

The Fully Insured Health Segment includes six lines of business (major medical health plans for
small groups, individuals and families, dental/vision, short-term medical ("STM"), limited medical, and
student medical) that are sold in the majority of states through multiple and varied distribution strategies.
 The largest line of business in this segment continues to be major medical for small employer groups
(defined as employers with between two and fifty employees), but the other lines are growing more
rapidly. The majority of our business in this segment is written through general agents, agents and
brokers.  We also market (i) directly to agents through the IHC Health Solutions telesales unit, (ii) through
private-label arrangements managed by IHC Health Solutions with non-affiliated carriers, and (iii)
through AMIC's captive agency relationships.

We entered the Fully Insured Health Segment as a result of several strategic acquisitions and
partnerships starting in 2005.  We have built a controlled platform to write small-group major medical,
major medical health plans for individuals and families, dental/vision, short-term medical, limited medical
and student medical. Our senior management team has extensive experience in these lines of business and
the majority of our current fully insured health block was previously administered (on behalf of other
carriers) by the companies we have acquired. Much of this existing block has been transferred to our
carriers so we now benefit from administrative fee income at a variety of levels, earn risk profits and
receive profit commissions from our reinsurers. The acquisition in 2007 of Actuarial Management
Corporation not only brought in-house the actuarial expertise necessary to maintain the profitability of our
fully i nsured business, but also added another source of fee income and potential profit commissions. The
acquisition of IHC Health Solutions, also in 2007, has provided us with a marketing company specializing
in alternative distribution methods and strategic partnerships.
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IAC is a marketing and administration organization that has been underwriting and administering
individual and group health insurance (including high-deductible employer-sponsored consumer driven
health plans (“CDHPs”)) since its formation in 1978.  IAC has approximately 300 salaried employees
performing all aspects of underwriting, policy administration and managing fully insured group and
individual health insurance on behalf of IHC and other carriers.  IAC manages approximately $230
million of individual and group health and life premiums and premium equivalents for multiple insurers,
including the STM business it manages for HPA.

 HPA manages and (together with IAC) administers all of the STM products sold by Standard
Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American.  HPA, which has specialized in STM
since 1990, distributes nationally through appointed general agents, agents and broker relationships. IHC
has also begun cross-selling STM through its other distribution sources (including IAC, GroupLink and
the MGUs).  

GroupLink manages and administers all of the dental business sold by Standard Security Life and
Madison National Life. GroupLink has distributed dental and vision products nationally, primarily
through a brokerage distribution system utilizing general agents and brokers, since 1983. GroupLink also
administers dental business for alternative distribution such as dental HMO's and other marketing
organizations, all of which are independent contractors compensated on a commission-only basis.

IHC Health Solutions distributes our group major medical, individual medical, STM and dental
products through strategic relationships with other insurance carriers and by private-labeling our product
for large, national marketing organizations.  In March 2006, IHC Health Solutions acquired a block of
approximately $50 million of small-group major medical business (including CDHPs) and the key
personnel of a marketing and administration company. IHC Health Solutions currently employs
approximately 35 sales and administrative staff personnel who promote our products and manage our
marketing relationships.

 In 2006, Standard Security Life introduced a limited medical policy for hourly workers and other
currently uninsured Americans who cannot afford traditional health insurance. This product is primarily
distributed for us by an agency which has been in this line of business since 1990. We introduced major
medical insurance plans for individuals and families in 2007 through multiple distribution channels,
including IAC, IHC Health Solutions and several strategic relationships. IAC currently administers a
block of approximately $75 million of such business. IHC’s carriers now reinsure a portion of the
business administered by IAC that is not on IHC paper and, in some cases, receive a fee for overseeing
the program. Our main emphasis in 2008 was on increasing profit margins and distribution of existing
products. In 2009, we will move a block of $15 million of major medical plans for individuals and
families, which h as been administered by IAC for many years, from an unaffiliated insurance company to
Standard Security Life.

The agents and brokers who produce the Fully Insured Health business are non-salaried
contractors who receive commissions. IHC’s gross earned premiums from this segment grew very quickly
from 2005 to 2007, but were relatively flat in 2008. We anticipate that the rate of growth will continue to
be relatively flat in 2009.

Other Products

Our other products are primarily distributed by general agents, agents and brokers. Standard
Security Life distributes group term life insurance products through MGUs (including its medical stop-
loss MGUs), managed care organizations, general agents and brokers. It also markets specialized defined
benefit and defined contribution service award programs with separate group life coverage to volunteer
emergency services personnel and blanket accident insurance sold through two specialized general agents.
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The short-term statutory disability benefit product in New York State ("DBL") is marketed primarily
through independent general agents who are paid commissions based upon the amount of premiums
produced. Madison National Life's disability and group life products are primarily sold in the Midwest to
school districts, municipalities and hospital employer groups through a managing general agent that
specializes in these target markets.  We also sell through independent general agents and agents.

For a number of years Madison National Life has sold a whole-life product with an annuity rider
to military personnel and civil service employees.  As a result of this experience, in 2008 Madison
National Life formed a subsidiary, IHC Financial Group, to recruit agents to sell life and annuity products
to state and federal employees. Since these products are currently not available through IHC’s carriers,
IHC Financial Group has contracted with highly rated insurance companies to sell their life and annuity
products to these individuals. The income for IHC Financial Group is derived completely from
commissions on the sale of the products of these other companies. The agents and brokers who produce
this business are non-salaried contractors who receive commissions.  We do not expect to earn significant
income from this subsidiary in 2009, but do anticipate growth as we continue to recruit new agents.  W e
anticipate that premiums from our whole-life and annuity rider product will be relatively constant in 2009.

PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS

Medical Stop-Loss

The Company is a leading writer nationally of excess or stop-loss insurance for self-insured
employer groups that desire to manage the risk of large medical claims ("Employer Medical Stop-Loss").
We also write excess policies for providers, managed care organizations, including provider hospital
organizations, hospital groups, physician groups and individual practice associations (collectively,
"MCOs") that have assumed risk and desire to reduce their claim volatility ("Provider Excess Loss") and
for health maintenance organizations ("HMOs") that desire to reduce their claim volatility ("HMO
Reinsurance"). Employer Medical Stop-Loss, Provider Excess Loss and HMO Reinsurance are
collectively referred to as "Medical Stop-Loss."

Standard Security Life was one of the first carriers to market Employer Medical Stop-Loss
insurance, starting in 1987, and the Insurance Group is now one of the largest writers of this product in
the United States. Employer Medical Stop-Loss insurance provides coverage to public and private entities
that elect to self-insure their employees' medical coverage for losses within specified ranges, which
permits such groups to manage the risk of excessive health insurance costs by limiting specific and
aggregate losses to predetermined amounts.  This coverage is available on either a specific or a specific
and aggregate basis, although the majority of the Insurance Group's policies cover both specific and
aggregate claims. Plans are designed to fit the identified needs of the self-insured employer by offering a
variety of deductibles (i.e., the level of claims after which the me dical stop-loss benefits become
payable).

IHC anticipates some reduction in premiums in the Medical Stop-Loss line of business in 2009
due to the termination of certain employer medical stop-loss MGUs and even more stringent underwriting
guidelines and the continuing consolidation of MCOs and reduced demand for Provider Excess Loss
coverage.

  
Fully Insured Health Products

Group Major Medical

The Company began selling group major medical insurance (including CDHPs) primarily to
small employers (two to 50 covered lives) during 2005, and significantly expanded its book of business in
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2006 in large part as a result of an acquisition of a block of approximately $50 million.  IHC markets this
product in the majority of states. It is fully insured major medical coverage that is principally designed to
work with health reimbursement accounts ("HRA") and health savings accounts ("HSA") which are
implemented by employers that wish to provide this benefit as part of an employee welfare benefit plan.
 These plans are offered primarily as preferred provider organizations ("PPO") plans, and provide a
variety of cost-sharing options, including deductibles, coinsurance and co-payment. CDHPs are designed
to provide participants with economic incentives to be informed consumers of healthcare.

In addition to small group, the Company offers a unique group medical plan to employers (small
and large) who are contractors working on government-funded projects under the Davis-Bacon and
Service Contract Acts ("the Acts"), much of which is associated with current and future U.S.
infrastructure improvements. This plan helps contactors meet the provisions of a "bona fide" fringe
benefit for their hourly workers as required in the Acts.

The Company anticipates a decrease in premiums in the small group line in 2009, primarily as a
result of stricter underwriting guidelines and fewer groups purchasing major medical coverage as a result
of current economic conditions. We do expect growth in plans associated with government-funded
projects, primarily as a result of the recently enacted federal stimulus legislation, which will immediately
provide funds for infrastructure improvements.

Short-Term Medical

As a result of the acquisition of HPA, IHC began selling individual major medical STM products
("STM") in 2005. During 2006, Standard Security Life underwrote this product in 45 states. STM is
designed specifically for people with transient needs for health coverage. Typically, STM products are
written as major medical coverage with a defined duration, which is normally twelve months or less.
Among the typical purchasers of STM products are self-employed professionals, recent college graduates,
persons between jobs, employed individuals not currently eligible for group insurance, and others who
need insurance for a specified period of time.  HPA, founded in 1939, has specialized in STM since 1990
and has access to approximately 30,000 insurance agents and brokers nationally. The Company has also
begun promoting STM through its other distribution sources.

IHC lost market share in this line of business in 2008 as a result of rating actions which
significantly improved profit margins. We anticipate modest growth in this line of business as a result of
contemplated rating actions that will make this product more competitive while maintaining profitability
targets.

Dental/Vision

Standard Security Life and Madison National Life began selling group dental products in late
2005 in the majority of states. GroupLink administers the majority of IHC's dental business and is also the
primary distribution source of this line of business. The dental portfolio includes indemnity and PPO
plans for employer groups of two or more lives and for individuals within affinity groups.  Employer
plans are offered on both employer paid and employee voluntary basis.  Vision, group life and short-term
disability benefits will also be offered by GroupLink. Vision plans will offer a flat reimbursement amount
for exams and materials.  Life plans are available on scheduled or percentage of salary basis and short-
term disability is offered as a percentage of salary or flat amount.
  

In 2007, Standard Security Life began writing vision policies in the State of New York on behalf
of national vision providers.  IHC does not control the distribution or underwriting of this product, and
therefore it does not retain its normal share of the risk and does not earn administrative fee income, other
than the carrier fee.
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IHC anticipates continued growth in this line of business in future years as a result of organic
growth at GroupLink, our vision programs in New York, a new small group vision product and additional
distribution relationships for both dental and vision.

Major Medical for Individuals and Families

The Company markets major medical plans for individuals and families that include CDHP
products which are approved in the majority of states.  The Company believes that the demand for
individual medical products is growing steadily, in large part, to employers reducing the number of
employees eligible for group coverage, and to an increase in the number of self-employed individuals.
Many of these plans are Federally Qualified High Deductible Health Plans that allow the policy or
certificate holder to establish an HSA.  For these products, each application is individually underwritten
for consideration of coverages.

 The Company anticipates growth in this line of business, primarily related to the aforementioned
transfer of a block of $15 million of major medical plans for individuals and families, which has been
administered by IAC for many years, from an unaffiliated insurance company to Standard Security Life.

Limited Medical

Standard Security Life insures a limited medical policy to offer affordable health coverage to
hourly, part-time and/or seasonal employees, which is currently approved in a majority of states. Limited
medical plans are a low cost alternative to major medical insurance for those uninsured Americans who
cannot afford traditional health insurance. Employers are using these plans to recruit and retain
employees, save costs and compete more effectively. These plans also permit employees who do not
otherwise have health insurance to begin to participate in the healthcare system.

The Company began writing this product in 2007 and recorded $2.1 million of gross premiums in
that year. In 2008, the Company recorded $4.8 million of gross premiums written and projects continued
growth in 2009.

Student Medical

Standard Security Life and Madison National Life began selling student accident and student
health insurance (collectively, “Student Medical”) in late 2007.  The student accident product is primarily
offered to sports, youth, recreational and educational markets.  A number of states recommend, and some
require, that school districts offer, or provide, student accident insurance to their pupils.  The student
health insurance product is primarily offered to students enrolled in college and higher education
institutions, and often is mandatory for students who do not otherwise have health coverage.  This product
is comprehensive, major medical coverage, which often has a managed care component through the
institutions’ health facilities.       

IHC anticipates this line of business to remain steady in 2009 due to the cancellation of one
production source offset by an expected increase in premiums from the remaining producers.

Group Disability; Life, Annuities and DBL

Group Long-Term and Short-Term Disability

The Company sells group long-term disability ("LTD") products to employers that wish to
provide this benefit to their employees. Depending on an employer's requirements, LTD policies (i) cover
between 40% and 90% of insurable salary; (ii) have elimination periods (i.e., the period between the
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commencement of the disability and the start of benefit payments) of between 30 and 730 days; and (iii)
terminate after two, five or ten years, or extend to age 65 or the employee's Social Security normal
retirement date. Benefit payments are reduced by social security, workers compensation, pension benefits
and other income replacement payments. Optional benefits are available to employees, including
coverage for partial or residual disabilities, survivor benefits and cost of living adjustments. The
Company also markets short-term disability ("STD") policies that provide a weekly benefit to disabled
employees until the earlier of:  recovery from disability, eligibility for long-term disability benefits or the
end of the STD benefit period.

The Company anticipates an increase in sales to school districts and municipalities as a result of
the transfer of a block of business from another carrier. The Company is actively exploring opportunities
to leverage its underwriting and administrative expertise to distribute life and disability products through
its existing, as well as new, marketing relationships.

New York Short-Term Disability (DBL)

Standard Security Life markets DBL.  All companies with more than one employee in New York
State are required to provide DBL insurance for their employees. DBL coverage provides temporary cash
payments to replace wages lost as a result of disability due to non-occupational injury or illness.  The
DBL policy provides for (i) payment of 50% of salary to a maximum of $170 per week; (ii) a maximum
of 26 weeks in a consecutive 52 week period; and (iii) benefit commencement on the eighth consecutive
day of disability. Policies covering fewer than 50 employees have fixed rates approved by the New York
State Insurance Department. Policies covering 50 or more employees are individually underwritten.
 Standard Security Life's DBL premiums declined in 2008 due to a mandatory rate reduction which took
effect in the first quarter of 2008. The Company anticipates premiums will be relatively flat in 2009.

Group Term Life and Annuities

Madison National Life and Standard Security Life sell group term life products, including group
term life, accidental death and dismemberment ("AD&D"), supplemental life and supplemental AD&D
and dependent life.  As with its group disability business, IHC anticipates modest growth in this line of
business through expansion of its sales of these group term life products through existing and new
distribution sources.  Standard Security Life anticipates modest growth in its specialized defined benefit
and defined contribution service award programs, with separate group life coverage, to Volunteer
Emergency Services personnel.

Individual Life, Annuities and Other

This category includes: (i) insurance products that are in runoff as a result of the Insurance
Group's decision to discontinue writing such products; (ii) blocks of business that were acquired from
other insurance companies; (iii) individual life and annuities written through Madison National Life's
military and civilian government employee division; (iv) blanket accident insurance sold through a
specialized general agent; and (v) certain miscellaneous insurance products.
 

The following lines of Standard Security Life's in-force business are in runoff: individual accident
and health, individual life, single premium immediate annuities, disability income, accidental medical,
accidental death and AD&D insurance for athletes, executives and entertainers, and miscellaneous
insurance business. Madison National Life's runoff in this category consists of existing blocks of
individual life, including pre-need (i.e., funeral expense) coverage, traditional and interest-sensitive life
blocks which were acquired in prior years, individual accident and health products, annual and single
premium deferred annuity contracts and individual annuity contracts.
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LIFE INSURANCE IN-FORCE

The following table summarizes the aggregate life insurance in-force of the Insurance Group
excluding the credit life and disability segment which is discontinued operations (in thousands):

   2008   2007   2006
          
LIFE INSURANCE IN-FORCE:         
 Group $ 5,749,229  $ 6,226,441  $ 6,301,171
 Individual term  495,075   582,009   660,965
 Individual permanent  1,534,056   1,404,363   1,454,043
          
 TOTAL LIFE INSURANCE IN-         
  FORCE (1), (2) $ 7,778,360  $ 8,212,813  $ 8,416,179
          
NEW LIFE INSURANCE:         
 Group $ 218,479  $ 418,889  $ 371,416
 Individual term  482   7,000   7,743
 Individual permanent  64,799   140,829   155,770
          
 TOTAL NEW LIFE INSURANCE $ 283,760  $ 566,718  $ 534,929
          

NOTES:         
          
(1) Includes participating  insurance $ 228,140  $ 164,863  $ 181,796
          
(2) Before ceded reinsurance of:         
 Group $ 2,228,998  $ 2,525,418  $ 3,099,049
 Individual  97,942   232,666   97,015
          
 Total ceded reinsurance $ 2,326,940  $ 2,758,084  $ 3,196,064
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ACQUISITIONS OF POLICY BLOCKS

In addition to its core life and health lines of business distributed as described above, IHC formed
an acquisition group over 10 years ago to acquire blocks of business from other insurance companies,
guaranty associations and liquidators. Most of the acquired business has primarily been life, annuities or
disability business. Not only have these transactions yielded a healthy rate of return on the investment, but
the overall long-term nature of the policies acquired serves as a counterbalance to the bulk of the policies
currently being written which are short-term in nature.

During 2008, Madison National Life acquired a block of life insurance policies with
approximately $64.4 million of life reserves. The block consists of approximately $32.2 million of older,
traditional life reserves and $32.2 million of annuity reserves.

Madison National Life did not record any significant acquisitions in 2007.

During 2006, Madison National Life acquired a total of $8.0 million of reserves in the following
transactions: (i) effective January 1, 2006, entered into an agreement with an unaffiliated insurer to 100%
coinsure dental policies totaling approximately $0.1 million of reserves; (ii) effective October 1, 2006,
entered into an agreement with an unaffiliated insurer to 100% coinsure life insurance policies totaling
approximately $7.7 million  of reserves; and (iii) effective October 1, 2006, entered into an agreement
with an unaffiliated insurer to 100% coinsure life insurance policies totaling approximately $0.2 million
 of reserves.

During 2005, Madison National Life acquired a total of $168.7 million of reserves in the
following transactions: (i) effective January 1, 2005, entered into an agreement with an unaffiliated
insurer to 100% coinsure life insurance policies totaling approximately $10.2 million of reserves; (ii) in
January 2005, purchased certain credit policies totaling approximately $0.6 million of reserves from an
unaffiliated insurance company; (iii) in June 2005, entered into a reinsurance and assumption agreement
with an unaffiliated insurance company to assume approximately $120.0 million of life and annuity
reserves; (iv) in September 2005, assumed approximately $1.7 million of disability reserves from various
state guaranty associations; and (v) in December 2005, entered into a reinsurance and assumption
agreement to assume approximately $36.2 million of life and annuity reserves from an unaffiliated
insurance company.

As of January 1, 2005, Standard Security Life reinsured, on a 100% quota share basis, a $50
million block of small group major medical business, and has received regulatory approval of the
assumption certificates in each state.

In June 2004, IHC acquired a block of individual annuity and supplementary contracts and life
policies through an assumption reinsurance transaction. The block had reserves of $26.6 million. Madison
National Life assumed responsibility for administration of the block on September 1, 2004.

 REINSURANCE AND POLICY RETENTION LIMITS

The Company's average retention of Medical Stop-Loss exposure was 55.9% in 2008, 52.8% in
2007, and 51.2% in 2006. In 2008, 2007 and 2006, Standard Security Life and Madison National Life also
ceded, on average, 22.9%, 22.7%, and 22.2%, respectively, of their Medical Stop-Loss business to their
affiliate, Independence American. Standard Security Life retained 80% of DBL premium with the balance
ceded, commencing July 1, 2004, to Independence American. Retentions on other lines of business
remained relatively constant in 2008.  The Company purchases quota share reinsurance and
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excess reinsurance in amounts deemed appropriate by its risk committee. The Company monitors its
retention amounts by product line, and has the ability to adjust its retention as appropriate.

Reinsurance is used to reduce the potentially adverse financial impact of large individual or group
risks, and to reduce the strain on statutory income and surplus related to new business.  By using
reinsurance, the Insurance Group is able to write policies in amounts larger than it could otherwise accept.
 The amount reinsured is the portion of each policy in excess of the retention limit on a particular policy.
Maximum net retention limits for Standard Security Life at December 31, 2008 were: (i) $210,000 per life
on individual life and corresponding disability waiver of premium; (ii) no retention on accidental death
benefits provided by rider to individual life policies; (iii) up to $1,000,000 on any one medical stop-loss
claim; (iv) $2,500 of monthly benefits on disability income policies; (v) $25,000 on its special disability
business; and (vi) up to $1,000,000 for fully insured medical in a calendar year.  Standard Security Life
also maintains catastrophe reinsurance in order to protect against particularly adverse mortality which
might occur with respect to its overall life business.

At December 31, 2008, maximum net monthly retention limits on any one life for Madison
National Life were: (i) $6,000 per month on group long-term disability insurance; (ii) $1,600 per week on
group short-term disability insurance; (iii) $125,000 per individual on group term life, accidental death
benefits, including supplemental life and accidental death and dismemberment; (iv) $125,000 on
substandard ordinary life, group family life and individual ordinary life; (v) up to $1,000,000 on any one
medical stop-loss claim; (vi) individual monthly benefits from $1,000 to $2,500 depending on recipient
age and length of benefit period for individual accident and health insurance; and (vii) up to $2,500,000
for fully insured medical in a calendar year.

The following reinsurers represent 83.8% of the total ceded premium for the year ended
December 31, 2008:

Independence American Insurance Co.  27.1%
Munich Re America  21.6%
Everest Reinsurance Co.  12.3%
ReliaStar Life Insurance Company  10.0%
Fidelity Security Life Insurance Company  7.4%
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company  5.4%
   
  83.8%

The Insurance Group remains liable with respect to the insurance in-force which has been
reinsured in the unlikely event that the assuming reinsurers are unable to satisfy their obligations. The
Insurance Group cedes business (i) to individual reinsurance companies that are rated "A-" or better by
Best or (ii) upon provision of adequate security.  The ceding of reinsurance does not discharge the primary
liability of the original insurer to the insured. Since the risks under the Insurance Group's business are
primarily short-term, there would be limited exposure as a result of a change in a reinsurer's
creditworthiness during the term of the reinsurance. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Insurance
Group's ceded reinsurance in-force (excluding the credit life and disability segment which is discontinued
operations) was $2.3 billion and $2.8 billion, respectively.

For further information pertaining to reinsurance, reference is made to Note 20 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
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INVESTMENTS AND RESERVES

More than 99% of the Company's cash, cash equivalents and securities portfolio are managed by
employees of IHC and its affiliates, and ultimate investment authority rests with IHC's in-house
investment group. The remaining $4.7 million is invested with independent investment managers. As a
result of the nature of IHC's insurance liabilities, IHC endeavors to maintain a significant percentage of its
assets in investment grade securities, cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2008, approximately
99.1% of the fixed maturities were investment grade and continue to be rated on average AA. The internal
investment group provides a summary of the investment portfolio and the performance thereof at the
meetings of the Company's board of directors.
 

As required by insurance laws and regulations, the Insurance Group establishes reserves to meet
obligations on policies in-force. These reserves are amounts which, with additions from premiums
expected to be received and with interest on such reserves at certain assumed rates, are calculated to be
sufficient to meet anticipated future policy obligations.   Premiums and reserves are based upon certain
assumptions with respect to mortality, morbidity on health insurance, lapses and interest rates effective at
the time the polices are issued. The Insurance Group also establishes appropriate reserves for substandard
business, annuities and additional policy benefits, such as waiver of premium and accidental death.
 Standard Security Life and Madison National Life are also required by law to have an annual asset
adequacy analysis, which, in general, projects the amount and timing of cash flows to the estimated m
aturity date of liabilities, prepared by the certifying actuary for each insurance company. Standard
Security Life and Madison National Life invest their respective assets, which support the reserves and
other funds in accordance with applicable insurance law, under the supervision of their respective board
of directors. The Company manages interest rate risk seeking to maintain a portfolio with a duration and
average life that falls within the band of the duration and average life of the applicable liabilities. The
Company utilizes options to modify the duration and average life of the assets.

Under Wisconsin insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the percentage of an insurer's
admitted assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of
investment. With respect to the portion of an insurer's assets equal to its liabilities plus a statutorily-
determined security surplus amount, a Wisconsin insurer cannot, for example, invest more than a certain
percentage of its assets in non-amortizable evidences of indebtedness, securities of any one person (other
than a subsidiary and the United States government), or common stock of any corporation and its
affiliates (other than a subsidiary).

Under New York insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the percentage of an insurer's
admitted assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of
investment. For example, a New York life insurer cannot invest more than a certain percentage of its
admitted assets in common or preferred shares of any one institution, obligations secured by any one
property (other than those issued, guaranteed or insured by the United States or any state government or
agency thereof), or medium and lower grade obligations. In addition, there are certain qualitative
investment restrictions.   

15



The following table reflects the asset value in dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of total
investments of the Company as of December 31, 2008:

  CARRYING   % OF TOTAL
INVESTMENTS BY TYPE   VALUE   INVESTMENTS
       
Fixed maturities:       
 United States Government and       
 government agencies and authorities  $ 51,849   6.8%  
 Government-sponsored enterprise   9,573   1.2%  
 States, municipalities and political        
 subdivisions   245,113   32.2%  
 All other corporate securities   301,952   39.7%  
        
 Total fixed maturities   608,487   79.9%  
        
Equity securities:        
 Non-redeemable preferred stocks   54,007   7.1%  
         
 Total equity securities   54,007   7.1%  
        
Short-term investments   52   -  
Securities purchased under agreements        
 to resell   60,823   8.0%  
Investment partnership interests   5,821   0.8%  
Operating partnership interests   5,810   0.8%  
Policy loans   24,947   3.3%  
Investment in trust subsidiaries   1,146   0.1%  
        
 Total investments  $ 761,093   100.0%  

At December 31, 2008, 99.1% of the Company's fixed maturities were investment grade. The
composition of the Company's fixed maturities at December 31, 2008, utilizing Standard and Poor's rating
categories, was as follows:

GRADE    % INVESTED
    
AAA   45.2%  
AA   24.9%  
A   18.8%  
BBB   10.2%  
BB or lower   0.9%  
   100.0%  
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The Company's total pre-tax investment performance for each of the last three years is
summarized below, including amounts recognized in net income, and unrealized gains and losses
recognized in stockholders' equity as accumulated other comprehensive income or loss (excluding the
credit life and disability segment which is discontinued operations):

  2008  2007  2006
  (In thousands)
       
Consolidated Statements of Operations       

Net investment income $ 44,044 $ 46,122 $ 47,676
Net realized investment gains (losses)  (50,648)  1,258  625
       
Consolidated Balance Sheets       

Net unrealized losses  (70,747)  (10,914)  (1,352)
       
Total pre-tax investment performance $ (77,351) $ 36,466 $ 46,949

The above net unrealized losses, which have been recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,
represent the net change in unrealized gains and losses that occurred during the year, prior to adjustments
for deferred acquisition costs and deferred income taxes. At December 31, 2008, the Company only has
one non-performing fixed maturity investment with a carrying value of $.7 million, or .1% of the total
carrying value of fixed maturities.

COMPETITION AND REGULATION

We compete with many large insurance companies, small regional health insurers and managed
care organizations.  Although most life insurance companies are stock companies, mutual companies also
write life insurance in the United States.  Mutual companies may have certain competitive advantages
since profits inure directly to the benefit of the policyholders.

IHC is an insurance holding company; as such, IHC and its subsidiary carriers and administrative
companies are subject to regulation and supervision by multiple state insurance regulators, including the
New York State Insurance Department (Standard Security Life's domestic regulator) and the Wisconsin
Department of Insurance (Madison National Life's domestic regulator).  Each of Standard Security Life
and Madison National Life is subject to regulation and supervision in every state in which it is licensed to
transact business. These supervisory agencies have broad administrative powers with respect to the
granting and revocation of licenses to transact business, the licensing of agents, the approval of policy
forms, the approval of commission rates, the form and content of mandatory financial statements, reserve
requirements and the types and maximum amounts of investments which may be made. Such regulation is
primar ily designed for the benefit of policyholders rather than the stockholders of an insurance company
or insurance holding company.

Certain transactions within the IHC holding company system are also subject to regulation and
supervision by such regulatory agencies.  All such transactions must be fair and equitable.  Notice to or
prior approval by the applicable insurance department is required with respect to transactions affecting the
ownership or control of an insurer and of certain material transactions, including dividend declarations,
between an insurer and any person in its holding company system. Under New York and Wisconsin
insurance laws, "control" is defined as the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of a person.  Under New York law, control is
presumed to exist if any person, directly or indirectly, owns, controls or holds with the power to vote ten
percent or more of the voting securities of any other person; in Wisconsin, the presumption is defined as
to more than ten percent of the voting securities of another person. In both states, the acquisition of
control of a domestic insurer needs to be approved in advance by the Commissioner of Insurance. See
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Note 22 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 for information as to
restrictions on the ability of the Company's insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends.

Risk-based capital requirements are imposed on life and property and casualty insurance
companies. The risk-based capital ratio is determined by dividing an insurance company's total adjusted
capital, as defined, by its authorized control level risk-based capital.  Companies that do not meet certain
minimum standards require specified corrective action.  The risk-based capital ratios for each of Standard
Security Life and Madison National Life exceed such minimum ratios.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company sold its credit life and disability segment by entering into a 100% coinsurance
agreement with an unaffiliated insurer effective December 31, 2007.  The transaction closed in February
2008 with a payment of $10.9 million, representing the net statutory unearned premium reserve as of
December 31, 2007 less a ceding fee of $8.8 million. As a result of the transaction, the Company recorded
a gain in statutory surplus of $4.8 million, net of tax, and a $3.6 million loss on disposition of
discontinued operations, net of $1.9 million of tax benefits, in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
for the year ended December 31, 2007. The loss was primarily the result of the write-off of deferred
acquisition costs related to the credit segment.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded income from discontinued
operations of $.5 million, net of taxes, representing expenses and changes in claims and reserves related to
the insurance liabilities for claims incurred prior to the aforementioned sale. The Company also recorded
a gain on the disposition of discontinued operations amounting to $.1 million, net of taxes, representing an
adjustment to the initial ceding fee.

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2008, the Company and its direct and indirect majority- or wholly owned
subsidiaries, collectively, had 624 employees.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones that we face, but are those that
we have identified as being the most significant factors that make investment in our stock speculative or
risky or that have special application to us.  Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not know about,
or that we deem less significant than those identified below, may also make investment in our stock
speculative or risky. If any of the adverse events associated with the risks described below occurs, our
business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In such a
case, the trading price of our stock could decline.

Our investment portfolio is subject to various risks that may result in realized investment losses.  In
particular, decreases in the fair value of fixed maturities may greatly reduce the value of our
investments, and as a result, our financial condition may suffer.

We are subject to credit risk in our investment portfolio. Defaults by third parties in the payment
or performance of their obligations under these securities could reduce our investment income and
realized investment gains or result in the continued recognition of investment losses. The value of our
investments may be materially adversely affected by increases in interest rates, downgrades in the
preferred stocks and bonds included in our portfolio and by other factors that may result in the continued
recognition of other-than-temporary impairments. Each of these events may cause us to reduce the
carrying value of our investment portfolio.  
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In particular, at December 31, 2008, fixed maturities represented $608.5 million or 79.9% of our
total investments of $761.1 million. The fair value of fixed maturities and the related investment income
fluctuates depending on general economic and market conditions. The fair value of these investments
generally increases or decreases in an inverse relationship with fluctuations in interest rates, while net
investment income realized by us will generally increase or decrease in line with changes in market
interest rates. In addition, actual net investment income and/or cash flows from investments that carry
prepayment risk, such as mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities, may differ from those
anticipated at the time of investment as a result of interest rate fluctuations. An investment has
prepayment risk when there is a risk that the timing of cash flows that result from the repayment of
principal might occur e arlier than anticipated because of declining interest rates or later than anticipated
because of rising interest rates. The impact of value fluctuations affects our Consolidated Financial
Statements. Because all of our fixed maturities are classified as available for sale, changes in the fair
value of our securities are reflected in our stockholders' equity (accumulated other comprehensive income
or loss). No similar adjustment is made for liabilities to reflect a change in interest rates. Therefore,
interest rate fluctuations and economic conditions could adversely affect our stockholders' equity, total
comprehensive income and/or cash flows. For mortgage-backed securities, credit risk exists if mortgagees
default on the underlying mortgages. Although at December 31, 2008, approximately 99.1% of the fixed
maturities were investment grade and continue to be rated on average AA, all of our fixed maturities are
subject to credit risk. If any of the issuers of our fixed maturities suffer financial setbacks, the ratings on
the fixed maturities could fall (with a concurrent fall in fair value) and, in a worst case scenario, the issuer
could default on its financial obligations. If the issuer defaults, we could have realized losses associated
with the impairment of the securities.

We regularly monitor our investment portfolio to ensure that investments that are other-than-
temporarily impaired are identified in a timely fashion, properly valued and any impairment is charged
against earnings in the proper period. Assessment factors include, but are not limited to, the length of time
and the extent to which the market value has been less than cost, the financial condition and rating of the
issuer, whether any collateral is held and our intent and ability to retain the investment for a period of time
sufficient to allow for recovery. However, the determination that a security has incurred an other-than-
temporary decline in value requires the judgment of management. Inherently, there are risks and
uncertainties involved in making these judgments. Therefore, changes in facts and circumstances and
critical assumptions could result in management’s decision that further impairments have occurred. This
could lead to additional losses on investments, particularly those that management has the intent and
ability to hold until recovery in value occurs.

Our earnings could be materially affected by an impairment of goodwill.
 

Goodwill represented $52,331,000 of our $1,273,894,000 in total assets as of December 31, 2008.
We review our goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if indicators of impairment exist. We
regularly assess whether any indicators of impairment exist, which requires a significant amount of
judgment. Such indicators may include: a sustained significant decline in our share price and market
capitalization; a decline in our expected future cash flows; a significant adverse change in the business
climate; and/or slower growth rates, among others. Any adverse change in one of these factors could have
a significant impact on the recoverability of these assets and could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements. During 2008, we experienced a significant decline in our stock price.
Due to this significant decline, our market capitalization as of December 31, 2008 was significantly below
the sum of o ur reporting units’ fair values. If we experience a sustained decline in our results of
operations and cash flows, or other indicators of impairment exist, we may incur a material non-cash
charge to earnings relating to impairment of our goodwill, which could have a material adverse effect on
our results.
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Changes in state and federal regulations, or the application thereof, may adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
 

Congress and state legislatures continue to focus on health care issues. In addition, the 2008
elections resulted in a renewed focus on health care and health insurance, and several key legislators and
some of the newly appointed and elected officials, including in the executive branch, have proposed
significant changes to the existing system. Potential reforms include, but are not limited to: mandating
universal coverage; imposing more restrictive regulation of the underwriting and marketing of health
insurance; making generally available a government-sponsored health plan as an alternative to private
insurance; and changing the federal income tax laws relating to the deductibility of health insurance
premiums. A number of states are contemplating significant reform of their health insurance markets.
These proposals include provisions affecting both public programs and privately financed health
insurance arrangements. &n bsp; We cannot assure you that, if enacted into law, any of these proposals
would not have a material, adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.  

Less-fundamental change in the regulatory requirements imposed on us may also harm our
business or results of operations. For example, some states have imposed time limits for the payment of
uncontested covered claims and required health care and dental service plans to pay interest on
uncontested claims not paid promptly within the required time period. Some states have also granted their
insurance regulatory agencies additional authority to impose monetary penalties and other sanctions on
health and dental plans engaging in certain unfair payment practices. If we were unable, for any reason, to
comply with these requirements, it could result in substantial costs to us and could materially adversely
affect our results of operations and financial condition.

If rating agencies downgrade our insurance companies, our results of operations and competitive
position in the industry may suffer.

Ratings have become an increasingly important factor in establishing the competitive position of
insurance companies. Standard Security Life and Madison National Life are both rated "A-" (Excellent)
by A.M. Best Company, Inc.  Best's ratings reflect its opinions of an insurance company's financial
strength, operating performance, strategic position, and ability to meet its obligations to policyholders and
are not evaluations directed to investors.  The ratings of Standard Security Life and Madison National
Life are subject to periodic review by Best.  If Best reduces either or both Madison National Life's or
Standard Security Life's ratings from its current levels, our business would be adversely affected.

Given the current economic and political climates, our stock may be increasingly subject to stock
price and trading volume volatility. The price of our common stock could fluctuate or decline
significantly and you could lose all or part of your investment.
 

During 2008, the stock markets experienced significant price and trading volume volatility.
Company-specific issues and market developments generally in the insurance industry and in the
regulatory environment may have caused this volatility. Our stock price declined significantly during
2008 and may continue to materially fluctuate in 2009 in response to a number of events and factors,
including: quarterly variations in our reported results; operating and stock price performance of other
companies that investors may deem comparable; sales of stock by insiders; and changes in our financial
strength ratings.  These factors could materially reduce our stock price. In addition, broad market and
industry fluctuations may materially and adversely affect the trading price of our common stock,
regardless of our actual operating performance.
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Our loss reserves are based on an estimate of our future liability, and if actual claims prove to be
greater than our reserves, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely
affected.

We maintain loss reserves to cover our estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, where material, including legal and other fees, and costs not associated with specific claims but
related to the claims payment functions for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each
accounting period. Because setting reserves is inherently uncertain, we cannot be sure that current
reserves will prove adequate. If our reserves are insufficient to cover our actual losses and loss adjustment
expenses, we would have to augment our reserves and incur a charge to our earnings, and these charges
could be material. Reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability.  Rather, reserves represent an
estimate of what we expect the ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost. These
estimates, which generally involve actuarial projections, are based on our assessment of known fact s and
circumstances. Many factors could affect these reserves, including economic and social conditions,
frequency and severity of claims, medical trend resulting from the influences of underlying cost inflation,
changes in utilization and demand for medical services, and changes in doctrines of legal liability and
damage awards in litigation. Many of these items are not directly quantifiable in advance. Additionally,
there may be a significant reporting lag between the occurrence of the insured event and the time it is
reported to us.  The inherent uncertainties of estimating reserves are greater for certain types of liabilities,
particularly those in which the various considerations affecting the type of claim are subject to change and
in which long periods of time may elapse before a definitive determination of liability is made. Reserve
estimates are continually refined in a regular and ongoing process as experience develops and further
claims are reported and settled and are reflected in the result s of the periods in which such estimates are
changed.

Our results may fluctuate as a result of factors generally affecting the insurance and reinsurance
industry.

The results of companies in the insurance and reinsurance industry historically have been subject
to significant fluctuations and uncertainties. Factors that affect the industry in general could also cause
our results to fluctuate. The industry and our financial condition and results of operations may be affected
significantly by:

· Fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pressures and other changes in the
investment environment, which affect returns on invested capital;

· Rising levels of actual costs that are not known by companies at the time they price
their products;

· Losses related to epidemics, terrorist activities, random acts of violence or declared
or undeclared war;

· Changes in reserves resulting from different types of claims that may arise and the
development of judicial interpretations relating to the scope of insurers' liability;  

· The overall level of economic activity and the competitive environment in the
industry;

· Greater than expected use of health care services by members;
· New mandated benefits or other regulatory changes that change the scope of business

or increase our costs; and
· Failure of MGUs to adhere to underwriting guidelines as required by us in its MGU

agreements.

The occurrence of any or a combination of these factors, which is beyond our control, could have a
material adverse effect on our results.
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Our inability to assess underwriting risk accurately could reduce our net income.

Our success is dependent on our ability to assess accurately the risks associated with the
businesses on which we retain risk. If we fail to assess accurately the risks we retain, we may fail to
establish the appropriate premium rates and our reserves may be inadequate to cover our losses, requiring
augmentation of the reserves, which in turn would reduce our net income.

Our agreements with our producers (including our MGUs) require that each producer follow
underwriting guidelines published by us and amended from time to time.  Failure to follow these
guidelines may result in termination or modification of the agreement. We perform periodic audits to
confirm adherence to the guidelines, but it is possible that we would not detect a breach in the guidelines
for some time after the infraction, which could result in a material impact on the Net Loss Ratio (defined
as insurance benefits, claims and reserves divided by (premiums earned less underwriting expenses)) for
that producer and could have an adverse impact on our operating results.  

If we fail to comply with extensive state and federal regulations, we will be subject to penalties,
which may include fines and suspension and which may adversely affect our results of operations
and financial condition.

We are subject to extensive governmental regulation and supervision. Most insurance regulations
are designed to protect the interests of policyholders rather than stockholders and other investors. This
regulation, generally administered by a department of insurance in each state in which we do business,
relates to, among other things:

· Approval of policy forms and premium rates;
· Standards of solvency, including risk-based capital measurements, which are a measure

developed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and used by state insurance
regulators to identify insurance companies that potentially are inadequately capitalized;

· Licensing of insurers and their agents and regulation of their conduct in the market;
· Restrictions on the nature, quality and concentration of investments;
· Restrictions on transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates;
· Restrictions on the size of risks insurable under a single policy;
· Requiring deposits for the benefit of policyholders;
· Requiring certain methods of accounting;
· Prescribing the form and content of records of financial condition required to be filed; and
· Requiring reserves for unearned premium, losses and other purposes.

State insurance departments also conduct periodic examinations of the affairs of insurance
companies and require the filing of annual and other reports relating to the financial condition of
insurance companies, holding company issues and other matters.

A large portion of our business depends on our compliance with applicable laws and regulations
and our ability to maintain valid licenses and approvals for our operations. Regulatory authorities have
broad discretion to grant, renew, or revoke licenses and approvals. Regulatory authorities may deny or
revoke licenses for various reasons, including the violation of regulations. In some instances, we follow
practices based on our interpretations of regulations, or interpretations that we believe to be generally
followed by the industry, which may be different from the requirements or interpretations of regulatory
authorities. If we do not have the requisite licenses and approvals and do not comply with applicable
regulatory requirements, the insurance regulatory authorities could preclude or temporarily suspend us
from carrying on some or all of our insurance-related activities or otherwise penalize us. That type of
action could have a material adverse effect on our business. Also, changes in the level of regulation of the
insurance industry (whether federal, state or foreign), or changes in laws or regulations themselves or
interpretations by regulatory authorities, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

22



We may be unsuccessful in competing against larger or better-established business rivals.

We compete with a large number of other companies in our selected lines of business.  We face
competition from specialty insurance companies and HMOs, and from diversified financial services
companies and insurance companies that are much larger than we are and that have far greater financial,
marketing and other resources. Some of these competitors also have longer experience and more market
recognition than we do in certain lines of business. In addition to competition in the operation of our
business, we face competition from a variety of sources in attracting and retaining qualified employees.
There can be no assurance that we will maintain our current competitive position in the markets in which
we operate, or that we will be able to expand operations into new markets. If we fail to do so, our results
of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

We rely on reinsurance arrangements to help manage our business risks, and failure to perform by
the counterparties to our reinsurance arrangements may expose us to risks we had sought to
mitigate.
 

We utilize reinsurance to mitigate our risks in various circumstances. Reinsurance does not
relieve us of our direct liability to our policyholders, even when the reinsurer is liable to us. Accordingly,
we bear credit risk with respect to our reinsurers.  Our reinsurers may be unable or unwilling to pay the
reinsurance recoverable owed to us now or in the future or on a timely basis. A reinsurer’s insolvency,
inability or unwillingness to make payments under the terms of its reinsurance agreement with us could
have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be required to accelerate the amortization of deferred acquisition costs, which would
increase our expenses and reduce profitability.
 

Deferred acquisition costs, or DAC, represent certain costs which vary with and are primarily
related to the sale and issuance of our insurance policies and investment contracts and are deferred and
amortized over the estimated life of the related insurance policies and contracts. These costs include
commissions in excess of ultimate renewal commissions and certain other sales incentives, solicitation
and printing costs, sales material and other costs, such as underwriting and contract and policy issuance
expenses. Under U.S. GAAP, DAC is amortized through operations over the lives of the underlying
contracts in relation to the anticipated recognition of premiums or gross profits.
 

Our amortization of DAC generally depends upon anticipated profits from investments, surrender
and other policy and contract charges, mortality, morbidity and maintenance and expense margins.
Unfavorable experience with regard to expected expenses, investment returns, mortality, morbidity,
withdrawals or lapses may cause us to increase the amortization of DAC, resulting in higher expenses and
lower profitability.
 

We regularly review our DAC asset balance to determine if it is recoverable from future income.
The portion of the DAC balance deemed to be unrecoverable, if any, is charged to expense in the period in
which we make this determination. For example, if we determine that we are unable to recover DAC from
profits over the life of a book of business of insurance policies or annuity contracts, or if withdrawals or
surrender charges associated with early withdrawals do not fully offset the unamortized acquisition costs
related to those policies or annuities, we would be required to recognize the additional DAC amortization
as a current-period expense. In general, we limit our deferral of acquisition costs to costs assumed in our
pricing assumptions.

The failure to maintain effective and efficient information systems could adversely affect our
business.
 

Our business depends significantly on effective information systems, and we have different
information systems for our various businesses. We have committed and will continue to commit
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significant resources to develop, maintain and enhance our existing information systems and develop new
information systems in order to keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology,
evolving industry and regulatory standards and changing customer preferences. Our failure to maintain
effective and efficient information systems could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.

Failure to protect our policyholder’s confidential information and privacy could adversely affect
our business.
 

In the conduct of our business, we are subject to privacy regulations and to confidentiality
obligations. For example, the collection and use of patient data in our health insurance operations is the
subject of national and state legislation, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
of 1996, or HIPAA, and certain other activities we conduct are subject to the privacy regulations of the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. We also have contractual obligations to protect certain confidential information
we obtain from our existing vendors, partners and policyholders. These obligations generally include
protecting such confidential information in the same manner and to the same extent as we protect our own
confidential information. If we do not properly comply with privacy regulations and protect confidential
information, we could experience adverse consequences, including regulatory sanctions, such as penalties,
fines and loss of license, as well as loss of reputation and possible litigation.

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

IHC

IHC has entered into a renewable short-term arrangement with Geneve Corporation, an affiliate,
for the use of 6,750 square feet of office space as its corporate headquarters in Stamford, Connecticut.

Standard Security Life

Standard Security Life leases 13,000 square feet of office space in New York, New York as its
corporate headquarters, and 3,000 square feet of office space in Farmington, New York for its DBL claims
processing center.

Madison National Life

Madison National Life leases 28,028 square feet of space in Madison, Wisconsin as its corporate
headquarters. Madison National Life also leases 6,504 square feet in Birmingham, Alabama for its
military and government individual life and annuity division.

Majestic Underwriters

Majestic leases 4,495 square feet of office space in Troy, Michigan as its corporate headquarters.

Health Plan Administrators

HPA leases 7,947 square feet of office space in Tampa, Florida as its corporate headquarters.
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GroupLink

GroupLink leases 9,167 square feet of office space in Indianapolis, Indiana as its corporate
headquarters.

Insurers Administrative Corporation

IAC leases 49,117 square feet of office space in Phoenix, Arizona as its corporate headquarters
and 9,350 square feet in Rockford, Illinois.

IHC Health Solutions

IHC Health Solutions leases 7,424 square feet of office space in Bloomington, Minnesota as its
corporate headquarters.

Actuarial Management Corporation

AMC leases 6,408 square feet of office space in Lafayette, California as its corporate
headquarters.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our
businesses. We have established reserves that we believe are sufficient given information presently
available relating to our outstanding legal proceedings and claims.  We do not anticipate that the result of
any pending legal proceeding or claim will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
cash flows, although there could be such an effect on our results of operations for any particular period.

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2008.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

The Company's common stock trades under the symbol IHC on the New York Stock Exchange.
 The following table shows the high and low sales prices for IHC's common stock.

   HIGH   LOW
QUARTER ENDED:       
 December 31, 2008  $ 11.54  $ 2.25
 September 30, 2008   13.53   9.55
 June 30, 2008   15.00   9.77
 March 31, 2008   13.89   10.49
       
QUARTER ENDED:       
 December 31, 2007  $ 21.00  $ 11.10
 September 30, 2007   21.50   15.43
 September 30, 2007   22.69   19.50
 March 31, 2007   24.66   20.25

IHC's stock price closed at $3.61 on December 31, 2008.

Holders of Record

At March 13, 2009, the number of record holders of IHC's common stock was 1,377.

Dividends

IHC declared a cash dividend of $.025 per share on its common stock on each of June 23, 2008
and December 23, 2008 for a total annual dividend of $.05 per share.

IHC declared a cash dividend of $.025 per share on its common stock on each of June 25, 2007
and December 21, 2007 for a total annual dividend of $.05 per share.

IHC declared a cash dividend of $.025 per share on its common stock on each of June 20, 2006
and December 20, 2006 for a total annual dividend of $.05 per share.

Private Placements

In 2008 and 2006, IHC issued 127,520 and 617,913 shares of common stock, respectively, as
private placements of unregistered securities under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Accordingly, the shares are "restricted securities", subject to a legend and will not be freely
tradable in the United States until the shares are registered for resale under the Securities Act, or to the
extent they are tradable under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act or any other available
exemption. Information pertaining to the Company's common stock is provided in Note 15 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
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Share Repurchase Program

IHC has a program, initiated in 1991, under which it repurchases shares of its common stock. As
of December 31, 2008, 108,642 shares were still authorized to be repurchased under the plan. Share
repurchases during the quarter ended December 31, 2008 are summarized as follows:

2008  
   Maximum Number
  Average Price Of Shares Which

Month of Shares of Repurchased Can be
 Repurchase  Repurchased  Shares  Repurchased
    
October 16,300 5.96 115,357
November 6,715 5.36 108,642
December - - 108,642

Performance Graph

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the five year cumulative total return of IHC’s common
stock with that of the Russell 2000 Index and the S & P SmallCap Life & Health Insurance.  The graph
assumes that dividends were reinvested and is based on a $100 investment on December 31, 2003. Indices
data was obtained from Research Data Group, Inc.  The performance graph represents past performance
and should not be considered to be an indication of future performance.

27



ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following is a summary of selected consolidated financial data of the Company for each of
the last five years excluding the credit life and disability segment, which is discontinued operations.

              
    Year Ended December 31,    
              
  2008  2007   2006   2005   2004
  (In thousands, except per share data)
Income Data:              
 Total revenues $ 353,687 $ 402,322  $ 342,262  $ 274,775  $ 205,171
 Income (loss) from continuing              
  operations  (24,484)  1,504   14,481   17,498   22,514
Balance Sheet Data:              
 Total investments  761,093  776,059   859,176   855,804   720,700
 Total assets  1,273,894  1,306,955   1,267,643     1,165,187   977,882
 Insurance liabilities  951,590  895,169   858,880   844,980   673,408
 Debt and junior subordinated              
  debt securities  48,146  50,646   53,146   50,646   50,646
 Common stockholders' equity  162,702  222,851   231,150   198,751   188,853
Per Share Data:              
 Cash dividends declared per              
  common share  .05  .05   .05   .05   .05
 Basic income (loss) per common

share
             

  from continuing operations  (1.59)  .10   .97   1.24   1.60
 Diluted income (loss) per common              
   share from continuing

operations
 (1.59)  .10   .95   1.22   1.57

 Book value per common share  10.56  14.63   15.23   14.06   13.39
              

The Selected Financial Data should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 8 of this report.

ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Independence Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (NYSE: IHC), is a holding company
principally engaged in the life and health insurance business through: (i) its wholly owned insurance
companies, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York ("Standard Security Life") and
Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison National Life") (these companies are
sometimes collectively referred to as the "Insurance Group"); and (ii) its marketing, administrative and
actuarial companies, including Insurers Administrative Corporation (“IAC”), Majestic Underwriters LLC
(“Majestic”), in which it owns a majority interest, Health Plan Administrators (“HPA”), GroupLink Inc.
(“GroupLink”), in which it owns a majority interest, IHC Health Solutions, Inc. (“IHC Health Solutions”),
and Actuarial Management Corporation ("AMC"). IHC an d its subsidiaries (including the Insurance
Group) are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Company."  The Company currently owns a 49.7%
equity interest in American Independence Corp. (NASDAQ:AMIC) which owns Independence American
Insurance Company (“Independence American”), three managing general underwriters ("MGU’s"), and
controlling interests in two agencies.

IHC’s health insurance products serve niche sectors of the commercial market through multiple
classes of business and varied distribution channels.  Medical Stop-Loss is marketed to large employer
groups that self-insure their medical risks; in 2008 the Company’s average case size was 600 covered
lives.  The small-group major medical product is purchased by employers with between two and 50
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covered lives.  With regard to those persons in the growing individual market, IHC’s products offer major
medical coverage for individuals and families and persons with short-term medical needs  Standard
Security Life’s limited medical product is primarily purchased by hourly workers and others who are
generally not eligible for coverage under their employer’s group medical plan.  The dental and vision
products are marketed to large and small groups as well as individuals. The Company sells student major
medical insurance to colleges and accident medical, disability and AD&D to K-12 programs. The student
medical business is written through one MGU and the student accident business is written through the
same MGU as well as a second MGU that specializes in accident business. IHC does not sell health
products for the senior market. With respect to IHC’s life and disability business, Madison National Lif e
has historically sold almost all of this business through one distribution source specializing in serving
school districts and municipalities. In 2008, IHC successfully began to diversify the marketing of these
products through other channels, including its health insurance distribution, and expects to build upon this
success in 2009.

While management considers a wide range of factors in its strategic planning and decision-
making, underwriting profit is consistently emphasized as the primary goal in all decisions as to whether
or not to increase our retention in a core line, expand into new products, acquire an entity or a block of
business, or otherwise change our business model.  Management's assessment of trends in healthcare and
morbidity, with respect to medical stop-loss, fully insured medical, disability and DBL; mortality rates
with respect to life insurance; and changes in market conditions in general play a significant role in
determining the rates charged, deductibles and attachment points quoted, and the percentage of business
retained. The Company believes that the acquisition of AMC has further enabled it to make these
assessments. IHC also seeks transactions that permit it to leverage its vertically integrated organizational
structu re by generating fee income from production and administrative operating companies as well as
risk income for its carriers and profit commissions.  Management has always focused on managing costs
of its operations and providing its insureds with the best cost containment tools available.

The following is a summary of key performance information and events:

The results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, are summarized
as follows (in thousands):

  2008   2007   2006
         
Revenues $ 353,687  $ 402,322  $ 342,262 
Expenses  394,570   400,390   321,149 
         
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes

 (40,883)   1,932   21,113 

Income taxes (benefits)  (16,399)   428   6,632 
         
Income (loss) from continuing operations  (24,484)   1,504   14,481 
         
Discontinued operations:         
Income (loss) from discontinued operations  524   (224)   (420)
Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations  120   (3,608)   - 
         
 Net income (loss) $ (23,840)  $ (2,328)   14,061 
         

 
· Loss from continuing operations of $24.5 million, or $1.59 per share, diluted, for the year

ended December 31, 2008 compared to income of $1.5 million, or $.10 per share, diluted, for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The loss in 2008 is primarily attributed to $38.2 million
of pre-tax losses from other-than-temporary impairments due to the write down in value of
investments in preferred stocks of certain financial institutions and fixed maturities (primarily
Alt-A mortgage securities).  The income in 2007 includes charges for reserve strengthening
of $11.9 million,
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before income taxes, in the Medical Stop-Loss segment as more fully described in the
Reserve Strengthening discussion under Results of Operations for the Year Ended December
31, 2007;

· Consolidated investment yield of 4.9% in 2008 as compared to 5.3% in 2007 primarily due to
losses in limited investment partnerships;

· Revenues of $353.7 million, a decrease of 12.1% from 2007; the result of realized losses from
other-than-temporary impairments;

· Book value of $10.56 per common share; a 27.8% decrease from December 31, 2007, primarily
reflecting net realized and unrealized losses on securities;

· Effective April 1, 2008, acquired a block of life insurance policies with approximately $64.4
million of life reserves. The block consists of approximately $32.2 million of older, traditional
life reserves and $32.2 million of annuity reserves. Under the terms of the acquisition, Madison
National Life assumed administration of the policies on November 1, 2008.

· Effective April 1, 2008, increased the Company's controlling interest in Majestic Underwriters
LLC ("Majestic"), a medical stop-loss MGU, to 77% with the purchase of an additional 14.7%
interest from a retired senior officer;

· Income from discontinued operations of $.5 million, net of taxes, primarily a result of an
adjustment to the credit claim reserve for claims prior to December 31, 2007; and

· Income from the disposition of discontinued operations of $.1 million, net of taxes, a result of the
final settlement on the sale of the credit segment.  

The following is a summary of key performance information by segment:

· Income (loss) before taxes from the Medical Stop-Loss segment increased $7.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the same period in 2007. The results for 2007
include an $11.9 million charge primarily related to reserve strengthening as more fully described
in the Reserve Strengthening discussion under Results of Operations for the Year Ended
December 31, 2007;

o Underwriting experience as indicated by the GAAP Combined Ratios for the Medical
Stop-Loss segment are as follows (in thousands):

   2008   2007   2006
          
Premiums Earned  $ 159,392  $ 162,438  $ 153,087
Insurance Benefits, Claims & Reserves   117,076   128,409   107,864
Expenses   40,918   41,987   36,044
          

Loss Ratio(A)   73.4%   79.1%   70.5%

Expense Ratio (B)   25.7%   25.8%   23.5%

Combined Ratio (C)   99.1%   104.9%   94.0%

(A) Loss ratio represents insurance benefits claims and reserves divided by premiums earned.
(B) Expense ratio represents net commissions, administrative fees, premium taxes and other

underwriting expenses divided by premiums earned.
(C) The combined ratio is equal to the sum of the loss ratio and the expenses ratio.
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· The Fully Insured Health segment reported income before taxes of $.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 as compared to a loss of $.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Included in the results for 2007 is $1.1 million of adverse development on premiums earned in
2006 on certain fully insured programs. The loss ratio on the fully insured business decreased due
to an increase in the dental and student accident lines (which have higher profit margins),
improved margins in our short term medical business, and improved margins in our small group
major medical line. The expense ratio is higher due to a greater portion of higher commission
lines of business.

o Premiums earned from this segment have increased $9.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared to 2007, primarily due to increases in certain new lines of
business.

o Underwriting experience as indicated by the GAAP Combined Ratios for the Fully
Insured segment are as follows (in thousands):

   2008   2007   2006
          
Premiums Earned  $ 81,020  $ 72,048  $ 32,590
Insurance Benefits, Claims & Reserves   51,559   50,901   19,128
Expenses   24,351   17,828   11,051
          
Loss Ratio   63.6%   70.6%   58.7%
Expense Ratio   30.1%   24.8%   33.9%
Combined Ratio   93.7%   95.4%   92.6%

· Income before taxes from the group disability, life, annuities and DBL segment increased $.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to 2007, primarily due to improved loss
ratios in the group term life business in 2008 offset by an increase in commissions and other
expenses in the long-term disability ("LTD") business in 2008;

· Income before taxes from the individual life, annuities and other segment decreased $1.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the prior year. Prior year results include $.9
million of other income due to adjustments in settlement of a reinsurance agreement;

· Loss before taxes from the corporate segment decreased $.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2008 compared to the prior year primarily due to lower expenses offset by losses from
partnership investments;

· Net realized investment losses were $50.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008
compared to gains of $1.3 million in 2007. Included in realized losses for the year ended
December 31, 2008 are $38.2 million of pre-tax losses from other-than-temporary impairments
due to the write down in value of investments in preferred stocks of certain financial institutions
and fixed maturities (primarily Alt-A mortgage securities) primarily due to the severity of the
decrease in fair value and length of time that these securities were in a loss position;  and
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· Premiums by principal product for the years indicated are as follows (in thousands):

Gross Direct and Assumed          
   Earned Premiums:   2008   2007   2006
          
Medical Stop-Loss  $ 253,886  $ 275,756  $ 272,260
Fully Insured Health   199,378   210,078   86,259
Group disability; life, annuities and DBL   78,517   79,438   82,540
Individual life, annuities and other   32,338   30,118   31,494
          
  $ 564,119  $ 595,390  $ 472,553

Net Premiums Earned:   2008   2007   2006
          
Medical Stop-Loss  $ 159,392  $ 162,438  $ 153,087
Fully Insured Health   81,020   72,048   32,590
Group disability; life, annuities and DBL   46,957   45,220   44,206
Individual life, annuities and other   29,919   27,179   28,787
          
  $ 317,288  $ 306,885  $ 258,670

Information pertaining to the Company's business segments is provided in Note 21 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles ("GAAP"). The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity
with GAAP requires the Company's management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. A summary of the Company's significant accounting policies and practices is provided in
Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.
Management has identified the accounting policies described below as those that, due to the judgments,
estimates and assumptions inherent in those policies, are critical to an understanding of the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements and this Management's Discussion and Analysis.

Insurance Premium Revenue Recognition and Policy Charges

Life

Traditional life insurance products consist principally of products with fixed and guaranteed
premiums and benefits, primarily term and whole life insurance products. Premiums from these products
are recognized as revenue when due.

Annuities and interest-sensitive life contracts, such as universal life and interest-sensitive whole
life, are contracts whose terms are not fixed and guaranteed. Premiums from these policies are reported as
funds on deposit. Policy charges consist of fees assessed against the policyholder for cost of insurance
(mortality risk), policy administration and early surrender. These revenues are recognized when assessed
against the policyholder account balance.

Policies that do not subject the Company to significant risk arising from mortality or morbidity
are considered investment contracts. Deposits received from such contracts are reported as other
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policyholder funds. Policy charges for investment contracts consist of fees assessed against the
policyholder account for maintenance, administration and surrender of the policy prior to contractually
specified dates, and are recognized when assessed against the policyholder account balance.

Health

Premiums for short-duration medical insurance contracts are intended to cover expected claim
costs resulting from insured events that occur during a fixed period of short duration. The Company has
the ability to cancel the annual contract or to revise the premium rates at the beginning of each annual
contract period to cover future insured events. Insurance premiums from annual health contracts are
collected monthly and are recognized as revenue evenly as insurance protection is provided.

Premiums related to long-term and short-term disability contracts are recognized on a pro rata
basis over the applicable contract term.

Insurance Reserves

The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses, where material, (including legal, other fees, and costs not associated with specific
claims but related to the claims payment function)  for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the
end of each accounting period.  These loss reserves are based on actuarial assumptions and are maintained
at levels that are in accordance with GAAP.  The Company’s estimate of loss reserves represents
management’s best estimate of the Company’s liability at the balance sheet date.

Loss reserves differ for short-duration and long-duration insurance policies, including annuities.
Reserves are based on approved actuarial methods, but necessarily include assumptions about expenses,
mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and future yield on related investments.

All of the Company’s short-duration contracts are generated from its accident and health business,
and are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims,
including losses incurred for which claims have not been reported. Short-duration contract loss estimates
rely on actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for similar historical events.

Management believes that the Company's methods of estimating the liabilities for insurance
reserves provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2008. Changes in the Company's reserve
estimates are recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.

Life

For traditional life insurance products, the Company computes insurance reserves primarily using
the net premium method based on anticipated investment yield, mortality, and withdrawals. These
methods are widely used in the life insurance industry to estimate the liabilities for insurance reserves.
Inherent in these calculations are management and actuarial judgments and estimates that could
significantly impact the ending reserve liabilities and, consequently, operating results. Actual results may
differ, and these estimates are subject to interpretation and change.

Policyholder funds represent interest-bearing liabilities arising from the sale of products, such as
universal life, interest-sensitive life and annuities. Policyholder funds are comprised primarily of deposits
received and interest credited to the benefit of the policyholder less surrenders and withdrawals, mortality
charges and administrative expenses.
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Interest Credited

Interest credited to policyholder funds represents interest accrued or paid on interest-sensitive life
policies and investment policies. Amounts charged to operations (including interest credited and benefit
claims incurred in excess of related policyholder account balances) are reported as insurance benefits,
claims and reserves-life and annuity. Credit rates for certain annuities and interest-sensitive life policies
are adjusted periodically by the Company to reflect current market conditions, subject to contractually
guaranteed minimum rates.

Health

The Company believes that its recorded insurance reserves are reasonable and adequate to satisfy
its ultimate liability.  The Company primarily uses its own loss development experience, but will also
supplement that with data from its outside actuaries, reinsurers and industry loss experience as warranted.
To illustrate the impact that Loss Ratios have on the Company’s loss reserves and related expenses, each
hypothetical 1% change in the Loss Ratio for the health business (i.e., the ratio of insurance benefits,
claims and settlement expenses to earned health premiums) for the year ended December 31, 2008, would
increase reserves (in the case of a higher ratio) or decrease reserves (in the case of a lower ratio) by
approximately $2.8 million with a corresponding increase or decrease in the pre-tax expense for
 insurance benefits, claims and reserves in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  Dependi ng on the
circumstances surrounding a change in the Loss Ratio, other pre-tax amounts reported in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations could also be affected, such as amortization of deferred acquisition costs and
commission expense.

The Company’s health reserves by segment are as follows (in thousands):

  December 31, 2008
  Claim  Policy  Total Health
  Reserves  Claims  Reserves
       
Medical Stop-Loss $ 89,558 $ 126 $ 89,684
Fully Insured Health  38,168  -  38,168
Group Disability  61,502  10,141  71,643
Individual Accident and Health       
 and Other  9,932  1,891  11,823
 $ 199,160 $ 12,158 $ 211,318

  December 31, 2007
  Claim  Policy  Total  Health
  Reserves  Claims  Reserves
       
Medical Stop-Loss  $ 94,832 $ 457 $ 95,289
Fully Insured Health  40,999  -  40,999
Group Disability  58,202  9,604  67,806
Individual Accident and Health       
 and Other  7,961  358  8,319
  $ 201,994 $ 10,419 $ 212,413

Medical Stop-Loss

The Company’s Medical Stop-Loss segment is comprised of Employer Stop-Loss, HMO
Reinsurance and Provider Excess.  All of the Company’s Medical Stop-Loss policies are short-duration
and are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims or
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open claims from prior periods, including losses incurred for claims that have not been reported
(“IBNR”). Short-duration contract loss estimates rely on actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience
for similar historical events.

The two “primary” assumptions underlying the calculation of loss reserves for Medical Stop-Loss
business are (i) projected Net Loss Ratio, and (ii) claim development patterns.  The projected Net Loss
Ratio is set at expected levels consistent with the underlying assumptions (“Projected Net Loss Ratio”).
Claim development patterns are set quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are based on recent
claim development history (“Claim Development Patterns”).  The Company uses the Projected Net Loss
Ratio to establish reserves until developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results and it is
feasible to set reserves based on Claim Development Patterns.  The Company has concluded that a
reasonably likely change in the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption could have a material effect on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or liqui dity (“Material Effect”) but a reasonably
likely change in the Claim Development Pattern would not have a Material Effect.

Projected Net Loss Ratio

Generally, during the first twelve months of an underwriting year, reserves for Medical Stop-Loss
are first set at the Projected Net Loss Ratio, which is set using assumptions developed using completed
prior experience trended forward. The Projected Net Loss Ratio is the Company’s best estimate of future
performance until such time as developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results.  

While the Company establishes a best estimate of the Projected Net Loss Ratio, actual experience
may deviate from this estimate.  This was the case with the 2005, 2006 and 2007 underwriting years
which deviated by 8.0, 12.7 and 2.7 Net Loss Ratio points, respectively. After the recorded reserve
increase, it is reasonably likely that the actual experience will fall within a range up to five Net Loss Ratio
points above or below the expected Projected Net Loss Ratio for 2008 at December 31, 2008. The impact
of these reasonably likely changes at December 31, 2008, would be an increase in net reserves (in the case
of a higher ratio) or a decrease in net reserves (in the case of a lower ratio) of up to approximately $3.2
million with a corresponding increase or decrease in the pre-tax expense for insurance benefits, claims
and reserves in the 2008 Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Major factors that affect the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption in reserving for Medical Stop-
Loss relate to: (i) frequency and severity of claims; (ii) changes in medical trend resulting from the
influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, the impact
of new medical technology and changes in medical treatment protocols; and (iii) the adherence by the
MGUs that produce and administer this business to the Company’s underwriting guidelines. Changes in
these underlying factors are what determine the reasonably likely changes in the Projected Net Loss Ratio
as discussed above.   

Claim Development Patterns

Subsequent to the first twelve months of an underwriting year, the Company’s developing losses
provide a better indication of ultimate losses. At this point, claims have developed to a level where Claim
Development Patterns can be applied to generate reasonably reliable estimates of ultimate claim levels.
 Development factors based on historical patterns are applied to paid and reported claims to estimate fully
developed claims. Claim Development Patterns are reviewed quarterly as reserve estimates are developed
and are based on recent claim development history. The Company must determine whether changes in
development represent true indications of emerging experience or are simply due to random claim
fluctuations.

The Company also establishes its best estimates of claim development factors to be applied to
more developed treaty year experience.  While these factors are based on historical Claim Development
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Patterns, actual claim development may vary from these estimates.  The Company does not believe that
reasonably likely changes in its actual claim development patterns would have a Material Effect.   

Predicting ultimate claims and estimating reserves in Medical Stop-Loss is more complex than
fully insured medical and disability business due to the “excess of loss” nature of these products with very
high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a given
group.  The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment pattern
of such claims.  Fluctuations in results for specific coverage are primarily due to the severity and
frequency of individual claims, whereas fluctuations in aggregate coverage are largely attributable to
frequency of underlying claims rather than severity. Liabilities for first dollar medical reserves and
disability coverages are computed using completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from
actual historical premium and claim data.

Due to the short-term nature of Medical Stop-Loss, redundancies or deficiencies will typically
emerge during the course of the following year rather than over a number of years.  For Employer Stop-
Loss, as noted above, the Company maintains its reserves based on underlying assumptions until it
determines that an adjustment is appropriate based on emerging experience from all of its MGUs for prior
underwriting years.  Reserves for HMO Reinsurance and Provider Excess are adjusted on a policy by
policy basis.  Because of the small number of HMO Reinsurance and Provider Excess policies it writes,
the Company is able to evaluate each policy individually for potential liability by reviewing open claims
with each HMO or provider group and applying completion factors using historical data.

Fully Insured Health

Reserves for fully insured medical and dental business are established using historical claim
development patterns. Claim development by number of months elapsed from the incurred month is
studied each month and development factors are calculated. These claim development factors are then
applied to the amount of claims paid to date for each incurred month to estimate fully complete claims.
The difference between fully complete claims and the claims paid to date is the estimated reserve. Total
reserves are the sum of the reserves for all incurred months.

The primary assumption in the determination of fully insured reserves is that historical claim
development patterns tend to be representative of future claim development patterns. Factors which may
affect this assumption include changes in claim payment processing times and procedures, changes in
product design, changes in time delay in submission of claims, and the incidence of unusually large
claims. The reserving analysis includes a review of claim processing statistical measures and large claim
early notifications; the potential impacts of any changes in these factors are minimal. The time delay in
submission of claims tends to be stable over time and not subject to significant volatility. Since our
analysis considered a variety of outcomes related to these factors, the Company does not believe that any
reasonably likely change in these factors will have a Material Effect.

Group Disability

The Company’s Group Disability segment is comprised of Long Term Disability (“LTD”) and
Disability Benefits Law (“DBL”).  The two “primary” assumptions on which Group Disability reserves
are based are: (i) morbidity levels; and (ii) recovery rates. If morbidity levels increase, for example due to
an epidemic or a recessionary environment, the Company would increase reserves because there would be
more new claims than expected.  In regard to the assumed recovery rate, if disabled lives recover more
quickly than anticipated then the existing claims reserves would be reduced; if less quickly, the existing
claims reserves would be increased. Advancements in medical treatments could affect future recovery,
termination, and mortality rates. With respect to LTD only, other assumptions are:  (i) changes in market
interest rates; (ii) changes in offsets; (iii) advancements in medic al treatments; and (iv) cost of living.
 Changes in market interest rates could change reserve assumptions since the payout period could be as
long as 40 years. Changes in offsets such as Social Security benefits, retirement plans and state disability
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plans also impact reserving. As a result of the forgoing assumptions, it is possible that the historical trend
may not be an accurate predictor of the future development of the block. As with most long term
insurance reserves that require judgment, the reserving process is subject to uncertainty and volatility and
fluctuations may not be indicative of the claim development overall.

While the Company believes that larger variations are possible, the Company does not believe
that reasonably likely changes in its “primary” assumptions would have a Material Effect.

Individual Accident and Health and Other

This segment is a combination of closed lines of business as well as certain small existing lines.
 While the assumptions used in setting reserves vary between these different lines of business, the
assumptions would generally relate to the following: (i) the rate of disability; (ii) the morbidity rates on
specific diseases; and (iii) accident rates. The reported reserves are based on management’s best estimate
for each line within this segment. General uncertainties that surround all insurance reserving
methodologies would apply.  However, since the Company has so few policies of this type, volatility may
occur due to the small number of claims.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Costs that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring insurance policies and investment type
contracts are deferred and recorded as deferred policy acquisition costs ("DAC").  These costs are
principally broker fees, agent commissions, and the purchase prices of acquired blocks of business. DAC
is amortized to expense and reported separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All DAC
within a particular product type is amortized on the same basis using the following methods:  

Life  

For traditional life insurance and other premium paying policies accounted for under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 60, amortization of DAC is charged to expense over the
related premium revenue recognition period.  Assumptions used in the amortization of DAC are
determined based upon the conditions as of the date of policy issue or assumption and are not generally
revised during the life of the policy.  

For long duration type contracts accounted for under SFAS No. 97, such as annuities and
universal life business, amortization of DAC is charged to expense over the life of the book of such
contracts based on the present value of the estimated gross profits ("EGPs") expected to be realized over
the life of the book of contracts. EGPs consist of margins based on expected mortality rates, persistency
rates, interest rate spreads, and other revenues and expenses.  The Company regularly evaluates its EGPs
to determine if actual experience or other evidence suggests that earlier estimates should be revised. If the
Company determines that the current assumptions underlying the EGPs are no longer the best estimate for
the future due to changes in actual versus expected mortality rates, persistency rates, interest rate spreads,
or other revenues and expenses, the future EGPs are updated using the new assumptions and prospective
unlocking occurs. These updated EGPs are utilized for future amortization calculations. The total
amortization recorded to date is adjusted through a current charge or credit to the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

Health

For credit health insurance policies accounted for under SFAS No. 60, amortization of DAC is
charged to expense in proportion to premium revenue recognized.
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Investments

The Company accounts for its investments in debt and equity securities under SFAS No. 115,
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. The Company has classified all of its
investments as available-for-sale or trading securities. These investments are carried at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses reported in either accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets for available-for-sale securities or as unrealized gains or losses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for trading securities. Fixed maturities and equity securities
available-for-sale totaled $662.5 million and $710.4 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Premiums and discounts on debt securities purchased at other than par value are amortized and accreted,
respectively, to interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, using the constant yield
method ove r the period to maturity. Net realized gains and losses on investments are computed using the
specific identification method and are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Declines in value of securities available-for-sale that are judged to be other-than-temporary are
determined based on the specific identification method and are reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations as realized losses. The factors considered by management in determining when a decline is
other than temporary include but are not limited to:  the length of time and extent to which the fair value
has been less than cost; the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in
ratings announced by one or more rating agencies; subordinated credit support; whether the issuer of a
debt security has remained current on principal and interest payments; current expected cash flows;
whether the decline in fair value appears to be issuer specific or, alternatively, a reflection of general
market or industry conditions (including, in the case of fixed maturities, t he effect of changes in market
interest rates); and the Company's intent and ability to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to
allow for a recovery in fair value.  For structured securities, such as mortgage-backed securities, an
impairment loss is recognized when there has been a decrease in expected cash flows and/or a decline in
the security's fair value below cost.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill related to the Company's equity method investment in AMIC is considered in the
evaluation of whether there has been an other-than-temporary decline in value of the overall investment in
AMIC. All other goodwill carrying amounts are evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level, at
least annually. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, further evaluation is
required to determine if a write-down of goodwill is required. Other intangible assets are amortized to
expense over their estimated useful lives and are subject to impairment testing. Any impairment write-
down of goodwill and other intangible assets would be charged to expense. No impairment charge was
required in 2008, 2007 or 2006. If we experience a sustained decline in our results of operations and cash
flows, or other indicators of impairment exist, we may incur a material non-cash charge to earnings
relating t o impairment of our goodwill, which could have a material adverse effect on our results.

 
Deferred Income Taxes

The provision for deferred income taxes is based on the asset and liability method of accounting
for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory
tax rates to temporary differences between amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recognized for the portion of
deferred tax assets that, in management's judgment, is not likely to be realized.  The effect on deferred
income taxes of a change in tax rates or laws is recognized in income tax expense in the period that
includes the enactment date.   The Company has certain tax-planning strategies that were used in
determining that a valuation allowance was not necessary on its deferred taxes. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2007

Loss from continuing operations was $24.5 million, or $1.59 per share, diluted, for the year ended
December 31, 2008, a decrease of $26.0 million compared to income from continuing operations of $1.5
million, or $.10 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2007. The Company's income from
continuing operations before taxes decreased $42.7 million to a loss of $40.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 from income of $1.9 million for 2007. Income from discontinued operations, net of
taxes, was $.5 million, or $.03 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to a
loss of $.2 million or $.01 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2007. The gain on the
disposition of discontinued operations in 2008 was $.1 million, or $.01 per share, diluted, compared to a
loss of $3.6 million, or $.24 per share, diluted, net of tax, in 2007.

Information by business segment for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

   Equity  Benefits, Amortization Selling,  
December 31,  Net Income Fee and Claims of  Deferred General  
 2008 Premiums Investment From Other and Acquisition and  
(In thousands) Earned Income AMIC Income Reserves Costs Administrative Total
         
Medical stop-
loss

$ 159,392 4,273 338 1,282 117,076 - 43,778 $ 4,431 

Fully Insured 81,020 895 96 39,184 51,559 80 69,008 548 
Group disability,         
 life, annuities         
 and DBL 46,957 10,323 46 338 33,718 149 16,441 7,356 

Individual life,         
 annuities         
 and other 29,919 31,306 - 1,716 38,184 6,116 11,824 6,817 

Corporate - (2,753) - 3 - - 2,861 (5,611)
Sub total $ 317,288  44,044  480  42,523  240,537  6,345  143,912  13,541 

         
Net realized investment losses (50,648)
Interest expense  (3,776)

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (40,883)
Income tax benefits  (16,399)

Loss from continuing operations (24,484)
Income from discontinued operations 524 
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations  120 

Net loss $ (23,840)

         
   Equity  Benefits, Amortization Selling,  
December 31,  Net Income Fee and Claims of  Deferred General  
 2007 Premiums Investment From Other and Acquisition and  
(In thousands) Earned Income AMIC Income Reserves Costs Administrative Total
              
Medical stop-
loss

$ 162,438 4,579 268 1,772 128,409 - 43,899 $ (3,251)

Fully Insured 72,048 651 218 42,573 50,901 234 65,148  (793)
Group disability,         
 life, annuities         
 and DBL 45,220 10,671 60 459 34,774 141 14,564 6,931 

Individual life,         
 annuities and         
 other 27,179 30,226 - 2,707 36,621 5,736 9,811 7,944 

Corporate - (5) - - - - 5,958 (5,963)
Sub total $ 306,885  46,122  546  47,511  250,705  6,111  139,380  4,868 

         
Net realized investment gains 1,258 
Interest expense  (4,194)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 1,932 
Income taxes  428

Income from continuing operations 1,504 
Loss from discontinued operations  (224)

Loss on disposition of discontinued operations  (3,608)

Net loss $ (2,328)

39



Premiums Earned

Total premiums earned grew $10.4 million to $317.3 million from $306.9 million in 2007. The
increase is primarily due to: (i) the Fully Insured Health segment which had a $9.0 million increase in
premiums in 2008 compared to 2007, comprised primarily of: (a) a $6.7 million increase in student
accident premiums as a result of a new program initiated in 2008, (b) a $6.2 million increase in dental
premiums and $1.0 million increase in limited medical premiums as a result of continuing growth, offset
by (c) a decrease of $4.1 million in short-term medical premiums primarily due to lower production
caused in part by an increase in rates, and (d) a $1.0 million decrease in the small group line due to lower
production caused in part by an increase in rates; (ii) a $1.7 million increase in group disability, life,
annuities and DBL segment primarily due to increased retention in the LTD line; (iii) a $2.7 million
increase in the i ndividual life, annuities and other segment primarily as a result of the acquisition of a
block of life and annuity business; offset by (iv) a decrease of $3.0 million in the Medical Stop-Loss
segment primarily due to stricter underwriting guidelines and the termination of certain production
sources in 2008.
 
Net Investment Income

Total net investment income decreased $2.1 million, primarily due to losses from limited
investment partnerships in 2008 compared to income from limited investment partnerships recorded in
2007. The losses from investment partnerships were primarily the result of the continued disruption in the
equity markets in 2008 and the primary cause of the decrease in the overall investment yield to 4.9% in
2008 from 5.3% in 2007. The decrease in the investment yield on bonds, equities and short-term
investments to 5.2% in 2008 from 5.4% in 2007 is primarily due to a higher percentage of investments in
states and political subdivisions in our investment portfolio which provide lower yields but result in tax-
advantaged earnings.

Net Realized Investment Gains (Losses)

Net realized investment gains (losses) decreased $51.9 million to a net loss of $50.6 million in
2008 from a net gain of $1.3 million in 2007. These amounts include gains and losses from sales of fixed
maturities and equity securities available-for-sale, as well as trading securities and other investments.
Decisions to sell securities are based on management's ongoing evaluation of investment opportunities
and economic and market conditions, thus creating fluctuations in gains and losses from period to period.
Included in net realized investment gains (losses) for years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are pre-
tax losses of $38.2 million and $.4 million, respectively, from other-than-temporary impairments
primarily due to the write-down in value of investments in preferred stocks of certain financial institutions
and fixed maturities (primarily Alt-A mortgage securities) primarily due to the severity of the decrease in
fa ir value and length of time that these securities were in a loss position. In addition, the Company has
recently become aware of certain activities engaged in by the non-affiliate broker-dealer that managed the
trading accounts of the Company. The Company reduced the value of the assets held in such accounts to
their estimated recoverable amounts. As a result, the Company recorded a $6.8 million pre-tax loss, net of
expected recoveries, in the fourth quarter of 2008 related to such accounts. See Note 7 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in item 8 of this report for more information about net
realized investment gains and losses.

Fee Income and Other Income

Fee income decreased $4.4 million to $39.7 million from $44.1 million in 2007, primarily due to
a decrease in administrative fees in the Fully Insured Health segment primarily as a result of decreases in
gross premiums from the short-term medical and small group lines of business.
 

Total other income decreased $.5 million to $2.9 million from $3.4 million in 2007, primarily due
to adjustments in 2007 in settlement of a reinsurance agreement.
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Insurance Benefits, Claims and Reserves

Benefits, claims and reserves decreased $10.2 million. The decrease is mainly due to: (i) a
decrease of $11.3 million in the Medical Stop-Loss segment, primarily resulting from a $11.9 million
charge, before income taxes, in 2007 for reserve strengthening, as described in further detail in the Results
of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2007; (ii) a decrease of $1.1 million in the group
disability, life, annuities and DBL segment primarily due to decreases in the DBL ($1.3 million) and
group term life ($1.2 million) lines due to improved loss ratios and claims experience offset by an
increase in the LTD line ($1.8 million) due to increased retention and higher loss ratios; offset by  (iii) a
$.6 million increase in the Fully Insured Health segment, primarily due to the increases in dental ($4.3
million) and student accident ($3.4 million) lines which correspond to premium growth, offset by
decreases in the small group ($3.4 million) and short-term medical ($4.4 million) lines due to lower
volumes of business and improved loss ratios; and (iv) a $1.6 million increase in the individual life,
annuities and other segment primarily as a result of the acquisition of a block of life and annuity business.
 
Amortization of Deferred Acquisition Costs

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs increased $.2 million in 2008 compared to 2007
partially as a result of the acquisition of a block of life and annuity policies in the second quarter of 2008.

Interest Expense on Debt

Interest expense decreased $.4 million primarily as a result of a lower average outstanding
principal balance under a line of credit during 2008 compared to 2007 combined with lower variable
interest rates on the junior subordinated debt securities in 2008 compared to 2007.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Total selling, general and administrative expenses increased $4.5 million in 2008 as compared to
2007. The increase is primarily due to (i) a $3.9 million increase in commission and administrative
expenses associated with the operation of the Fully Insured Health segment, primarily due to (a) increases
in commission and administrative expenses for the dental ($2.2 million) and student accident ($2.0
million) lines due to increased volume; (b) increase of $3.2  million primarily in commission expenses in
the small group line due to higher profit commissions on 2007 business; offset by (c) a decrease of $.9
million in short-term medical expenses due to lower production; and (d) a decrease of $3.0 million
primarily from administrative expenses at the third party administrators due in part to cost reductions; (ii)
a $2.0 million increase in commission and administration expenses in the individual life, annuities and
othe r segment as a result of  increased volume from the recent acquisition of a block of life and annuity
policies; (iii) a $1.8 million increase in the group disability, life, annuities and DBL segment primarily
due to the increase in retention of the LTD business; and (iv) a $3.2 million decrease in corporate
overhead expenses (primarily employee benefits, audit expenses, interest income on accrued income tax
refunds and a higher allocation of expenses to the subsidiaries).

Income Taxes

Income tax expense decreased $16.8 million resulting in a tax benefit of $16.4 million for 2008
from an expense of $.4 million in 2007. The effective tax rates were 40.1% and 22.2% for 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The difference in the effective tax rates is primarily attributable to tax benefits generated by
a pre-tax loss in 2008 coupled with other tax benefits derived from dividend received deductions
("DRDs") and tax exempt interest compared to tax expense generated by pre-tax income in 2007. During
2007, and continuing in 2008, the Company increased its positions in both state and political subdivision
investments and preferred securities that generate tax exempt interest and DRDs, creating a greater benefit
in 2008 than in 2007.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2006

Income from continuing operations was $1.5 million, or $.10 per share, diluted, for the year
ended December 31, 2007, a decrease of $13.0 million compared to income from continuing operations of
$14.5 million, or $.95 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2006. The Company's income
from continuing operations before taxes decreased $19.2 million to $1.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $21.1million for 2006. The loss from discontinued operations was $.2 million,
or $.01 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $.4 million, or $.02 per
share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2006. The loss on the disposition of discontinued
operations in 2007 was $3.6 million, or $.24 per share, diluted, net of tax benefits of $1.9 million.

Information by business segment for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

   Equity  Benefits, Amortization Selling,  
  Net Income Fee and Claims of  Deferred General  
December 31, Premiums Investment From Other and Acquisition and  
 2007 Earned Income AMIC Income Reserves Costs Administrative Total

(In thousands)         
         
Medical stop-
loss

$ 162,438 4,579 268 1,772 128,409 - 43,899 $ (3,251)

Fully Insured 72,048 651 218 42,573 50,901 234 65,148  (793)
Group disability,         
 life, annuities         
 and DBL 45,220 10,671 60 459 34,774 141 14,564 6,931 

Individual life,         
 annuities         
 and other 27,179 30,226 - 2,707 36,621 5,736 9,811 7,944 

Corporate - (5) - - - - 5,958 (5,963)
Sub total $ 306,885  46,122  546  47,511  250,705  6,111  139,380  4,868 

          
Net realized investment gains 1,258 
Interest expense  (4,194)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 1,932 
Income taxes  428

Income from continuing operations 1,504 
Loss from discontinued operations (224)
Loss on disposition of discontinued operations  (3,608)

Net loss $ (2,328)

         
   Equity  Benefits, Amortization Selling,  
  Net Income Fee and Claims of  Deferred General  
December 31, Premiums Investment From Other and Acquisition and  
 2006 Earned Income AMIC Income Reserves Costs Administrative Total

(In thousands)         
              
Medical stop-
loss

$ 153,087 3,950 699 3,169 107,864 - 40,417 $ 12,624 

Fully Insured 32,590 192 - 29,938 19,128 102 42,399 1,091 
Group disability,         
 life, annuities         
 and DBL 44,206 9,594 - 428 31,866 165 15,100 7,097 

Individual life,         
 annuities and         
 other 28,787 31,761 - 1,057 39,034 5,103 9,428 8,040 

Corporate - 2,179 - - - - 6,653 (4,474)
Sub total $ 258,670  47,676  699  34,592  197,892  5,370  113,997  24,378 

         
Net realized investment gains 625 
Interest expense  (3,890)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 21,113 
Income taxes  6,632

Income from continuing operations 14,481 
Loss from discontinued operations  (420)

Net income $ 14,061 
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Premiums Earned

Total premiums earned grew $48.2 million to $306.9 million from $258.7 million in 2006. The
increase is primarily due to: (i) the Fully Insured segment which had a $39.4 million increase in premiums
(comprised of a $25.0 million increase in small group premiums as a result of the acquisition of a block of
business which transitioned to the Company's paper in the third quarter of 2006, a $4.8 million increase in
dental premiums primarily due to the continued transition of GroupLink premiums to MNL as a carrier, a
$4.0 million increase in short-term medical premiums and a $5.6 million increase due to new vision,
limited medical and student accident products in 2007); and (ii) the Medical Stop-Loss segment, which
increased $9.3 million primarily due to an increase in assumed business.
 
Net Investment Income

Total net investment income decreased $1.6 million, primarily due to: (i) lower investable assets
as a result of the acquisitions of CAM and AMC in 2007; (ii) lower investment income from limited
partnerships due to the liquidation of certain partnership investments in 2007 and losses reported by
certain partnerships in 2007 versus income reported in 2006; and (iii) a slightly lower investment yield.
The overall investment yield was 5.3% for 2007 versus 5.5% for 2006.

Net Realized Investment Gains

Net realized investment gains increased $.7 million to $1.3 million in 2007 from $.6 million in
2006. These amounts include gains and losses from sales of fixed maturities and equity securities
available-for-sale, as well as trading securities and other investments. Decisions to sell securities are
based on management's ongoing evaluation of investment opportunities and economic and market
conditions, thus creating fluctuations in gains and losses from period to period. Also included in net
realized investment gains for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are gains (losses) of
$(683,000) and $114,000, respectively, representing the net change in fair value of a stock put issued by
IHC in connection with the acquisition of IAC.

Equity Income from AMIC

Equity income from AMIC in 2007 was comparable to 2006.

Fee Income and Other Income

Fee income increased $11.6 million to $44.1 million from $32.5 million in 2006, primarily due to
an increase in administrative fees in the Fully Insured Health segment including an increase of $6.7
million earned by IAC (acquired January 31, 2006) in addition to $4.9 million of fees earned by IHC
Health Solutions, Inc (acquired January 1, 2007) and AMC (acquired April 1, 2007).
 

Total other income increased $1.3 million to $3.4 million from $2.1 million in 2006, primarily
due to adjustments in 2007 in settlement of a reinsurance agreement.

Insurance Benefits, Claims and Reserves

Benefits, claims and reserves increased $52.8 million. The increase is mainly due to: (i) an
increase of $20.5 million in the Medical Stop-Loss segment, primarily resulting from an increase in
claims experience and reserve strengthening of $11.9 million related to 2006 business and $5.6 million
due to an increase in the Projected Net Loss Ratio on 2007 business, as described in further detail below;
and the remainder, as a result of the increase in assumed premiums, and (ii) an increase of $31.8 million
in the Fully Insured Health segment, primarily due to the increase in volume and adverse development of
$1.2 million related to the 2006 year, as described below in Reserve Strengthening.
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Reserve Strengthening:

Medical Stop-Loss

In accordance with our reserving methodology, the Company initially establishes its medical stop-
loss reserves based on its best estimate of the Projected Net Loss Ratio, which is set based on underlying
assumptions developed using completed prior experience trended forward ("Projected Net Loss Ratio").
This use of projections reflects the fact that actual claims on medical stop-loss cases typically are not fully
reported until after the end of the policy period. We use the Projected Net Loss Ratio to set reserves until
developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results and it is feasible to set reserves based on
claim development patterns. IHC's typical practice is to then increase or decrease claims reserves once we
know the actual claims experience. We then review quarterly the Projected Net Loss Ratios and claim
development patterns as we develop reserve estimates based on recent claim develop ment history
("Claim Development Patterns").

Medical stop-loss business is excess coverage with a short duration. Predicting ultimate claims
and estimating reserves in medical stop-loss is especially complicated due to the “excess of loss” nature
of these products with very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in
the aggregate for a given group. Fluctuations in results for specific coverage are primarily due to the
severity and frequency of individual claims. Due to the short-term nature of medical stop-loss,
redundancies and deficiencies will typically emerge during the following year rather than over a number
of years.

Consistent with our experience, the industry as a whole has succumbed to the pricing pressures
caused by an unexpectedly long down cycle (or "soft" market) for medical stop-loss business. The
medical stop-loss market has been “soft” for the past four years, including cases written in 2006 and 2007,
which means that many of the Company’s competitors have been willing to write business at little or no
margin. We had been aware of these market conditions and had curtailed our growth in order to attempt to
achieve higher profit margins.  The Company believed that it had taken sufficient action to insure that
business written in 2006 would produce better margins than that written in 2005 and formulated a
Projected Net Loss Ratio reflecting such expectations.  As is typical with medical stop-loss business,
MGUs do have some discretion with in our underwriting guidelines to make pricing concess ions on
certain cases, particularly as it relates to maintaining their core renewal business and production sources. 

In the third quarter of 2007, during our quarterly review of Claim Development Patterns, we
identified a material increase in claims and reserves with respect to business written in 2006.  Such
adverse development was primarily driven by the frequency of claims relative to the business written in
that year proving significantly higher than what would have been predicted by prior loss development
patterns.  This increased frequency of medical stop-loss claims was due, in part, to increased severity of
primary claims.  The Company determined that this increase in claims was an indication of a pattern of
higher loss frequency.  While claims related to business written in 2007 have not yet developed to a level
where Claim Development Patterns would provide reliable estimates of ultimate claim levels, we
determined that it was appropriate to re-estimate the 2007 Projected Net Loss ratio to take into account
developing losses with respect to business written in 2006.

As a result of these actions, the Company increased the Projected Net Loss Ratio on the business
written in 2007 by 9.8% and increased the Net Loss Ratio (defined as insurance benefits, claims and
reserves divided by (premiums earned less underwriting expenses)) on the business written in 2006 by
11.4%.  This resulted in a charge of $11.9 million, before income taxes, in 2007 primarily relating to the
re-estimation of unpaid losses from the prior year.  In addition, the Company booked higher reserves of
$5.6 million related to the 2007 business due to the increase of 9.8% in the Projected Net Loss Ratio from
the rate at which new business was reserved for in 2006. The Company recorded Net Loss Ratios for the
medical stop-loss line of 108.9%, 95.2% and 93.2% for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
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2005 respectively. The Net Loss Ratio equation primarily differs from the Combined Ratio in that it
subtracts out expenses from the premiums prior to dividing by the insurance benefits, claims and reserves.
 We primarily use Net Loss Ratios from a reserving standpoint and as a management tool to measure the
profitability of medical stop-loss with respect to each program. The Company primarily uses Combined
Ratios as an accounting measurement for reporting purposes.

Fully Insured Health

The adverse development recorded in 2007 in the Fully Insured Health segment was largely
related to: (i) overestimating the value of certain new initiatives started in 2006 that were intended to
manage and reduce claims costs, including medical care management services to insureds, negotiation of
out-of-network claims, and auditing provider bills ("Cost Containment Program"),  and (ii)
underestimating in 2006 the seasonality patterns that are a result of an increasing portion of the business
having high deductible health plans (“HDHPs”).    Although this Cost Containment Program did have a
positive impact on the results of the small group major medical line, during 2007 the Company
determined that the impact was not as large as it had anticipated when setting reserves in 2006.  With
respect to the seasonality patterns, HDHPs have fewer claims in the first quarter of a plan year and higher
claims in the last quarter of the plan year. Primarily as a result of these two factors during 2006, the
Company believed that its small-group major medical business had significantly better loss ratios than we
later determined.

Amortization of Deferred Acquisition Costs

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs increased $.7 million.

Interest Expense on Debt

Interest expense increased $.3 million primarily as a result of a higher average outstanding
principal balance and a higher interest rate paid under a line of credit during 2007 compared to 2006 (an
average of 6.7% in 2007 compared to 5.1% in 2006).

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Total selling, general and administrative expenses increased $25.4 million in 2007 as compared to
2006. The increase is primarily due to (i) a $22.7 million increase in commission and administrative
 expenses associated with the operation of the Fully Insured segment, primarily due to (a) $6.3 from the
acquisitions of CAM and AMC, (b) an overall increase in costs of $15.0 million due to the increase in
business (reported as SGA expenses, previously described), and (c) a $1.4 million increase in
amortization expenses as a result of the purchase accounting for recent acquisitions; and  (ii) a $3.5
million increase in commissions and other general expenses in the Medical Stop-Loss segment due to
 higher volume.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense decreased $6.2 million to $.4 million for 2007 from $6.6 million in 2006,
primarily due to the decrease in pre-tax income in 2007.  The decrease in the effective tax rate to 22.2% in
2007 from 31.4% in 2006 is primarily due to a higher ratio of dividend received deductions ("DRD") and
tax exempt income to pre-tax income in 2007 compared to 2006.  Although the amount of DRD and tax
exempt income has not increased substantially, their proportion to pre-tax  income has due to the decrease
in operating income in 2007 resulting in a lower effective tax rate in 2007.
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LIQUIDITY

Insurance Group

The Insurance Group normally provides cash flow from: (i) operations; (ii) the receipt of
scheduled principal payments on its portfolio of fixed maturities; and (iii) earnings on investments. Such
cash flow is partially used to fund liabilities for insurance policy benefits. These liabilities represent long-
term and short-term obligations.

Corporate

Corporate derives its funds principally from: (i) dividends from the Insurance Group; (ii)
management fees from its subsidiaries; and (iii) investment income from Corporate liquidity. Regulatory
constraints historically have not affected the Company's consolidated liquidity, although state insurance
laws have provisions relating to the ability of the parent company to use cash generated by the Insurance
Group.

Cash Flows

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $7.8 million of cash and cash equivalents compared
with $72.8 as of December 31, 2007. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was primarily offset by
an increase in securities purchased under agreements to resell of $47.1 million. Total investments, net of
amounts due to and from brokers, were $763.7 million and $779.4 million at December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations for the year ended December
31, 2008 was $3.3 million. Net cash used by operating activities of discontinued operations for the year
ended December 31, 2008 was $18.0 million primarily due to cash used for the settlement of the Credit
Life and Disability segment.

Net cash used by investing activities of continuing operations for the year ended December 31,
2008 was $47.0 million primarily as a result of net purchases of $79.1 million of fixed maturities and
$47.1 million of securities under resale and repurchase agreements, partially offset by $15.7 million in net
proceeds on sales of equity securities in addition to $57.3 million received in connection with the
acquisition of a block of life insurance and annuity policies.

The Company has $478.9 million of insurance reserves that it expects to ultimately pay out of
current assets and cash flows from future business. If necessary, the Company could utilize the cash
received from maturities and repayments of its fixed maturity investments if the timing of claim payments
associated with the Company's insurance resources does not coincide with future cash flows. For the year
ended December 31, 2008, cash received from the maturities and other repayments of fixed maturities
was $74.7 million.

The Company believes it has sufficient cash to meet its currently anticipated business
requirements over the next twelve months including working capital requirements and capital
investments.  
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BALANCE SHEET

Total investments, net of amounts due to and from brokers, decreased $15.7 million during 2008
largely due to: (i) a $69.2 million increase in unrealized losses on available for sale securities; (ii) $38.2
million of losses realized for other-than-temporary impairments; (iii) $6.8 million of other net trading
account losses; (iv) a $4.9 million decrease in partnership investments; (v) offset by $107.2 million of net
purchases of short-term investments, resale agreements, and fixed maturities and equity securities
available-for-sale.

The Company had net receivables from reinsurers of $100.7 million at December 31, 2008.
Substantially all of the business ceded to such reinsurers is of short duration. All of such receivables are
either due from highly rated companies or are adequately secured. No allowance for doubtful accounts
was necessary at December 31, 2008.

Other assets increased $39.8 million primarily due to a $39.0 million increase in net deferred tax
assets recorded as a result of a $23.8 million net loss and $70.7 million of net unrealized losses on
investment securities allocated to stockholders' equity.

The $60.1 million decrease in total stockholders' equity in 2008 is primarily due to a net loss of
$23.8 million and a $38.2 million increase in after-tax net unrealized losses on investments.

Asset Quality and Investment Impairments

The nature and quality of insurance company investments must comply with all applicable
statutes and regulations, which have been promulgated primarily for the protection of policyholders. Of
the aggregate carrying value of the Insurance Group's cash and investment assets, approximately 91.2%
was invested in investment grade fixed maturities, resale agreements, policy loans and cash and cash
equivalents at December 31, 2008. The Company's gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities
totaled $99.2 million at December 31, 2008. Also at such date, approximately 99.1% of the Insurance
Group's fixed maturities were investment grade and continues to be rated on average AA. The Company
marks all of its available-for-sale securities to fair value through accumulated other comprehensive
income or loss. These investments tend to carry less default risk and, therefore, lower interest rates than
other types of fixed matur ity investments. At December 31, 2008, approximately .9% (or $5.7 million) of
the carrying value of fixed maturities was invested in diversified non-investment grade fixed maturities
(investments in such securities have different risks than investment grade securities, including greater risk
of loss upon default, and thinner trading markets). The Company has only one non-performing fixed
maturity at December 31, 2008 with a carrying value of $.7 million, or .1% of the total carrying value of
fixed maturities.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $28.8 million invested in whole loan collateralized
mortgage obligations ("CMOs") backed by Alt-A mortgages. Of this amount, 39.8% were in CMOs that
originated in 2005 or earlier and 60.2% were in CMOs that originated in 2006. While these mortgages
have seen lower market values recently, we believe that the unrealized losses on these securities are not
necessarily indicative of their ultimate performance. The Company’s mortgage security portfolio has no
direct exposure to sub-prime mortgages. The decline in fair value for the equity securities was primarily
due to wider spreads for preferred stocks issued by financial institutions following the disruption in credit
markets. Some of these financial institutions have exposure to sub-prime mortgages. The unrealized loss
for CMO securities is primarily attributable to Alt-A mortgages as described ab ove. The unrealized
losses on corporate securities and state and political subdivision securities are due to wider spreads.
Spreads have widened as investors shifted funds to U.S. Treasuries in response to the current market
turmoil.
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The Company reviews its investments regularly and monitors its investments continually for
impairments, as discussed in Note 1(F)(vi) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of
this report. For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 the Company recorded losses of $38.2
million and $.4 million, respectively, for other-than-temporary impairments. The following table
summarizes the carrying value of securities with fair values less than 80% of their amortized cost at
December 31, 2008 by the length of time the fair values of those securities were below 80% of their
amortized cost (in thousands):

    Greater than  Greater than     
    3 months,  6 months,     
  Less than  less than  less than  Greater than   
  3 months  6 months  12 months  12 months  Total
           
Fixed maturities $ 37,431 $ 8,119 $ 2,087 $ - $ 47,637 
Equity securities  3,292  10,083  -  -  13,375 
           
 Total $ 40,723 $ 18,202 $ 2,087 $ - $ 61,012 

The unrealized losses on all remaining available-for-sale securities have been evaluated in
accordance with the Company's impairment policy and were determined to be temporary in nature at
December 31, 2008. In 2008, the Company experienced an increase in net unrealized losses of $70.7
million which, net of deferred tax benefits of $21.2 million and net of deferred policy acquisition costs of
$11.3 million, decreased stockholders' equity by $38.2 million (reflecting net unrealized losses of $54.3
million at December 31, 2008 compared to net unrealized losses of $16.1 million at December 31, 2007).
From time to time, as warranted, the Company may employ investment strategies to mitigate interest rate
and other market exposures. Further deterioration in credit quality of the companies backing the
securities, further deterioration in the condition of the financial services industry, a continuation of the
current imbalances i n liquidity that exist in the marketplace, a continuation or worsening of the current
economic recession, or additional declines in real estate values may further affect the fair value of these
securities and increase the potential that certain unrealized losses be designated as other-than-temporary
in future periods and the Company may incur additional write-downs.

Health Reserves

The following table summarizes the prior year net unfavorable amount incurred in 2008
according to the year to which it relates, together with the opening reserve balance (net of reinsurance
recoverable) to which it relates (in thousands):

  Reserves at   Prior Year Amount
   January 1, 2008    Incurred in 2008
Total Reserves      
2007  $ 77,214  $ (103)
2006  9,280   1,597 
2005  5,342   (6)
2004 and Prior  11,641   89 
      
     Total  $ 103,477  $ 1,577 

The following sections describe, for each segment, the deficiency - unfavorable development or
redundancy - favorable development experienced in 2008, together with the key assumptions and changes
therein affecting the reserve estimates.
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Medical Stop-Loss

The Company experienced net unfavorable development of $3.3 million in the Medical Stop-Loss
segment primarily related to $3.2 million of negative development on the 2007 reserves. With respect to
the 2007 reserves, the deficiency was the result of on-going analysis of recent loss development trends
with respect to 2007 primarily attributable to the increased frequency of claims and the severity of
primary claims. In the third quarter of 2007, the Company identified a material increase in claims and
reserves with respect to business written in 2006. Such adverse development was primarily driven by the
frequency of claims relative to the business written in that year proving significantly higher than what
would have been predicted by prior loss development patterns.  This increased frequency of medical stop-
loss claims was due, in part, to increased severity of primary claims.  

 
Fully Insured Health

The Company experienced $1.2 million of favorable development in the Fully Insured Health
segment primarily related to $1.0 million on the 2007 business. The favorable development in the Fully
Insured Health segment in 2008 is related to overestimating the seasonality patterns of the business
having HDHPs in 2007. 

Group Disability

The Group Disability segment had an unfavorable development of $.2 million.  This amount
consists of a favorable development of $1.4 million on the 2007 reserves primarily due to DBL and a net
unfavorable development of $1.6 million for all other years due to LTD.  

Due to the long-term nature of LTD, in establishing loss reserves the Company must make
estimates for case reserves, incurred but not reported reserves (“IBNR”), and reserves for Loss
Adjustment Expenses (“LAE”).  Case reserves generally equal the Company’s best estimate of the present
value of the liability for future benefits to be paid on claims incurred as of the balance sheet date. The
LAE reserve is calculated based on an actuarial expense study.  Since the LTD block of policies is
relatively small, results can vary from year to year solely on the basis of one or two policies.  It is not
uncommon for a reserve of several hundred thousand dollars to be associated with one policy.  If a small
number of claimants with large policy reserves were to recover or a few large claims were incurred, the
results could distort the Company’s reserve estim ates from year to year.  However, there were no
individual factors in 2008 that caused the unfavorable development in LTD. With respect to DBL,
reserves for the most recent quarter of earned premium are established using a Net Loss Ratio
methodology.  The Net Loss Ratio is determined by applying the completed prior four quarters of
historical Net Loss Ratios to the last quarter of earned premium.  Reserves associated with the premium
earned prior to the last quarter are established using a completion factor methodology. The completion
factors are developed using the historical payment patterns for DBL. The favorable development in the
DBL line is due to lower than expected claims.

There were normal fluctuations to the Company's experience factor. The IBNR factors were
updated to reflect the current experience. The reserving process used by management was consistent from
2007 to 2008.

Individual Accident and Health and Other

The Individual Accident and Health and Other segment had favorable development of $.7 million.
The Company experienced $.5 million favorable variance related to 2007 reserves on our Blanket
Accident and sickness product that is sold to volunteer fire districts, due to lower claims experience than
historically experienced. The Company had $.2 million favorable variance on all other Individual A&H
lines related to 2007 and prior reserves. The reserving process used by management was consistent from
2007 to 2008.  
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CAPITAL RESOURCES

Due to its strong capital ratios, broad licensing and excellent asset quality and credit-worthiness,
the Insurance Group remains well positioned to increase or diversify its current activities. It is anticipated
that future acquisitions or other expansion of operations will be funded internally from existing capital
and surplus and parent company liquidity. In the event additional funds are required, it is expected that
they would be borrowed or raised in the public or private capital markets to the extent determined to be
necessary or desirable. In November 2004, December 2003 and March 2003, the Company borrowed
$15.0 million, $12.0 million and $10.0 million, respectively, through pooled trust preferred issuances by
unconsolidated subsidiary trusts. In August 2006, the Company entered into a $15.0 million line of credit,
all of which was drawn down at that time. At December 31, 2008, $10.0 million remains outstanding du e
to scheduled reductions of $2.5 million in this line of credit in both August 2007 and 2008. See Note 13
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this report.

IHC enters into a variety of contractual obligations with third parties in the ordinary course of its
operations, including liabilities for insurance reserves, funds on deposit, debt and operating lease
obligations.  However, IHC does not believe that its cash flow requirements can be fully assessed based
solely upon an analysis of these obligations.  Future cash outflows, whether they are contractual
obligations or not, also will vary based upon IHC’s future needs.  Although some outflows are fixed,
others depend on future events.

The chart below reflects the maturity distribution of IHC’s contractual obligations at December
31, 2008 (in thousands):  

    Junior        Funds   
    Subordinated  Interest    Insurance  on   
  Debt  Debt  On Debt  Leases  Reserves  Deposit  Total
               
2009 $ 10,000 $ - $ 2,733  3,279 $ 173,141 $ 41,120 $ 230,273
2010    -  1,980  3,152  49,345  39,387  93,864
2011  -  -  1,980  3,088  40,089  36,204  81,361
2012  -  -  1,980  2,183  30,928  33,733  68,824
2013  -  -  1,980  1,623  28,927  31,658  64,188
2014 and               
Thereafter  -  38,146  39,935  5,560  156,461  229,086  469,188
 Totals $ 10,000 $ 38,146 $ 50,588 $ 18,885 $ 478,891 $ 411,188 $ 1,007,698
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OUTLOOK

For 2009 , IHC’s business plan is to: (i) continue to maintain the profitability of our Fully Insured
Health business, while selectively pursuing new opportunities that leverage our vertically integrated
strategy of generating fee income at multiple levels of marketing and administration, as well as risk profit
and profit commission income, (ii) expand the distribution and continue to improve the profitability of our
Medical Stop-Loss business, (iii) proactively adjust our mix of business to take advantage of market
conditions, and (iv) continue to expand the distribution of our life and disability products. IHC believes it
will be successful in mitigating any impact from proposed federal health care reform legislation, if
enacted, as well as the impact of the current economic downturn because of our reliance on controlled
distribution and our mix of business.

The following summarizes what IHC has accomplish ed and the outlook for 2009 and beyond by
segment.

Historic Core Lines of Business

IHC has historically been a life and health insurance holding company for two insurance
companies, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York ("Standard Security Life") and
Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison National Life"), which relied on independent
general agents, managing general underwriters ("MGUs") and administrators to perform the majority of
all marketing, underwriting, claims and administrative functions for our two primary product segments
(Medical Stop-Loss and group disability, life, annuities and DBL).  While it is always our intent to
emphasize underwriting profits and not top line growth , the medical stop-loss industry as a whole
succumbed to pricing pressures caused by an unexpectedly long down cycle (or "soft" market) from 2004
through 2008.  As a consequence of these market conditions, we made a decision to curtail our growth
and our 2008 loss ratios are improved. Due to stricter underwriting guidelines and the termination of
several MGUs in 2008, we expect a decline in stop-loss premiums in 2009. The Company expects its
gross group life and disability premiums to increase in 2009 as a result of taking over an estimated $18
million block from an insurer that exited the market, of which we will retain approximately 20%.

With respect to distribution , Standard Security Life is approved to write Medical Stop-Loss in all
50 states and Madison National Life in 49 states. Standard Security Life is currently contacted to write
this product through nine MGUs, and Madison National Life through one. T he Company has a
significant ownership interest in five of these MGUs (including those owned by AMIC), which produced
$ 99.8 million ( 53.9 %) of Medical Stop-Loss premium s written on IHC paper in 2008 ..

Fully Insured Health Segment

The Fully Insured Health market (estimated at $500 billion) in the U.S. is a much larger market
than the Medical Stop-Loss market (estimated at $4 billion). The Company limited the amount of its
growth in this segment in 2008 and expects to continue to do so in 2009. In the event we determine to
accelerate our growth, we are optimistic that (as a result of its multiple product filings, distribution
sources, and the sheer size of the market) our Fully Insured Health business could grow while maintaining
profitable underwriting results.
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Investments

Due to the continued turmoil in the capital markets, IHC, like many insurance and other
companies in the financial sector, recognized a loss in 2008 for other-than-temporary impairments.  These
impairments were realized on certain investments in preferred stocks and fixed maturities (primarily Alt-
A mortgage securities). These preferred stocks were investment-grade preferred stocks issued by well-
known financial institutions and account for approximately 4% of our total investment portfolio. Our
fixed maturity portfolio continues to be rated on average AA, and the Company considers all unrealized
losses in this category to be temporary.  We have no direct investments in sub-prime mortgages, although
approximately 4% of our total investment portfolio is Alt-A mortgages.  While these mortgages have seen
lower market values recently, we believe that the unrealized losses on these securities are not necessarily
 indicative of their ultimate performance. Our book value per share decreased to $10.56 at December 31,
2008 from $14.63 at December 31, 2007 due to a net loss and changes in the fair value of our investment
portfolio.  To the extent that the capital markets remain unsettled, we may continue to see volatility in the
market price of our equity and fixed maturity securities, which could have a negative impact on our net
income and book value per share.

Summary

In summary, the Company anticipates improved operating performance in 2009 as a result of (i)
increased profitability from its multiple F ully I nsured H ealth P roducts through varied distribution
channels; (ii) continuing improvement in the profitability of its Medical Stop-Loss business; and (iii)
reduced susceptibility to market cycles due to a better balance in our fully insured health business ..  

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK

The Company manages interest rate risk by seeking to maintain an investment portfolio with a
duration and average life that falls within the band of the duration and average life of the applicable
liabilities. Options may be utilized to modify the duration and average life of such assets.

The following summarizes the estimated pre-tax change in fair value (based upon hypothetical
parallel shifts in the U.S. Treasury yield curve) of the fixed income portfolio assuming immediate changes
in interest rates at specified levels at December 31, 2008:

   Estimated    Estimated Change
Change in Interest Rates    Fair Value    In Fair Value
    (In millions)
200 basis point rise   $ 527.4   $ (81.1)
100 basis point rise    565.3    (43.2)
Base scenario    608.5    -
100 basis point decline    655.0    46.5
200 basis point decline    705.3    96.8
         

The Company monitors its investment portfolio on a continuous basis and believes that the
liquidity of the Insurance Group will not be adversely affected by its current investments. This monitoring
includes the maintenance of an asset-liability model that matches current insurance liability cash flows
with current investment cash flows. This is accomplished by first creating an insurance model of the
Company's in-force policies using current assumptions on mortality, lapses and expenses. Then, current
investments are assigned to specific insurance blocks in the model using appropriate prepayment
schedules and future reinvestment patterns.
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The results of the model specify whether the investments and their related cash flows can support
the related current insurance cash flows. Additionally, various scenarios are developed changing interest
rates and other related assumptions. These scenarios help evaluate the market risk due to changing interest
rates in relation to the business of the Insurance Group.

In the Company's analysis of the asset-liability model, a 100 to 200 basis point change in interest
rates on the Insurance Group's liabilities would not be expected to have a material adverse effect on the
Company. With respect to its liabilities, if interest rates were to increase, the risk to the Company is that
policies would be surrendered and assets would need to be sold. This is not a material exposure to the
Company since a large portion of the Insurance Group's interest sensitive policies are burial policies that
are not subject to the typical surrender patterns of other interest sensitive policies, and many of the
Insurance Group's universal life and annuity policies were acquired from liquidated companies which
tend to exhibit lower surrender rates than such policies of continuing companies. Additionally, there are
charges to help offset the benefits being surrendered. If interest rates were to decrease substant ially, the
risk to the Company is that some of its investment assets would be subject to early redemption. This is not
a material exposure because the Company would have additional unrealized gains in its investment
portfolio to help offset the future reduction of investment income. With respect to its investments, the
Company employs (from time to time as warranted) investment strategies to mitigate interest rate and
other market exposures.

ITEM  8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 58.

ITEM  9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

IHC's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer supervised and participated in IHC's
evaluation of its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in IHC's periodic reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms. Based upon that evaluation, IHC's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that IHC's disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

  There was no change in IHC's internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter
of 2008 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, IHC's internal control over
financial reporting.

During the second quarter of 2008, the Company discovered irregularities relating to account
reconciliations of certain other assets and other liabilities of a previously acquired subsidiary. The Audit
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors and the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm were promptly apprised of these irregularities. The Audit Committee performed a review
of this matter, including engaging special, independent legal counsel.

 
The results of the Audit Committee’s review which was conducted in the second and third

quarters, concluded that the irregularities: (i) existed at the time the Company acquired the subsidiary in
question; and (ii) related exclusively to activities at the subsidiary that occurred prior to its acquisition by
the Company. The former shareholders of the subsidiary indemnified the Company in connection with all
deficiencies in accounts and entered into an agreement further to indemnify the Company for: (i) any
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future undisclosed liability identified as having existed at the time the Company acquired such subsidiary,
(ii) all costs incurred in connection with the Audit Committee’s review of the matter and (iii) all other
costs incurred, or to be incurred, by the Company in connection with the matter.  The results of the review
were shared with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.

In addition, the following remedial actions have been taken by management: (i) all deficiencies in
certain accounts controlled by the subsidiary identified as resulting from the irregularities were corrected;
(ii) existing financial controls relating to the affected accounts were augmented; and (iii) certain
appropriate changes in personnel were implemented.  Although the Company believes that such remedial
steps have been sufficient to address any financial impact of the matter, there can be no assurance that
additional liabilities will not be identified or costs incurred. Sufficient work has been done to enable
management to conclude that: (i) no restatement of previously reported financial statements is required;
and (ii) the irregularities do not affect management’s previous conclusion that, as of December 31, 2008,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.

The Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the related Report
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive
proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of IHC’s stockholders to be held in June 2009, which
definitive proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our written Code of Business Ethics and Corporate Code of Conduct may be found on our
website, www.ihcgroup.com, under the Corporate Information / Corporate Governance tabs.  Collectively,
the two Codes apply to all of our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive
officer and our senior financial officers.  Any amendment to or waiver from either of the Codes will be
posted to the same location on our website, to the extent such disclosure is legally required.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive
proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of IHC’s stockholders to be held in June 2009, which
definitive proxy statement will be filed with the SEC.
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ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive
proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of IHC’s stockholders to be held in June 2009, which
definitive proxy statement will be filed with the SEC.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive
proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of IHC’s stockholders to be held in June 2009, which
definitive proxy statement will be filed with the SEC.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive
proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of IHC’s stockholders to be held in June 2009, which
definitive proxy statement will be filed with the SEC.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) and (2)   

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 58.

(a) (3) EXHIBITS              

See Exhibit Index on page 115.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, on March 16, 2009.

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
REGISTRANT

By: /s/ Roy T. K. Thung
 Roy T.K. Thung
 President, and
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)

 By: /s/ Teresa A. Herbert
Teresa A. Herbert
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated as of the 16th
day of March, 2009.

/s/ Larry R. Graber
Larry R. Graber
Director and Senior Vice President

/s/ Allan C. Kirkman
Allan C. Kirkman
Director

/s/ John L. Lahey
John L. Lahey
Director

/s/ Steven B. Lapin
Steven B. Lapin
Director and Vice Chairman
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/s/ Edward Netter
Edward Netter
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/s/ James G. Tatum
James G. Tatum
Director

/s/ Roy T.K. Thung
Roy T.K. Thung
Director, President, and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

57



INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

   PAGE
    
Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 59
  
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 60
    
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:    
    
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 63
    
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended    
 December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 64
    
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the years    
 ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 65
    
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended    
 December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 66
    
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 67
    
SCHEDULES:*    
    
Summary of investments - other than investments in related parties at  
 December 31, 2008 (Schedule I)   110
    
Condensed financial information of parent company (Schedule II) 111
   
Supplementary insurance information (Schedule III) 114
  
    
    

*All other schedules have been omitted as they are not applicable or not required, or the information is
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

58



Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:

The management of Independence Holding Company ("IHC") is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. IHC's internal control system is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company's management and board of directors regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and fair presentation of published financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of IHC's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework.  Based on our assessment we concluded that, as of December 31, 2008, IHC's internal
control over financial reporting is effective.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated
financial statements in this Annual Report, has issued an audit report on the effective operation of IHC's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, which is included herein on page 60.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:

We have audited Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission ("COSO"). The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company's internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely d etection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by COSO.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Independence Holding Company and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2008, and our report dated March 16, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
New York, New York
March 16, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Independence Holding Company and
subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2008.  In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have
audited financial statement schedules I to III.  These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2008 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Independence Holding Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission ("COSO"), and our report dated March 16, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 16, 2009
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31,
         
    2008    2007
    (In thousands, except share data)

ASSETS:         
 Investments:         
 Short-term investments   $ 52   $ 9,001
 Securities purchased under agreements to resell    60,823    13,757
 Fixed maturities, available-for-sale    608,487    611,906
 Equity securities, available-for-sale    54,007    98,496
 Other investments    37,724    42,899
         
 Total investments    761,093    776,059
         
 Cash and cash equivalents    7,767    72,823
 Due from securities brokers    2,598    5,188
 Investment in American Independence Corp. ("AMIC")    41,217    40,475
 Deferred acquisition costs    62,401    45,447
 Due and unpaid premiums    55,663    64,444
 Due from reinsurers    139,052    143,710
 Premium and claim funds    52,171    49,468
 Notes and other receivables    16,000    13,872
 Goodwill    52,331    51,695
 Other assets    83,601    43,774
         
 TOTAL ASSETS   $ 1,273,894   $ 1,306,955

         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:         
LIABILITIES:         
 Insurance reserves-health   $ 199,160   $ 201,994
 Insurance reserves-life and annuity    279,731    248,253
 Funds on deposit    411,188    383,711
 Unearned premiums    16,727    22,415
 Policy claims-health    12,158    10,419
 Policy claims-life    10,738    10,639
 Other policyholders' funds    21,888    17,738
 Due to securities brokers    -    1,852
 Due to reinsurers    38,406    43,571
 Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities    69,508    70,303
 Liabilities related to discontinued operations    3,542    22,563
 Debt    10,000    12,500
 Junior subordinated debt securities    38,146    38,146
         
 TOTAL LIABILITIES    1,111,192    1,084,104
         
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:         
 Preferred stock (none issued)    -    -
   Common stock $1.00 par value, 20,000,000 shares         
 authorized; 15,434,891 and 15,366,281 shares issued,         
 respectively; 15,402,136 and 15,228,521 shares out-         
  standing, respectively    15,435    15,366
 Paid-in capital    101,086    99,805
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (54,291)    (16,125)
 Treasury stock, at cost;  32,755 and 137,760 shares,         
  respectively    (326)    (2,626)
 Retained earnings    100,798    126,431
         
 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY    162,702    222,851
          
 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND  STOCKHOLDERS'         
    EQUITY   $ 1,273,894   $ 1,306,955

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
         

 2008   2007   2006
 (In thousands, except per share data)
REVENUES:         
  Premiums earned:         
 Health $ 280,214  $ 272,748  $ 225,264 
 Life and annuity  37,074   34,137   33,406 
 Net investment income  44,044   46,122   47,676 
 Fee income  39,672   44,083   32,533 
 Net realized investment gains (losses)  (50,648)   1,258   625 
 Equity income from AMIC  480   546   699 
 Other income  2,851   3,428   2,059 
         
  353,687   402,322   342,262 
EXPENSES:         
 Insurance benefits, claims and reserves:         
 Health  192,504   203,511   149,878 
 Life and annuity  48,033   47,194   48,014 
 Selling, general and administrative expenses  143,912   139,380   113,997 
 Amortization of deferred acquisition costs  6,345   6,111   5,370 
 Interest expense on debt  3,776   4,194   3,890 
         
  394,570   400,390   321,149 
         
 Income (loss) from continuing operations before         
  income taxes (benefits)  (40,883)   1,932   21,113 
 Income taxes  (benefits)  (16,399)   428   6,632 
          
 Income (loss) from continuing operations  (24,484)   1,504   14,481 
          
 Discontinued operations:         
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  524   (224)   (420)
 Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations  120   (3,608)   - 
         
 NET INCOME (LOSS) $ (23,840)  $ (2,328)  $ 14,061 
         
Basic income (loss) per common share:         
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (1.59)  $ .10  $ .97 
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  .03   (.01)   (.02)
 Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations  .01   (.24)   - 
  Basic income (loss) per common share $ (1.55)  $ (.15)  $ .95 
          
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING  15,387   15,196   14,872 
         
Diluted income (loss) per common share:         
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (1.59)  $ .10  $ .95 
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  .03   (.01)   (.02)
 Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations  .01   (.24)   - 
  Diluted income (loss) per common share $ (1.55)  $ (.15)  $ .93 
         
WEIGHTED AVERAGE DILUTED SHARES         
 OUTSTANDING  15,387   15,311   15,167 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

        ACCUMULATED        
        OTHER       TOTAL

  COMMON STOCK  PAID-IN  COMPREHENSIVE  TREASURY STOCK     RETAINED  STOCKHOLDERS'

  SHARES  AMOUNT  CAPITAL  INCOME (LOSS)  SHARES  AMOUNT  EARNINGS  EQUITY

       (In thousands, except share data)       
                   
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005  14,235,066 $ 14,235 $ 78,554 $ (8,414)  (102,917) $ (1,829) $ 116,205 $ 198,751 

 Adjustment to January 1, 2006
beginning

                

 balance for adoption of Staff                 
 Accounting Bulletin No. 108              558  558 

 January 1, 2006 balance, as adjusted  14,235,066  14,235  78,554  (8,414)  (102,917)  (1,829)  116,763  199,309 

 Net income              14,061  14,061 

 Net change in unrealized gains
(losses)

       (888)        (888)

 Total comprehensive income                13,173 

 Purchase of treasury stock          (58,315)  (1,180)    (1,180)

 Exercise of common stock options
and

                

 related tax benefits  438,050  438  5,210    40,170  725  (545)  5,828 

 Common stock dividend ($.05 per
share)

             (757)  (757)

 Purchase of IAC  446,663  447  9,175          9,622 

 Purchase of CAIS  46,250  46  1,012          1,058 

 Other stock issuances  127,833  128  2,438    1,417  25    2,591 

 Share-based compensation expense      1,401    1,250  22    1,423 

 Other capital transactions      83          83 

             < /P>     
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2006  15,293,862  15,294  97,873  (9,302)  (118,395)  (2,237)  129,522  231,150 

 Net loss              (2,328)  (2,328)

 Net change in unrealized gains
(losses)

       (6,823)        (6,823)

 Total comprehensive loss                (9,151)

 Purchase of treasury stock          (19,865)  (398)    (398)

 Exercise of common stock options
and

                

 related tax benefits  51,040  51  628          679 

 Common stock dividend ($.05 per
share)

             (763)  (763)

 Share-based compensation expense
and

                

 related tax benefits  21,384  21  1,311    500  9    1,341 

 Other capital transactions  (5)    (7)          (7)

            &nb
sp;

     

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2007  15,366,281  15,366  99,805  (16,125)  (137,760) $ (2,626)  126,431  222,851 

 Net loss              (23,840)  (23,840)

 Net change in unrealized gains
(losses)

       (38,166)        (38,166)

 Total comprehensive loss                (62,006)

 Stock issuance          127,520  2,422  (1,021)  1,401 

 Purchase of treasury stock          (23,015)  (133)    (133)

 Exercise of common stock options
and

                

 related tax benefits  45,094  45  73          118 

 Common stock dividend ($.05 per
share)

             (771)  (771)

 Share-based compensation expense
and

                

 related tax benefits  23,516  24  1,178    500  11  (1)  1,212 

 Other capital transactions      30          30 

                  
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2008  15,434,891 $ 15,435 $ 101,086 $ (54,291)  (32,755) $ (326) $ 100,798 $ 162,702 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

  2008   2007   2006

  (In thousands)

Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Operating Activities:         
 Net income (loss) $ (23,840)  $ (2,328)  $ 14,061 

 Adjustments to net income (loss):         
 (Gain) loss from discontinued operations  (524)   224   420 

 (Gain) loss on disposition of discontinued operations  (120)   3,608   - 

 Amortization of deferred acquisition costs  6,345   6,111   5,370 

 Net realized investment gains (losses)  50,648   (1,258)   (625)

 Equity income from AMIC and other equity method investments  (1,143)   (972)   (1,518)

 Depreciation and amortization  5,328   4,857   2,963 

 Share-based compensation expenses  1,180   1,325   1,567 

 Deferred tax expense (benefit)  (18,101)   (6,254)   3,045 

 Other  (2,199)   574   1,324 

 Changes in assets and liabilities:         
 Net sales of trading securities  493   715   850 

 Change in insurance liabilities  (12,113)   34,252   (13,190)

 Additions to deferred acquisition costs  (3,109)   (4,347)   932 

 Change in net amounts due from and to reinsurers  (507)   (9,443)   25,942 

 Change in premium and claim funds  (2,703)   1,776   (25,496)

 Change in income tax liability  (1,531)   (547)   (5,310)

 Change in due and unpaid premiums  8,842   (40,584)   1,643 

 Change in other assets  (1,902)   (4,404)   (1,681)

 Change in other liabilities  (2,261)   12,262   7,200 

         

 Net change in cash from operating activities of continuing
operations

 2,783   (4,433)   17,497 

 Net change in cash from operating activities of discontinued
operations

 (18,030)   (543)   (462)

          
 Net change in cash from operating activities  (15,247)   (4,976)   17,035 

         
Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Investing Activities:         
 Change in net amount due from and to securities brokers  738   (2,676)   (3,565)

 Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments  3,254   1,063   (1,103)

 Net sales (purchases) of securities under resale         
 and repurchase agreements  (47,066)   55,092   (24,450)

 Sales of equity securities  60,600   60,149   114,116 

 Purchases of equity securities  (44,905)   (110,441)   (110,374)

 Sales of fixed maturities  393,210   266,592   337,819 

 Maturities and other repayments of fixed maturities  74,692   51,021   2,700 

 Purchases of fixed maturities  (546,969)   (262,250)   (327,981)

 Proceeds of sales of other investments  2,000   16,711   10,436 

 Additional investments in other investments, net of distributions  6,614   (4,151)   (5,770)

 Cash paid in acquisitions of companies, net of cash acquired  (998)   (9,034)   (20,950)

 Investment in AMIC  (1,401)   -   - 

 Cash received in acquisitions of policy blocks  57,279   104   4,979 
 Change in notes and other receivables  (1,628)   197   (888)

 Other  (2,437)   (1,001)   (5,971)

         

 Net change in cash from investing activities  (47,017)   61,376   (31,002)

         
Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Financing Activities:         
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock  1,401   -   2,500 

 Repurchases of common stock  (133)   (398)   (1,180)

 Exercises of common stock options  173   570   3,488 

 Excess tax (expense) benefit from exercises of common stock
options

 (363)   35   1,821 

 Proceeds of investment-type insurance contracts  (602)   1,933   10,451 

 Proceeds of debt  -   -   2,500 

 Repayment of debt  (2,500)   (2,500)   - 

 Dividends paid  (768)   (760)   (729)

         

 Net change in cash from financing activities  (2,792)   (1,120)   18,851 

         
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (65,056)   55,280   4,884 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  72,823   17,543   12,659 

         
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 7,767  $ 72,823  $ 17,543 



See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.  Significant Accounting Policies and Practices

(A) Business and Organization

Independence Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (“IHC”), is a holding company
principally engaged in the life and health insurance business through: (i) its wholly owned insurance
companies, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York ("Standard Security Life") and
Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison National Life"); and (ii) its marketing and
administrative companies, including Insurers Administrative Corporation (“IAC”), managing general
underwriters ("MGUs") in which it owns a significant voting interest, Health Plan Administrators, Inc.
(“HPA”), GroupLink, Inc. (“GroupLink”), IHC Health Solutions, Inc. (“IHC Health Solutions”), and
Actuarial Management Corporation ("AMC").  These companies are sometimes collectively referred to as
the "Insurance Group," and IHC and its subsidiaries (including the Insurance Group) are sometimes
collectively referred to as the "Company."  At December 31, 2008, the Company also owned a 49.7%
equity interest in American Independence Corp. ("AMIC") which owns Independence American
Insurance Company (“Independence American”), three MGUs and controlling interests in two agencies.

The Company sold its credit life and disability segment by entering into a 100% coinsurance
agreement with an unaffiliated insurer effective December 31, 2007.  Amounts in years prior to 2007 have
been restated in the consolidated financial statements and Notes thereto in order to present the credit life
and disability segment as discontinued operations.

Geneve Corporation, a diversified financial holding company, and its affiliated entities, held 53%
of IHC's outstanding common stock at December 31, 2008.

(B) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles and include the accounts of IHC and its consolidated subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect:  (i) the reported amounts of assets and liabilities; (ii) the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; and (iii) the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

(C)  Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior years' consolidated financial statements and Notes thereto have been
reclassified to conform to the 2008 presentation.

(D)  Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value and include principally
interest-bearing deposits at brokers, money market instruments and U.S. Treasury securities with original
maturities of less than 91 days.  Investments with original maturities of 91 days to one year are considered
short-term investments and are carried at cost which approximates fair value.
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(E) Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell and Securities Sold Under
Agreements to Repurchase  

Securities purchased under agreements to resell ("resale agreements") and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase ("repurchase agreements") are carried at the amounts at which the securities will
be subsequently resold or repurchased as specified in the agreements.

 (F) Investment Securities

(i) Investments in fixed maturities, redeemable preferred securities, equity securities and
derivatives (options and options on futures contracts) are accounted for as follows:

(a) Securities which are held for trading purposes are carried at estimated fair value ("fair
value").  Changes in fair value are credited or charged, as appropriate, to net realized investment gains
(losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(b) Securities not held for trading purposes which may or may not be held to maturity
("available-for-sale securities") are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses deemed temporary,
net of deferred income taxes and adjustments to deferred policy acquisition costs, are credited or charged,
as appropriate, directly to accumulated other comprehensive income or loss (a component of stockholders'
equity). Premiums and discounts on debt securities purchased at other than par value are amortized and
accreted, respectively, to interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, using the constant
yield method over the period to maturity. Net realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale
securities, and unrealized losses considered to be other than temporary, are credited or charged to net
realized investment gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(ii) Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, represent obligations to replace borrowed
securities that have been sold.  Such transactions occur in anticipation of declines in the fair value of the
securities. The Company's risk is an increase in the fair value of the securities sold in excess of the
consideration received, but that risk is mitigated as a result of relationships to certain securities owned.
 Unrealized gains or losses on open transactions are credited or charged, as appropriate, to net realized
investments gains in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. While the transaction is open, the
Company will also incur an expense for any accrued dividends or interest payable to the lender of the
securities.  When the transaction is closed, the Company realizes a gain or loss in an amount equal to the
difference between the price at which the securities were sold and the cost of replacing the borrowed
securities. There were no such transactions outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

(iii) Gains or losses on sales of securities are determined on the basis of specific identification.
(iv) The Company enters into derivative transactions, such as put and call option contracts and

options on interest rate futures contracts, to minimize losses on portions of the Company's fixed income
portfolio in a rapidly changing interest rate environment.  Equity index options are entered into to offset
price fluctuations in the equity markets. These derivative financial instruments are all readily marketable
and are carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their current fair value with changes in fair value
(unrealized gains and losses), credited or charged, as appropriate, to net realized investment gains (losses)
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations (hedge accounting is not applied to these derivatives). There
were no such derivative transactions outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

(v) Fair value is determined using quoted market prices when available. In some cases, we use
quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets and/or model-derived valuations where
inputs are observable in active markets. When there are limited or inactive trading markets, we use
industry-standard pricing methodologies, including discounted cash flow models, whose inputs are based
on management assumptions and available current market information. Further, we retain independent
pricing vendors to assist in valuing certain instruments.

(vi) The Company reviews its investment securities regularly and determines whether other-than-
temporary impairments have occurred. If a decline in fair value is judged by management to be other than
temporary, a loss is recognized by a charge to net realized investment gains (losses) in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations, establishing a new cost basis for the security. Beginning in the fourth quarter of
2008, for the purpose of other-than-temporary impairment evaluations, preferred stocks are treated in a
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manner similar to debt securities. The factors considered by management in its regular review include, but
are not limited to:  the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; the
financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in ratings announced by one or
more rating agencies; subordinated credit support; whether the issuer of a debt security has remained
current on principal and interest payments; current expected cash flows; whether the decline in fair value
appears to be issuer specific or, alternatively, a reflection of general market or industry conditions
(including, in the case of fixed maturities, the effect of changes in market interest rates); and the
Company's intent and ability to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to allow for a recovery in
fair value. For structured securities, such as mortgage-backed securities, an impairment loss is recognized
when there has been a decrease in expected cash flows and/or a decline in the security's fair value below
cost.

(G) Investment in American Independence Corp.

The Company's investment in AMIC is carried on the equity method, with the Company's share
of equity income or loss credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of Operations
with a corresponding change to the investment in AMIC. The investment in AMIC, including related
goodwill, is reviewed to determine whether an other-than-temporary impairment has occurred. If a decline
in fair value is judged by management to be other-than-temporary, a loss is recognized by a charge to the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. No such loss was recognized in 2008, 2007 or 2006.

(H) Other Investments

Partnership interests relate to limited investment partnerships that have relatively "market neutral"
arbitrage strategies, or strategies that are relatively insensitive to interest rates and insurance related
limited operating partnerships. All securities held by these partnerships are carried at fair value.  The
Company's partnership interests are carried on the equity method, which approximates the Company's
equity in the underlying net assets of the partnerships. Equity income or loss is credited or charged, as
appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Policy loans are stated at their aggregate unpaid balances.

(I) Deferred Acquisition Costs ("DAC")

Costs that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring insurance policies and investment type
contracts are deferred and recorded as deferred policy acquisition costs ("DAC").  These costs are
principally broker fees, agent commissions, and the purchase prices of acquired blocks of business. DAC
is amortized to expense and reported separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All DAC
within a particular product type is amortized on the same basis using the following methods:    

Life

For traditional life insurance and other premium paying policies accounted for under SFAS No.
60, "Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises" ("SFAS 60"), amortization of DAC is charged
to expense over the related premium revenue recognition period.  Assumptions used in the amortization of
DAC are determined based upon the conditions as of the date of policy issue or assumption and are not
generally revised during the life of the policy.  

For long duration type contracts accounted for under SFAS No. 97, "Accounting and Reporting
by Insurance Enterprises for Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Realized Gains and Losses from
the Sale of Investments" ("SFAS 97"), such as annuities and universal life business, amortization of DAC
is charged to expense over the life of the book of such contracts based on the present value of the
estimated gross profits ("EGPs") expected to be realized over the life of the book of contracts.  EGPs
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consist of margins based on expected mortality rates, persistency rates, interest rate spreads, and other
revenues and expenses. The Company regularly evaluates its EGPs to determine if actual experience or
other evidence suggests that earlier estimates should be revised. If the Company determines that the
current assumptions underlying the EGPs are no longer the best estimate for the future due to changes in
actual versus expected mortality rates, persistency rates,  interest rate spreads, or other revenues and
expenses,  the future EGPs are updated using the new assumptions and prospective unlocking occurs.
 These updated EGPs are utilized for future amortization calculations.   The total amortization recorded to
date is adjusted through a current charge or credit to the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In accordance with Statement of Position 05-1, "Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for
Deferred Acquisition Costs in Connection with Modifications or Exchanges of Insurance Contracts"
("SOP 05-1"), internal replacements of insurance and investment contracts other than those specifically
described in SFAS 97 will be accounted for as an extinguishment of the replaced contract resulting in a
release of the unamortized deferred acquisition costs, unearned revenue, and deferred sales inducements
associated with the replaced contract.

Health

For credit health insurance policies accounted for under SFAS No. 60, amortization of DAC is
charged to expense in proportion to premium revenue recognized.  

Deferred acquisition costs have been increased  by $11,340,000, $203,000 and $7,000 in 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively, representing the portion of unrealized losses on investment securities
available-for-sale that have been allocated to deferred acquisition costs on interest sensitive products
rather than to stockholders' equity as a component of other comprehensive income or loss.

(J) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment of $5,991,000 and $6,022,000 are included in other assets at December
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $9,325,000 and
$7,130,000, respectively. Improvements are capitalized while repair and maintenance costs are charged
to operations as incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment has been provided on the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements
has been provided on the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful
life of the asset.

(K) Insurance Reserves

The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses, where material, including legal, other fees, and costs not associated with specific
claims but related to the claims payment function), for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the
end of each accounting period.  These loss reserves are based on actuarial assumptions and are maintained
at levels that are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Many factors could
affect these reserves, including economic and social conditions, frequency and severity of claims, medical
trend resulting from the influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for
medical services, and changes in doctrines of legal liability and damage awards in litigation. Therefore,
the Company’s reserves are necessarily based on estimates, assumptions and analysis o f historical
experience. The Company’s results depend upon the variation between actual claims experience and the
assumptions used in determining reserves and pricing products. Reserve assumptions and estimates
require significant judgment and, therefore, are inherently uncertain. The Company cannot determine with
precision the ultimate amounts that will be paid for actual claims or the timing of those payments. The
Company's estimate of loss represents management's best estimate of the Company's liability at the
balance sheet date.
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Loss reserves differ for short-duration and long-duration insurance policies, including annuities.
Reserves are based on approved actuarial methods, but necessarily include assumptions about expenses,
mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and future yield on related investments.

All of the Company’s short-duration contracts are generated from its accident and health business,
and are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims,
including losses incurred for which claims have not been reported. Short-duration contract loss estimates
rely on actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for similar historical events.

Health

Medical Stop-Loss

Liabilities for insurance reserves on certain short-term medical coverages, such as medical stop-
loss, are computed using completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical
premium and claim data. Reserves for medical stop-loss insurance are more volatile in nature than those
for fully insured medical insurance.  This is primarily due to the excess nature of medical stop-loss, with
very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a
given group.  The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment
pattern of such claims.  Furthermore, these excess claims are highly sensitive to changes in factors such as
medical trend, provider contracts and medical treatment protocols, adding to the difficulty in predicting
claim values and estimating reserves.  Also, because medical stop-loss is in exc ess of an underlying
benefit plan, there is an additional layer of claim reporting and processing that can affect claim payment
patterns.  Finally, changes in the distribution of business by effective month can affect reserve estimates
due to the timing of claim occurrences and the time required to accumulate claims against the stop-loss
deductible.

The two “primary” or “key” assumptions underlying the calculation of loss reserves for Medical
Stop-Loss business are (i) projected Net Loss Ratio, and (ii) claim development patterns.  The projected
Net Loss Ratio is set at expected levels consistent with the underlying assumptions (“Projected Net Loss
Ratio”). Claim development patterns are set quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are based on
recent claim development history (“Claim Development Patterns”).  The Company uses the Projected Net
Loss Ratio to establish reserves until developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results and
it is feasible to set reserves based on Claim Development Patterns. The Company has concluded that a
reasonably likely change in the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption could have a material effect on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operati ons, or liquidity (“Material Effect”) but a reasonably
likely change in the Claim Development Pattern would not have a Material Effect.  

Projected Net Loss Ratio

Generally, during the first twelve months of an underwriting year, reserves for Medical Stop-Loss
are first set at the Projected Net Loss Ratio, which is set using assumptions developed using completed
prior experience trended forward. The Projected Net Loss Ratio is the Company’s best estimate of future
performance until such time as developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results.

Major factors that affect the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption in reserving for Medical Stop-
Loss relate to: (i) frequency and severity of claims; (ii) changes in medical trend resulting from the
influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, the impact
of new medical technology and changes in medical treatment protocols; and (iii) the adherence by the
MGUs that produce and administer this business to the Company’s underwriting guidelines.     
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Claim Development Patterns

Subsequent to the first twelve months of an underwriting year, the Company’s developing losses
provide a better indication of ultimate losses. At this point, claims have developed to a level where Claim
Development Patterns can be applied to generate reasonably reliable estimates of ultimate claim levels.
 Development factors based on historical patterns are applied to paid and reported claims to estimate fully
developed claims. Claim Development Patterns are reviewed quarterly as reserve estimates are developed
and are based on recent claim development history. The Company must determine whether changes in
development represent true indications of emerging experience or are simply due to random claim
fluctuations.

The Company also establishes its best estimates of claim development factors to be applied to
more developed treaty year experience.  While these factors are based on historical Claim Development
Patterns, actual claim development may vary from these estimates.

Predicting ultimate claims and estimating reserves in Medical Stop-Loss is more complex than
first dollar medical and disability business due to the “excess of loss” nature of these products with very
high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a given
group.  The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment pattern
of such claims.  Fluctuations in results for specific coverage are primarily due to the severity and
frequency of individual claims, whereas fluctuations in aggregate coverage are largely attributable to
frequency of underlying claims rather than severity.

Due to the short-term nature of Medical Stop-Loss, redundancies or deficiencies will typically
emerge during the course of the following year rather than over a number of years.  For Employer Stop-
Loss, as noted above, the Company typically maintains its reserves based on underlying assumptions until
it determines that an adjustment is appropriate based on emerging experience from all of its MGUs for
prior underwriting years.  Reserves for HMO Reinsurance and Provider Excess are adjusted on a policy
by policy basis.  Because of the small number of HMO Reinsurance and Provider Excess policies it
writes, the Company is able to evaluate each policy individually for potential liability by reviewing open
claims with each HMO or provider group and applying completion factors using historical data.

Fully Insured Health

Reserves for Fully Insured Health business are established to provide for the liability for incurred
but not paid claims.  Reserves are calculated using standard actuarial methods and practices. The
“primary” assumption in the determination of Fully Insured Health reserves is that historical Claim
Development Patterns are representative of future Claim Development Patterns. Factors which may affect
this assumption include changes in claim payment processing times and procedures, changes in time delay
in submission of claims, and the incidence of unusually large claims. Liabilities for fully insured medical
reserves and disability coverages are computed using completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios
derived from actual historical premium and claim data.  The reserving analysis includes a review of claim
processing statistical measures and large claim early notifications; the potential impact s of any changes in
these factors are not material. The delay in submission of claims tends to be stable over time and not
subject to significant volatility.

 
While these calculations are based on standard methodologies, they are estimates based on

historical patterns.  To the extent that actual claim payment patterns differ from historical patterns, such
estimated reserves may be redundant or inadequate.  The effects of such deviations are evaluated by
considering claim backlog statistics and reviewing the reasonableness of projected claim ratios.  Other
factors which may affect the accuracy of reserve estimates include the proportion of large claims which
may take longer to adjudicate, changes in billing patterns by providers and changes in claim management
practices such as hospital bill audits.
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Long Term Disability

The Company’s long term disability reserves are developed using actuarial principles and
assumptions that consider, among other things, future offsets and recoveries, elimination periods, interest
rates, probability of rehabilitation or mortality, incidence and termination rates based on the Company’s
experience.  The loss reserve is made up of case reserves, incurred but not reported reserves, reopen
reserves, and loss adjustment expense.  Incurred but not reported and reopen reserves are calculated by a
hind-sight study, which takes historical experience and develops the reserve as a percentage of premiums
from prior years.  

The two “primary” assumptions on which long term disability reserves are based are: (i)
morbidity levels; and (ii) recovery rates. If morbidity levels increase, for example due to an epidemic or a
recessionary environment, the Company would increase reserves because there would be more new
claims than expected.  In regard to the assumed recovery rate, if disabled lives recover more quickly than
anticipated then the existing claims reserves would be reduced; if less quickly, the existing claims
reserves would be increased.

Life

For traditional life insurance products, the Company computes insurance reserves primarily using
the net premium method based on anticipated investment yield, mortality, and withdrawals. These
methods are widely used in the life insurance industry to estimate the liabilities for insurance reserves.
Inherent in these calculations are management and actuarial judgments and estimates that could
significantly impact the ending reserve liabilities and, consequently, operating results.  Actual results may
differ, and these estimates are subject to interpretation and change.

Policyholder funds represent interest-bearing liabilities arising from the sale of products, such as
universal life, interest-sensitive life and annuities.  Policyholder funds are primarily comprised of deposits
received and interest credited to the benefit of the policyholder less surrenders and withdrawals, mortality
charges and administrative expenses.  

Interest Credited

Interest credited to policyholder funds represents interest accrued or paid on interest-sensitive life
policies and investment policies.  Amounts charged to operations (including interest credited and benefit
claims incurred in excess of related policyholder account balances) are reported as insurance benefits,
claims and reserves-life and annuity.  Credit rates for certain annuities and interest-sensitive life policies
are adjusted periodically by the Company to reflect current market conditions, subject to contractually
guaranteed minimum rates.

Management believes that the Company's methods of estimating the liabilities for insurance
reserves provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2008 and 2007. Changes in the
Company's reserve estimates are recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.

(L) Funds on Deposit

Funds received (net of mortality and expense charges) for certain long-duration contracts
(principally deferred annuities and universal life policies) are credited directly to a policyholder liability
account, funds on deposit. Withdrawals are recorded directly as a reduction of respective policyholders'
funds on deposit. Amounts on deposit were credited at annual rates ranging from 2.5% to 8.0% in 2008,
and 2.5% to 8.1% in 2007 and 2006. The average credited rate was 4.1% in 2008, 4.2% in 2007, and 4.6%
in 2006.
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(M) Insurance Premium Revenue Recognition and Policy Charges

Health

Premiums from short-duration medical insurance contracts are intended to cover expected claim
costs resulting from insured events that occur during a fixed period of short duration.  The Company has
the ability to not renew the contract or to revise the premium rates at the end of each annual contract
period to cover future insured events.  Insurance premiums from annual health contracts are collected
monthly and are recognized as revenue evenly as insurance protection is provided.

Premiums related to long-term and short-term disability contracts are recognized on a pro rata
basis over the applicable contract term.

Life

Traditional life insurance products consist principally of products with fixed and guaranteed
premiums and benefits, primarily term and whole life insurance products.  Revenue from these products
are recognized as premium when due.

Annuities and interest-sensitive life contracts, such as universal life and interest sensitive whole
life, are contracts whose terms are not fixed and guaranteed.  Premiums from these policies are reported
as funds on deposit.  Policy charges consist of fees assessed against the policyholder for cost of insurance
(mortality risk), policy administration and early surrender.  These revenues are recognized when assessed
against the policyholder account balance.

 
Policies that do not subject the Company to significant risk arising from mortality or morbidity

are considered investment contracts. Deposits received for such contracts are reported as other
policyholder funds.  Policy charges for investment contracts consist of fees assessed against the
policyholder account for maintenance, administration and surrender of the policy prior to contractually
specified dates, and are recognized when assessed against the policyholder account balance.

(N)  Participating Policies

Participating policies represent 11.8%, 9.4% and 9.0% of the individual life insurance in-force
and 4.7%, 3.1% and 3.5% of the net life and annuity premiums earned, as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and provide for the payment of dividends.  Dividends to
policyholders are determined annually and are payable only upon declaration by the Board of Directors of
the insurance companies. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the insurance companies' stockholders' equity
was not restricted because of participating policyholders' surplus.

(O) Deferred Income Taxes

The provision for deferred income taxes is based on the asset and liability method of accounting
for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory
tax rates to temporary differences between amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recognized for the portion of
deferred tax assets that, in management's judgment, is not likely to be realized.  The effect on deferred
income taxes of a change in tax rates or laws is recognized in income tax expense in the period that
includes the enactment date.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Interpretation No. 48,
"Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109"
("Interpretation 48"), which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
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statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The
recognition threshold is based on a determination of whether it is more likely than not that a tax position
will be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of the position. Only tax positions that
meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or continue to
be recognized upon adoption of FIN 48. Interpretation 48 also provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
Interpretation 48 was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The cumulative effect
of applying the provisions of Interpretation 48 was reported as an adjustment to retained earnings as of the
beginning of the year of adoption. The amount of the cumulative-effect adjustment was the difference
between the n et amount of assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet prior to the application of
Interpretation 48 and the net amount of assets and liabilities recognized as a result of applying
Interpretation 48. The adoption of Interpretation 48 on January 1, 2007 did not have a material impact on
the Company's consolidated financial statements and the Company believes there are no significant tax
positions that would require disclosure under Interpretation 48. Interest and penalties are classified as
other interest expense and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The Internal Revenue Service is currently auditing our 2003 and 2004
consolidated income tax returns. Management believes that it has made adequate provision for all income
tax uncertainties, such that the outcome of any unresolved issues or claims will not result in a material
change to our financial position or results of operations.

(P) Income Per Common Share

Included in the diluted earnings per share calculation for 2007 and 2006, respectively, are 115,000
and 295,000 incremental common shares from the assumed exercise of dilutive stock options and from
the assumed vesting of dilutive restricted stock, computed using the treasury stock method. For the year
ended December 31, 2008, such shares were deemed anti-dilutive.

(Q) Reinsurance

Amounts paid for or recoverable under reinsurance contracts are included in total assets or total
liabilities as due from reinsurers or due to reinsurers. The cost of reinsurance related to long-duration
contracts is accounted for over the life of the underlying reinsured policies using assumptions consistent
with those used to account for the underlying policies.

(R) Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation transactions are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment" ("SFAS 123R"). Compensation cost is measured based on
grant-date fair value and is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations over the requisite
service period (which is usually the vesting period). For share-based awards with only service conditions,
the Company recognizes the compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period
for the entire award.

(S) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill related to the Company's equity method investment in AMIC is considered in the
evaluation of whether there has been an other-than-temporary decline in value of the overall investment in
AMIC. All other goodwill carrying amounts are evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level, at
least annually. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, further evaluation is
required to determine if a write-down of goodwill is required. Other intangible assets are amortized to
expense over their estimated useful lives and are subject to impairment testing. Any impairment write-
down of goodwill and other intangible assets would be charged to expense. No impairment charge was
required in 2008, 2007 or 2006.
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At December 31, 2008, the Company’s market capitalization was less than its book value
indicating a potential impairment of goodwill.  As a result, the Company assessed the factors contributing
to the performance of IHC stock in 2008.  The Company does not believe that an impairment of goodwill
exists at this time.

 
(T) Derivative Instruments

The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," as amended ("SFAS 133"). Under SFAS
133, all derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, are required to be recorded in the
balance sheet as assets or liabilities at fair value. Hedge accounting is permitted only if certain criteria are
met, including a requirement that a highly effective relationship exist between the derivative instrument
and the hedged item, both at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis. Results of effective hedges
are recognized in other comprehensive income for cash flow hedges and in current earnings for fair value
hedges. The ineffective portions of hedge results are recognized in current earnings.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had an interest rate swap agreement that was
designated and effective as a cash flow hedge in accordance with SFAS 133. The objective of the swap is
to reduce the variability in cash flows associated with the re-pricing of interest rates on certain variable
rate debt. Changes in fair value of the swap are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss and are reclassified to net income as earnings are affected by the variability in the interest payments
on the hedged debt.

(U) Adoption of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108

In September 2006, the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 108, "Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements" (“SAB 108”).  SAB 108 requires quantification of
prior year immaterial uncorrected misstatements under both the "rollover approach" and the "iron curtain
approach." The "rollover approach" quantifies a misstatement based on the amount of the error originating
in the current year income statement, but ignores the effects of correcting the portion of the current year
balance sheet misstatement that originated in prior years. The "iron curtain approach" quantifies a
misstatement based on the effects of correcting the misstatement existing in the balance sheet at the end of
the current year, irrespective of th e misstatement's year(s) of origination. Prior to SAB 108, the Company
utilized the rollover approach when quantifying misstatements. The provisions of SAB 108 were applied
to financial statements for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006.

The Company previously reported actual premiums and related amounts from its Medical Stop-
Loss and Fully Insured Health lines of business using a consistent one and two month lag, respectively,
rather than through the end of the reporting period.  The resulting misstatement primarily arose over the
period from 2002 to 2005 when the Company experienced considerable growth in these lines of business.
 This misstatement was not material to the consolidated financial statements in any of the respective years
affected.

Under the rollover approach described above, management did not consider this item to be
material to the consolidated financial statements. However, under the dual approach required by SAB
108, this item was adjusted effective as of January 1, 2006.  The Company recognized an increase in due
and unpaid premiums of $12,987,000; an increase in insurance reserves – health of $9,069,000; an
increase in commissions payable of $3,060,000; an increase in income taxes payable of $300,000; and an
increase in retained earnings of $558,000. These amounts were recorded as adjustments of the January 1,
2006 opening balances for these accounts and the impact, net of tax, was reflected as a cumulative effect
adjustment to retained earnings.
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(V) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2008, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 08-7, "Accounting for Defensive Intangible
Assets," ("EITF No. 08-7").  EITF No. 08-7 applies to defensive intangible assets, which are acquired
intangible assets that the acquirer does not intend to actively use but intends to hold to prevent its
competitors from obtaining access to them.  As these assets are separately identifiable, EITF No. 08-7
requires an acquiring entity to account for defensive intangible assets as a separate unit of accounting.
 Defensive intangible assets should not be included as part of the cost of the acquirer's existing intangible
assets because the defensive intangible assets are separately identifiable.  Defensive intangible assets must
be recognized at fair value in accordance with SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 157.  EITF No. 08-7 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  The adoption of EITF No. 08-7 is not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2008, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 08-6, "Equity Method Investment
Accounting” (“EITF No. 08-6”).  EITF No. 08-6 requires that the cost basis of an equity method
investment be determined by using a cost-accumulation model, which would continue the practice of
including transaction costs in the cost of the investment and would exclude the value of contingent
consideration.  Equity method investments are subject to other-than-temporary impairment analysis,
however, an equity investor shall not separately test an investee’s underlying assets for impairment.  EITF
No. 08-6 also requires an equity investor to account for a share issuance by an investee as if the investor
had sold a proportionate share if its investment.  Any gain or loss to the investor resulting from an
investee’s share issuance shall be recognized in earnings.  EITF No. 08-6 is e ffective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008.  The adoption of EITF No. 08-6 is not expected to have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF No. 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instruments
Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF No. 03-6-1”).
 FSP EITF No. 03-6-1 addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are
participating securities prior to vesting and therefore need to be included in the earnings allocation in
calculating earnings per share under the two-class method described in SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per
Share”. FSP EITF No. 03-6-1 requires companies to treat unvested share-based payment awards that have
non-forfeitable rights to dividend or dividend equivalents as a separate class of securities in calculating
earnings per share.  FSP EITF No. 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008;
earlier application is not permitted. The adoption of FSP EITF No. 03-6-1 is n ot expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 163, "Accounting for Financial Guarantee Insurance
Contracts - An interpretation of FASB Statement No. 60" (“SFAS 163”). SFAS 163 requires that an
insurance enterprise recognize a claim liability prior to an event of default when there is evidence that
credit deterioration has occurred in an insured financial obligation.  It also clarifies how Statement 60
applies to financial guarantee insurance contracts, including the recognition and measurement to be used
to account for premium revenue and claim liabilities, and requires expanded disclosures about financial
guarantee insurance contracts.  It is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2008, except for some disclosures about the insurance enterprise's risk-management
activities. SFAS 163 requires that disclosures about the risk-management activities of the insurance
enterprise be effective for the first period beginning after issuance.  Except for those disclosures, earlier
application is not permitted.  The adoption of SFAS 163 is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible
Assets.” (“FSP FAS 142-3”).  FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factors that should be considered in developing
renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  FSP FAS 142-3 applies prospectively to
intangible assets that are acquired, individually or with a group of other assets, after the effective date in
either a business combination or asset acquisition.  FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early adoption is prohibited. The adoption of FSP FAS 142-3 is not expected to have a material effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“SFAS 161”).  SFAS 161 expands the
current disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. Entities are required to
provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how
derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under FASB Statement 133 and its
related interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.  In addition, SFAS 161 requires disclosure of
fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format as well as cross-
referencing within the footnotes to allow users of financial statements to locate impo rtant information
about derivative instruments.  SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and
interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged. SFAS 161
encourages, but does not require, comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The
adoption of SFAS 161 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP on SFAS No. 140-3, “Accounting for Transfers of
Financial Assets and Repurchase Financing Transactions” (“FSP SFAS 140-3”). The objective of FSP
SFAS 140-3 is to provide guidance on accounting for a transfer of a financial asset and a repurchase
financing.  FSP SFAS 140-3 presumes that an initial transfer of a financial asset and a repurchase
financing are considered part of the same arrangement (linked transaction) under SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities” ("SFAS
140"). However, if certain criteria are met, the initial transfer and repurchase financing shall not be
evaluated as a linked transaction and shall be evaluated separately under SFAS No. 140.  FSP SFAS 140-3
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after Nove mber 15, 2008, and
interim periods within these fiscal years. Earlier application is not permitted. The adoption of FSP SFAS
140-3 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations”
(“SFAS 141(R)”) and SFAS No. 160, “Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements”,
an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 160”). These standards aim to improve, simplify, and converge
internationally the accounting for business combinations and the reporting of non-controlling interests in
consolidated financial statements. SFAS 141(R) will change how business acquisitions are accounted for
and will impact financial statements both on the acquisition date and in subsequent periods.  SFAS 160
will change the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which will be re-characterized as non-
controlling interests and classified as a component of equity. SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160 are effective for
both public and private companies for fiscal years beginning on or afte r December 15, 2008.  SFAS
141(R) will be applied prospectively. SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and
disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All other requirements of SFAS 160 will be
applied prospectively.  Early adoption is prohibited for both standards.  The adoption of SFAS 141(R) and
SFAS 160 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In January 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. EITF 99-20-1, "Amendments to the Impairment
Guidance of EITF Issue No. 99-20" ("FSP EITF 99-20-1"). FSP EITF 99-20-1 aligns the impairment
guidance in EITF Issue No. 99-20, "Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased
Beneficial Interests and Beneficial Interests That Continue to be Held by a Transferor in Securitized
Financial Assets," with that in SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities," and other related guidance. The adoption of FSP EITF 99-20-1 did not have a material effect
on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8, “Disclosures by Public
Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities”
(“FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8”).  This FSP amends SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”, and requires public entities to provide
additional disclosures about transfers of financial assets.  It also amends FASB Interpretation No. 46
(revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, requiring public enterprises,
including sponsors that have a variable interest in a variable interest entity, to provide additional
disclosures about their involvement with variable interest entities.  FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 shall
be effective for annual or interim periods endi ng after December 15, 2008.  The adoption of FSP FAS
140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4, "Disclosures about Credit
Derivatives and Certain Guarantees: An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 and Interpretation No.
45; and Clarification of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 161" ("FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-
4"). FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS 133 for sellers of credit
derivatives and hybrid instruments that have embedded credit derivatives to include (a) the nature of the
credit derivative, including the approximate term, the reasons for entering into the credit derivative and
the events or circumstances that would require the seller to perform under the credit derivative and the
current status of the payment/performance risk of the credit derivative, (b) the maximum potential amount
of future payments (undiscounted) the seller could be required to make under the credit derivative, (c) the
fair value of the credit derivative, and (d) the nature of (1) any recourse provisions that would enable the
seller to recover from third parties any of the amounts paid under the credit derivative, and (2) any assets
held either as collateral or by third parties that, upon the occurrence of any specified triggering event or
condition, the seller can obtain and liquidate to recover all or a portion of the amounts paid under the
credit derivative. With respect to hybrid instruments that have an embedded credit derivative, the seller
shall disclose the required information for the entire hybrid instrument, not just the embedded derivative.
Disclosure requirements of Interpretation 45 were expanded to include the current status of the
payment/performance risk of the guarantee. FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 shall be effective for annual or
interim periods ending after November 15, 2008. FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 encourages, but does not
require, comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The adoption of FSP FAS 133-1
and FIN 45-4 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles" (“SFAS 162”). SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework
for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental
entities that are presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States.  It is effective 60 days following the Securities and Exchange Commission’s approval of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, "The Meaning of Present Fairly
in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles".  The adoption of SFAS 162 did not have
a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities - Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" ("SFAS 159").  SFAS
159 would create a fair value option of accounting for qualifying financial assets and liabilities under
which an irrevocable election could be made at inception to measure such assets and liabilities initially
and subsequently at fair value, with all changes in fair value reported in earnings.  SFAS 159 is effective
as of the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007.  The adoption of SFAS 159
did not impact the Company's consolidated financial statements, as no items were initially elected for fair
value measurement.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about
fair value measurements.  This Statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or
permit fair value measurements. FSP FAS 157-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157", amends
SFAS 157 to defer its effective date to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and for interim
periods within those fiscal years. The delayed effective date applies to all non-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial
statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). FSP FAS 157-3, "Determining the Fair Value of a
Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active" clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in a
market that is not active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations in determining the fair
value of a financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active. Revisions resulting from a
change in the valuation technique or its application shall be accounted for as a change in accounting
estimate. The adoption of SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities did not have a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 2. American Independence Corp.

AMIC is an insurance holding company engaged in the insurance and reinsurance business as a
result of its acquisition of First Standard Holdings Corp. ("FSHC") from the Company in November 2002.
AMIC does business with the Insurance Group, including reinsurance treaties under which, in 2008,
Standard Security Life and Madison National Life ceded to Independence American an average of 23% of
their medical stop-loss business, 10% of certain of their fully insured health business and 20% of their
New York Statutory Disability Business.  IHC owned 49.7% and 48% of AMIC's outstanding common
stock at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, which was purchased in various transactions from
2002 through 2008. In January 2008, the Company purchased 165,656 shares of AMIC's common stock at
$8.46 per share and recorded negative goodwill of $248,000. IHC accounts for its investment in AMIC
under the equity method. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, IHC's investment in AMIC had a total
carrying value of $45,439,000 and $44,945,000, respectively, including goodwill of $4,222,000 and
$4,470,000, respectively. This goodwill represents the excess of IHC's cost over the underlying equity in
AMIC's net assets at the respective purchase dates.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, IHC recorded $480,000, $546,000, and
$699,000, respectively, of equity income from its investment in AMIC representing IHC's proportionate
share of income based on its ownership interests during the respective years. AMIC paid no dividends on
its common stock in 2008, 2007 and 2006.

The fair value of the AMIC shares owned by IHC was approximately $11,541,000 at December
31, 2008, based on the closing market price of AMIC's common stock.
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The condensed balance sheets of AMIC at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

   2008   2007
   (In thousands)
       
Investments, at fair value  $ 52,847  $ 60,148
Cash and restricted cash   11,381   21,485
Goodwill   23,561   20,485
Deferred tax asset, net   12,584   12,455
Other assets   30,252   27,542
       
 Total assets  $ 130,625  $ 142,115
       
Insurance liabilities  $ 39,740  $ 47,512
Other liabilities   7,524   9,874
       
 Total liabilities   47,264   57,386
       
Minority interest   429   52
       
 Total stockholders' equity   82,932   84,677
        
 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 130,625  $ 142,115

AMIC's condensed operating results for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are
as follows:

   2008   2007  2006
   (In thousands)
         
Revenues  $ 113,312  $ 119,096 $ 81,485 
Expenses   111,641   117,267  79,017 
         
Income from continuing operations before         
 income taxes   1,671   1,829  2,468 
Provision for income taxes   631   691  960 
         
Income from continuing operations   1,040   1,138  1,508 
Loss from discontinued operations   (75)   -  (54)
         
 Net income  $ 965  $ 1,138 $ 1,454 

 Net income per common share:         
  Basic  $ .11  $ .13 $ .17
  Diluted  $ .11  $ .13 $ .17

IHC and its subsidiaries earned $805,000, $776,000 and $622,000 for the years ended December
31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, from service agreements with AMIC and its subsidiaries. These
are reimbursements to IHC and its subsidiaries, at agreed upon rates including an overhead factor, for
management services provided by IHC and its subsidiaries, including accounting, legal, marketing,
compliance, underwriting and claims.
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The Company ceded premiums to AMIC of $57,031,000, $68,143,000 and $56,854,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.  Benefits to policyholders on business
ceded to AMIC were $39,670,000 in 2008, $50,128,000 in 2007, and $39,611,000 in 2006.  Additionally,
AMIC subsidiaries market, underwrite and provide administrative services (including premium collection,
medical management and claims adjudication) for a substantial portion of the Medical Stop-Loss business
written by the insurance subsidiaries of IHC. IHC recorded gross premiums of $76,835,000, $85,749,000
and $90,518,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and net
commission expense of $3,632,000, $4,174,000 and $4,962,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively, for these services. The Company also contracts for several types of
insurance coverage (e.g. directors and o fficers and professional liability converge) jointly with AMIC.
The cost of this coverage is allocated between the Company and AMIC according to the type of risk, and
IHC’s portion is recorded in Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.

Included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively, are the following balances arising from transactions in the normal course of business with
AMIC and its subsidiaries: Due from reinsurers - $18,394,000 and $19,263,000; Other assets - $3,009,000
and $6,592,000; and Other liabilities - $404,000 and $242,000.

Note 3. Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

Securities purchased under agreements to resell are utilized to invest excess funds on a short-term
basis. At December 31, 2008, the Company had $60,823,000 in resale agreements outstanding, all of
which settled on January 2, 2009 and were subsequently reinvested. The Company maintains control of
securities purchased under resale agreements, values the collateral on a daily basis and obtains additional
collateral, if necessary, to protect the Company in the event of default by the counterparties.

Note 4. Investment Securities

The cost (amortized cost with respect to certain fixed maturities), gross unrealized gains, gross
unrealized losses and fair value of investment securities are as follows:

  December 31, 2008
    GROSS  GROSS   
  AMORTIZED  UNREALIZED  UNREALISED  FAIR
  COST  GAINS  LOSSES  VALUE
  (In thousands)
FIXED MATURITIES         
 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:         
 Corporate securities $ 212,620 $ 895 $ (32,876) $ 180,639
 CMOs (1)  134,068  711  (13,466)  121,313
 U.S. Government obligations  6,402  199  -  6,601
 Agency MBS (2)  44,733  515  -  45,248
 GSEs (3)  9,815  -  (242)  9,573
 States and political subdivisions  283,237  3  (38,127)  245,113
          
 Total fixed maturities $ 690,875 $ 2,323 $ (84,711) $ 608,487

         
EQUITY SECURITIES         
 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:         
 Preferred stocks $ 68,538 $ - $ (14,531) $ 54,007
         
 Total equity securities $ 68,538 $ - $ (14,531) $ 54,007
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  December 31, 2007
    GROSS  GROSS   
  AMORTIZED  UNREALIZED  UNREALIZED  FAIR
  COST  GAINS  LOSSES  VALUE
  (In thousands)
FIXED MATURITIES         
 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:         
 Corporate securities $ 273,186 $ 623 $ (10,609) $ 263,200
 CMOs (1)  166,449  333  (4,501)  162,281
 U.S. Government obligations  6,284  146  -  6,430
 Agency MBS (2)  40,039  293  (202)  40,130
 GSEs (3)  86,741  203  (1,059)  85,885
 States and political subdivisions  54,088  453  (561)  53,980
          
 Total fixed maturities $ 626,787 $ 2,051 $ (16,932) $ 611,906

         
EQUITY SECURITIES         
 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:         
 Common stocks $ 19,479 $ 416 $ (1,567) $ 18,328
 Preferred stocks  91,883  204  (11,919)  80,168
         
 Total equity securities $ 111,362 $ 620 $ (13,486) $ 98,496

(1) Collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”).
(2) Mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”).
(3) Government-sponsored enterprises (“GSEs”) which are the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Federal

National Mortgage Association and Federal Home Loan Banks. GSEs are private enterprises established and chartered
by the Federal Government.

Government-sponsored enterprise securities consist of Federal National Mortgage Association
mortgage-backed securities and other fixed maturity securities issued by the Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation and the Federal National Mortgage Association.

 The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities at December 31, 2008, by contractual
maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. The average
life of mortgage-backed securities is affected by prepayments on the underlying loans and, therefore, is
materially shorter than the original stated maturity.

        % OF
   AMORTIZED   FAIR  TOTAL FAIR
   COST   VALUE  VALUE
   (In thousands)   
         
Due in one year or less  $ 9,994  $ 9,500  1.6%
Due after one year through five years   44,507   38,517  6.3%
Due after five years through ten years   80,673   68,651  11.3%
Due after ten years   370,090   318,625  52.4%
         
   505,264   435,293  71.6%
         
CMO and MBS         
 15 year   135,369   122,588  20.1%
 20 year   1,078   1,046  .2%
 30 year   49,164   49,560  8.1%
         
  $ 690,875  $ 608,487  100.0%
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 The following table summarizes, for all securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively, the aggregate fair value and gross unrealized loss by length of time those
securities had continuously been in an unrealized loss position:

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or Longer  Total

  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized

December 31, 2008  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses

  (In thousands)

Corporate securities $ 44,316 $ 6,681 $ 117,035 $ 26,195 $ 161,351 $ 32,876
CMOs  12,566  2,853  38,962  10,613  51,528  13,466

GSE  4,311  119  5,262  123  9,573  242

States and political             
 subdivisions  218,106  36,330  11,911  1,797  230,017  38,127

Total fixed maturities  279,299  45,983  173,170  38,728  452,469  84,711
Preferred stocks-perpetual  33,231  12,003  4,223  486  37,454  12,489

Preferred stocks-with maturities  8,616  1,377  7,937  665  16,553  2,042

Total temporarily impaired             
 securities $ 321,146 $ 59,363 $ 185,330 $ 39,879 $ 506,476 $ 99,242

             

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or Longer  Total

  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized

December 31, 2007  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses

  (In thousands)

Corporate securities $ 35,545 $ 1,244 $ 165,054 $ 9,365 $ 200,599 $ 10,609 
CMOs  55,745  1,795  81,953  2,706  137,698  4,501 

Agency MBS  -  -  16,441  202  16,441  202 

GSE  1,402  20  41,621  1,039  43,023  1,059 

States and political             
 subdivisions  16,126  427  5,571  134  21,697  561 

Total fixed maturities  108,818  3,486  310,640  13,446  419,458  16,932 
Common stocks  10,177  1,484  500  83  10,677  1,567 

Preferred stocks-perpetual  42,816  9,193  3,370  346  46,186  9,539 

Preferred stocks-with maturities  19,382  1,665  3,597  715  22,979  2,380 

Total temporarily impaired             
 securities $ 181,193 $ 15,828 $ 318,107 $ 14,590 $ 499,300 $ 30,418 

Substantially all of the unrealized losses at December 31, 2008 and 2007 relate to investment
grade securities and are attributable to changes in market interest rates and general disruptions in the
credit market subsequent to purchase. The unrealized loss on corporate securities and state and political
subdivisions is due to wider spreads. Spreads have widened as investors shifted funds to US Treasuries in
response to the current market turmoil. At December 31, 2008, the Company had $28,758,000 invested in
whole loan CMOs backed by Alt-A mortgages. Of this amount, 39.8% were in CMOs that originated in
2005 or earlier and 60.2% were in CMOs that originated in 2006. The Company’s mortgage security
portfolio has no direct exposure to sub-prime mortgages. The decline in unrealized losses for the equity
securities was primarily due to wider spreads for preferred stocks issued by financial in stitutions
following the disruption in credit markets in late 2007 and continuing in 2008. Some of these financial
institutions have exposure to sub-prime mortgages.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, a total of 110 and 73 securities, respectively, were in a
continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months; 64 and 82 securities, respectively, had
continuous unrealized losses for 12 months or longer. The Company has only one non-performing fixed
maturity investment at December 31, 2008 with a carrying value of $.7 million, or .1% of the total
carrying value of fixed maturities. Based on management's review of the portfolio, which considered the
various factors described in Note 1 (F) (vi), including management's expectation for recovery in fair value
and the Company's intent and ability to hold securities for a period of time sufficient to allow for such
recovery in fair value, the Company recorded losses for other-than-temporary impairments of
$38,247,000, $385,000 and $91,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The losses recorded for other-than temporary impairments for the year ended December 31, 2008
represent losses on preferred stocks of financial institutions and fixed maturities (primarily Alt-A
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mortgage securities) that the Company determined to be other-than-temporary primarily due to the
severity of the decrease in fair value and length of time that these securities were in a loss position.
Further deterioration in credit quality of the companies backing the securities, further deterioration in the
condition of the financial services industry, a continuation of the current imbalances in liquidity that exist
in the marketplace, a continuation or worsening of the current economic recession, or additional declines
in real estate values may further affect the fair value of these securities and increase the potential that
certain unrealized losses be designated as other-than-temporary in future periods and the Company may
incur additional write-downs.

Note 5. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments

The adoption of SFAS 157 did not have a material impact on our financial statements.  SFAS 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  SFAS 157 applies whenever other
standards require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value but does not expand the use of
fair value in any new circumstances.  In this standard, the FASB clarifies the principle that fair value
should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability. In
support of this principle, SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used
to develop those assumptions.

The valuation techniques required by SFAS 157 are based upon observable and unobservable
inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable
inputs reflect our market expectations. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose
inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

Level 3 - Instruments where significant value drivers are unobservable.

When available, we use quoted market prices to determine fair value and classify such items in
Level 1. In some cases, we use quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets and/or
model-derived valuations where inputs are observable in active markets and classify such items in Level
2.  When there are limited or inactive trading markets, we use industry–standard pricing methodologies,
including discounted cash flow models, whose inputs are based on management assumptions and
available current market information.  These items are classified in Level 3.  Further, we retain
independent pricing vendors to assist in valuing certain instruments.

  
The following section describes the valuation methodologies we use to measure different

financial instruments at fair value.
  
Investments in fixed maturities and equity securities:
  
Investments included in Level 1 are equities with quoted market prices. Level 2 is primarily

comprised of our portfolio of government securities, agency mortgage-backed securities, corporate fixed
income securities, collateralized mortgage obligations, municipals, GSEs and certain preferred stocks that
were priced with observable market inputs.  Level 3 securities consist of CMO securities, primarily Alt-A
mortgages.
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Other:
  
The financial liability included in Level 2 consists of an interest rate swap on IHC debt.  It is

valued using market observable inputs including market price, interest rate, and volatility within a Black
Scholes model.

The following table presents our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis at December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

            
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total
            
FINANCIAL ASSETS:            
Investment securities held for sale:            
 Fixed maturities $ -  $ 583,155  $ 25,332  $ 608,487
 Equity securities  51,851   2,156   -   54,007
            
Total $ 51,851  $ 585,311  $ 25,332  $ 662,494
            
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:            
 Interest rate swap $ -  $ 260  $ -  $ 260
             

Inputs for certain fixed maturity securities that were observable during the second and third
quarters of 2008 were not unobservable at December 31, 2008 as a result of limited or inactive markets.
These securities were transferred out of Level 2 and into the Level 3 category during 2008. No securities
were sold or transferred out of the Level 3 category in 2008. Changes in the carrying value of Level 3
financial assets and liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2008 are summarized as follows (in
thousands):

  Fixed
  Maturities
   
Balance at beginning of year $ - 
   
Transfers into Level 3  30,603 
   
Net realized investment gains (losses) included in earnings:   
 Net realized investment gains from repayments of fixed maturities  45 
 Other-than-temporary impairments  (7,014)
  (6,969)
   
Net unrealized gains (losses) included in accumulated other comprehensive loss:   
 Net unrealized losses  (5,187)
 Reclassification of unrealized losses deemed to be other-than-temporary to   
 net realized losses included in earnings  7,014 
  1,827 
   
Repayments of fixed maturities  (129)
   
Balance at end of year $ 25,332 
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The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial

instruments not disclosed elsewhere in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements:

(A) Policy Loans

The fair value of policy loans is estimated by projecting aggregate loan cash flows to the end of
the expected lifetime period of the life insurance business at the average policy loan rates, and discounting
them at a current market interest rate.

(B) Funds on Deposit
The Company has two types of funds on deposit. The first type is credited with a current market

interest rate, resulting in a fair value which approximates the carrying amount. The second type carries
fixed interest rates which are higher than current market interest rates. The fair value of these deposits
was estimated by discounting the payments using current market interest rates. The Company's universal
life policies are also credited with current market interest rates, resulting in a fair value which
approximates the carrying amount.

(C) Debt

The fair value of debt with variable interest rates approximates its carrying amount. The fair value
of fixed rate debt is estimated by discounting the cash flows using current market interest rates.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments not disclosed elsewhere in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements are as follows:

   DECEMBER 31, 2008  DECEMBER 31, 2007
   CARRYING   FAIR  CARRYING   FAIR
   AMOUNT   VALUE  AMOUNT   VALUE
                              (In thousands)  
FINANCIAL ASSETS:            
 Policy loans  $ 24,947  $ 32,914 $ 25,113  $ 29,443
            
FINANCIAL            
 LIABILITIES:            
 Funds on deposit  $ 411,188  $ 407,767 $ 383,711  $ 385,480
 Debt and junior            
 subordinated debt            
 securities   48,146   48,620  50,646   50,746
 Other   260   260  922   922
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Note 6. Net Investment Income

Major categories of net investment income for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006 are summarized as follows:

  2008   2007   2006
  (In thousands)
         
Fixed maturities $ 38,248  $ 38,531  $ 37,567 
Equity securities  4,990   4,586   3,772 
Short-term investments  1,278   3,981   4,326 
Policy loans  1,836   1,740   1,757 
Equity income (loss):         
 Investment partnerships  (3,046)   43   2,237 
 Operating partnerships  663   425   819 
Other  617   200   529 
Investment interest expense  (99)   (2,283)   (2,369)
Investment expenses  (272)   (172)   (186)
         
 subtotal  44,215   47,051   48,452 
         
Investment income allocated to          
 discontinued operations  (171)   (929)   (776)
         
Net investment income $ 44,044  $ 46,122  $ 47,676 

Note 7. Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment gains (losses) for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are
as follows:

  2008   2007   2006
  (In thousands)
Net realized investment gains (losses):         
 Fixed maturities $ 1,008  $ (193)  $ (4,319)
 Common stocks  (7,724)   1,437   1,900 
 Preferred stocks  718   346   457 
   (5,998)   1,590   (1,962)
         
Other-than-temporary impairments:         
 Fixed maturities  (18,123)   -   -
 Common stocks  -   (385)   (91)
 Preferred stocks  (20,124)   -   -
   (38,247)   (385)   (91)
         
Sale of other investment  -   -   1,581 
Sales of trading securities  493   715   850 
IHC stock puts/call and other gains (losses)  (137)   (662)   247 
Other trading account losses, net  (6,759)   -   - 
         
Net realized investment gains (losses) $ (50,648)  $ 1,258  $ 625 

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the company realized gross gains of
$7,232,000, $5,374,000 and 6,475,000, respectively, and gross losses of $13,230,000, $3,784,000 and
$8,437,000, respectively, on sales of available-for-sale securities.
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In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company became aware of certain activities engaged in by the
non-affiliate broker-dealer that managed the trading accounts of the Company. At the December 31, 2007,
the consolidated balance sheet includes the Company’s direct and indirect investments of $8,533,000 and
$1,026,000, respectively, in these accounts. Net realized investment gains and losses reported in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations for 2008, 2007 and 2006 include $493,000,
$715,000 and $850,000, respectively, of income related to direct investments in these trading accounts.
Net investment income reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations includes
$217,000, $529,000 and $575,000 of income (loss) related to direct and indirect investments in these
trading accounts.  The broker-dealer is now in bankruptcy.  The Company intends to file a claim and
believes it will l ikely recover the $500,000 maximum amount available from the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (“SIPC”). Accordingly, the Company recorded a pre-tax loss of $6,759,000,
included in net realized gains and losses on the consolidated statement of operations, in the fourth quarter
of 2008 consisting of: (i) the carrying amounts of the Company's direct investments in these trading
accounts amounting to $5,857,000 at the time of the loss; (ii) $1,402,000 of profits withdrawn in 2008
that may be subject to return; net of (iii) $500,000 of expected recoveries from SIPC. The write-down in
value in the fourth quarter of 2008 of the Company's indirect investments in these accounts at the time of
the loss, amounting to $235,000, is included in net investment income on the consolidated statement of
operations. While the Company may be subject to legal claims in this matter, the ultimate resolution of
any such claims would not be material to its financial condition.

Note 8. Other Investments

Other investments consist of the following at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

   2008   2007
   (In thousands)
       
Policy loans  $ 24,947  $ 25,113 
Investment partnership interests   5,821   10,868 
Operating partnership interests   5,810   5,650 
Investment in trust subsidiaries   1,146   1,146 
Other   -   122 
       
  $ 37,724  $ 42,899 

The Company had invested a total of $3,345,000 and $5,703,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively, in a domestic feeder fund of Dolphin Limited Partnership III, L.P. (“Dolphin III").  Dolphin
III operates as a private investment partnership to act as the “master fund” in a master-feeder fund
structure.  Dolphin III generally seeks significant investment stakes in publicly traded North American
companies with a market value of equity plus debt of approximately $2 billion or less. The Company's net
investment income (loss) from Dolphin III for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$(2,358,000), $(632,000) and $335,000, respectively.

Note 9. Acquisitions

The Company completed the following acquisitions in 2008, 2007, and 2006. The results of
operations of the acquired companies are included in IHC's Consolidated Financial Statements from the
respective acquisition dates. None of the goodwill recognized in these acquisitions is deductible for
income tax purposes. Pro forma results of operations for 2008, 2007 and 2006, as though these
acquisitions had been completed at the beginning of those years, have not been presented since the effect
of the acquisitions was not material.
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(A)  Majestic Underwriters LLC

 Effective September 30, 2007, the Company purchased a 10.3% interest in Majestic pursuant to
terms set forth in the limited liability company agreement Majestic, thereby increasing its controlling
interest in the medical stop-loss MGU at that time to 62.3%. The interest was purchased from a senior
officer of Majestic for a total purchase price of $649,000 and was settled on July 2, 2007. The Company
recorded goodwill of $521,000 and other intangible assets of $62,000 for fair value of broker
relationships, which is being amortized over 10 years.

On April 1, 2008 the Company purchased an additional 14.7% interest in Majestic Underwriters
LLC (“Majestic”) pursuant to terms set forth in the limited liability company agreement of Majestic,
thereby increasing its controlling interest in the medical stop-loss MGU to 77%. The interest was
purchased from a senior officer of Majestic for a total purchase price of $998,000. The Company recorded
goodwill of $884,000 and other intangible assets of $88,000 for the fair value of broker relationships,
which is being amortized over 10 years.

(B)  CA Marketing and Management Services, LLC.

In January 2007, IHC Health Holdings acquired 100% of the outstanding membership interest in
CA Marketing and Management Services, LLC (“CAM”) for total purchase price of $3,500,000.
Immediately thereafter, CAM was merged into IHC Health Solutions, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of
IHC Health Holdings. The company recorded goodwill of $640,000 and other intangible assets of
$2,860,000 primarily for the fair value of agent and management services relationships, which is being
amortized over weighted average period of 9.06 years. CAM was previously 100% owned by a senior
officer of IHC. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of IHC unanimously approved the
transaction, and upon recommendation by the Audit Committee, it was unanimously approved by the
Board of Directors.

(C) Actuarial Management Corporation

Effective April 2, 2007, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of capital stock of
AMC for a total purchase price of $5,000,000. The Company recorded goodwill of $4,324,000 and other
intangible assets of $800,000, primarily for the fair value of customer relationships, which is being
amortized over a weighted average period of 5.7 years. AMC is currently responsible for all actuarial
aspects of the Company’s fully insured health business. AMC was previously owned by an individual
who became a senior officer of IHC prior to the acquisition.

(D) Insurers Administrative Corporation

In January 2006, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement to purchase all of the
voting and non-voting shares of the common stock of IAC and Interlock Corporation for a total purchase
price of $21,360,000 in cash and 446,663 shares of IHC common stock, which were issued at a value of
$21.54 per share or $9,622,000. The Company recorded goodwill of $25,851,000 and other intangible
assets consisting of $7,000,000 for the value of agent relationships and $1,800,000 for the value of
computer software.  The relationship intangible and the capitalized software are being amortized over
periods of 13 years and 10.3 years, respectively (a weighted-average period of 12.4 years).  Prior to
entering into this agreement, IAC owned the minority interest in IHC Health Holdings, formerly Strategic
Health Associates, Inc., and administered IHC’s block of fully insured group health insurance.  

IAC, which is based in Phoenix, Arizona, is a leading administrator, manager and distributor of
Consumer Driven Health Plans (“CDHPs”). It currently administers individual and group health and life
premiums and premium-equivalents for multiple insurers, including the short-term medical (“STM”)
business it manages for Health Plan Administrators, Inc. (“HPA”). In combination with IHC’s other
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subsidiaries engaged in the fully insured business, IAC administers, manages and distributes a full range
of health products, including CDHPs, short-term medical, limited medical, dental and vision.

IHC issued a stock put on 194,443 of the IHC common shares issued in the acquisition, which
vested on January 31, 2007, at a price of $17.00 per share. The put was recorded at a fair value of
$228,000 at the acquisition date. The 183,333 shares of IHC common stock that remained subject to the
put as of December 31, 2007 were exercised during 2008. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006, IHC recorded a gain (loss) of  $(38,000), $(683,000) and $114,000, respectively, in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations, representing the net change in fair value of the IHC stock put.

(E) CA Insurance Services, LLC

On March 1, 2006, IHC acquired the remaining 55% membership interest in CA Insurance
Services, LLC by merging it into CAIS, a newly created and wholly owned direct subsidiary of IHC.
  The 55% interest was acquired for 46,250 shares of IHC common stock, which were issued at a value of
$22.87 per share or $1,058,000.  The Company recorded goodwill of $1,163,000 and an intangible asset
of $370,000 for the value of agent relationships in connection with the acquisition.  The relationship
intangible is being amortized over a period of nine years.  

On March 31, 2006, CAIS acquired a marketing organization, including key management and
health insurance sales staff, which controlled a block of approximately $50 million of fully insured group
major medical business (including CDHPs) for $750,000, which was recorded as an intangible asset.  This
acquired block of group major medical business began to be transitioned to Madison National Life
effective August 1, 2006. On January 1, 2008, CAIS was merged into IHC Health Solutions.

Note 10. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment are as follows for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:
   2008   2007   2006
   (In thousands)
          
Balance at beginning of year  $ 51,695  $ 46,210  $ 15,717 
Medical Stop-Loss:          
    Acquisition of AMIC shares   (248)   -   - 
    Acquisition of Majestic   884   521   - 
Fully Insured:          
 Acquisition of CAM   -   640   - 
 Acquisition of AMC   -   4,324   - 
 Acquisition of IAC   -   -   25,851 
 Acquisition of CAIS, and other additions   -   -   2,802 
 IHC Health Holdings (minority interest)   -   -   1,840 
          
Balance at end of year  $ 52,331  $ 51,695  $ 46,210 

   See Note 21 for goodwill carrying amounts by segment as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.
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 As required by SFAS 142, goodwill impairment tests must be performed annually.  Additionally,
SFAS 142 states that goodwill shall be tested for impairment between annual tests if an event or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its
carrying amount. The Company utilized a discounted cash flow model, which includes residual value, to
determine the fair value of the reporting units. The Company performed its annual tests at December 31,
2008 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s market capitalization was less than its book value
indicating a potential impairment of goodwill.  As a result, the Company assessed the factors contributing
to the performance of IHC stock in 2008, and concluded that the market capitalization does not represent
the fair value of the Company.  The Company noted several factors that have led to a difference between
the market capitalization and the fair value of the Company, including (i) the Company’s stock is thinly
traded and a sale of even a small number of shares can have a large percentage impact on the price of the
stock, (ii) Geneve Corporation and insiders own approximately 58% of the outstanding shares, which has
had a significant adverse impact on the number of shares available for sale and therefore the trading
potential of IHC stock, (iii) the general lack of confidence in equity securities, which has resulted in a
flight to US Treasury securities and other investments perceived to be of a higher quality, (iv) both
financial institutions and the insurance industry as a whole has seen similar drops in share prices,
particularly in the fourth quarter of 2008 as concerns over the effects of the volatile equity and bond
markets on insurance company’s investment portfolios are translating into lower share prices. The
Company will continue to monitor IHC’s book value against market capitalization to determine whether
an interim test of goodwill is warranted. If we experience a sustained decline in our results of operations
and cash flows, or other indicators of impairment exist, we may incur a material non-cash charge to
earnings relating to impairment of our goodwill, which could have a material adverse effect on our
results.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had other intangible assets of $15,308,000 and
$17,584,000, respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $9,329,000 and $6,448,000, respectively,
which are included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These intangible assets principally
represent the estimated fair value of acquired agent and broker relationships. In both 2008 and 2007,
$477,000 of other intangible assets had an indefinite life and is not subject to amortization.

Amortization expense on other intangible assets was $2,881,000, $3,107,000 and $1,726,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for
each of the next five years is as follows:

    Amortization
 Year   Expense
 (In thousands)
     
 2009  $ 3,000
 2010   2,102
 2011   1,993
 2012   1,745
 2013   1,571
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Note 11. Sale of Credit Life and Disability Segment

The Company sold its credit life and disability segment by entering into a 100% coinsurance
agreement with an unaffiliated insurer effective December 31, 2007.  The transaction closed in February
2008 with an initial payment of $10,940,000, representing the net statutory unearned premium reserve as
of December 31, 2007 less a ceding fee of $8,820,000. In accordance with the terms of such coinsurance
agreement, the Company continued to administer this block of business through June 30, 2008. Unearned
premium reserves of this block and the corresponding amount in due from reinsurers of $12,781,000 and
$15,742,000 are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.  In connection with the sale, the Company accrued an estimated $2,520,000 of exit costs,
including $589,000 of one-time termination benefits and a goodwill impairment charge of $393,000 at
December 31, 2007. As a r esult of the transaction, the Company also recorded a $3,608,000 loss on the
disposition of discontinued operations, net of $1,942,000 of tax benefits, in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007.

The operating results of the credit life and disability segment for the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006 have been reclassified to discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations as follows (in thousands):

  2008   2007   2006
         
Revenues $ -  $ 23,588  $ 22,426 
         
Pretax income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 806  $ (324)  $ (612)
Tax expense (benefits) allocated to discontinued
operations

 282   (100)   (192)

         
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 524  $ (224)  $ (420)

Income from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 of $524,000, net of
tax, represents expenses and changes in claims and reserves related to the insurance liabilities (currently
in run-off status) for claims incurred prior to the sale on December 31, 2007. In 2008, the Company also
recorded a gain on disposition of discontinued operations amounting to $120,000, net of $64,000 of
income taxes, representing adjustments to the initial ceding fee.
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The net liabilities related to the credit life and disability segment at the time of the sale included
insurance reserves of $9,103,000 related to liabilities for claims incurred prior to December 31, 2007,
amounts due to reinsurers of $10,940,000 and accrued exit costs of $2,520,000. Changes in the net
liabilities related to discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 were as follows (in
thousands):

  Claims  Accrued  Termination  Due to   
  Liability  Expenses  Benefits  Reinsurer  Total
           
Balance at beginning of year $ 9,103 $ 1,931 $ 589 $ 10,940 $ 22,563 
           
Cash settlements of sale           
 transaction  -  -  -  (10,756)  (10,756)
           
Gain on disposition of           
 discontinued operations:           
 Ceding fee adjustment  -  -  -  (184)  (184)
           
Income from discontinued           
 operations:           
 Changes in claims and           
 reserves related to block           
 in run-off  (1,998)  -  -  -  (1,998)
 Expenses incurred related           
 to block in run-off  -  1,192  -  -  1,192 
          (806)
Payments of expenses accrued           
 to administer the business           
 sold  -  (3,123)  (375)  -  (3,498)
           
Claim payments related           
 to block in run-off  (3,777)  -  -  -  (3,777)
           
Balance at December 31,
2008

$ 3,328 $ - $ 214 $ - $ 3,542 

The Company believes that the net liabilities of discontinued operations at December 31, 2008
adequately estimate the remaining costs associated with the credit life and disability discontinued
operations.
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Note 12. Insurance Policy Claims and Reserves

The liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses and insurance reserves-health
represent amounts necessary to provide for the estimated cost of settling claims relating to insured events
that have been incurred prior to the balance sheet date which have not yet been settled.  

Changes in the liability for reserves, unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses for the
Insurance Group's health and disability coverages for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
are summarized below.

 2008   2007   2006
  (In thousands)
         
Balance at beginning of year $ 212,413  $ 174,065  $ 155,951
Less: reinsurance recoverable  108,936   84,504   83,654
Net balance at beginning of year  103,477   89,561   72,297
         
Adjustment to January 1, 2006 beginning         
 balance for the adoption of SAB 108  -   -   9,069 
January 1, 2006 beginning balance,         
 as adjusted  103,477   89,561   81,366
         
Reserves acquired  -   -   95 
         
Amount incurred:         
 Current year  190,927   191,346   146,332
 Prior years  1,577   12,162   3,546
         
 Total  192,504   203,508   149,878
         
Amount paid, related to:         
 Current year  112,748   114,401   93,494
 Prior years  75,991   75,191   48,284
         
 Total  188,739   189,592   141,778
         
Net balance at end of year  107,242   103,477   89,561
Plus:  reinsurance recoverable  104,076   108,936   84,504
Balance at end of year $ 211,318  $ 212,413  $ 174,065

The preceding schedule reflects (i) the due and unpaid, including (in 2006) the adjustment under
SAB 108 as described in Note 1 (U); (ii) claims in the course of settlement; (iii) estimated incurred but
not reported reserves; and (iv) the present value of amounts not yet due on claims. The incurred and paid
data above reflects all activity for the year. The amount incurred in 2008 for prior years of 1,577,000 is
primarily the result of $3,310,000 of Medical Stop-Loss reserves and redundancies of $1,191,000 in the
Fully Insured reserves and $542,000 on all other reserves. The amount incurred in 2007 for prior years of
$12,162,000 is primarily as a result of re-estimation of unpaid losses of $11,875,000 on Medical Stop-
Loss reserves, $1,082,000 of Fully Insured reserves and a redundancy of $795,000 on all other reserves.
The amount incurred in 2006 for prior years of $3,546,000 is primarily a result of re-estimation of unpa id
losses on Medical Stop-Loss reserves.

These increases in reserve estimates are generally the result of on-going analysis of recent loss
development trends.  Medical stop-loss business is excess coverage with a short duration. Predicting
ultimate claims and estimating reserves in medical stop-loss is especially complicated due to the “excess
of loss” nature of these products with very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual
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claimant and in the aggregate for a given group. Fluctuations in results for specific coverage are primarily
due to the severity and frequency of individual claims. Due to the short-term nature of medical stop-loss,
redundancies and deficiencies will typically emerge during the following year rather than over a number
of years. In the third quarter of 2007, the Company identified a material increase in claims and reserves
with respect to business written in 2006.  Such adverse development was primarily driven by the
frequency of claims relative to the business written in that year proving significantly higher than what
would have been predicted by prior loss development patterns.  This increased frequency of medical stop-
loss claims was due, in part, to increased severity of primary claims.

Note 13. Debt and Junior Subordinated Debt Securities

(A) Debt

A subsidiary of IHC entered into a $12,500,000 line of credit with a commercial bank in
September 2003. In August 2006, the credit agreement was amended and the line of credit increased to
$15,000,000 with automatic reductions of $2,500,000 in August 2007 and August 2008 and the remaining
$10,000,000 in August 2009. As to such subsidiary, the line of credit (i) contains restrictions with respect
to, among other things, the creation of additional indebtedness, the consolidation or merger with or into
certain corporations, the payment of dividends and the retirement of capital stock; (ii) requires the
maintenance of minimum amounts of net worth, as defined, certain financial ratios, and certain
investment restrictions; and (iii) is secured by the stock of Madison National Life and the assets of such
subsidiary of IHC. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, there was $10,000,000 and $12,500,000,
respectively, outstanding under the l ine of credit. A principal repayment of $2,500,000 was made in
August, 2008.  The line of credit bears interest at a variable interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.25%
(1.76% at December 31, 2008). At the time of the amended credit agreement, the Company
simultaneously entered into an interest rate swap, with the commercial bank lender, with a notional
amount equal to the debt principal amount, under which the Company receives a variable rate equal to the
rate on the debt and pays a fixed rate (6.65% under the current agreement). There was no hedge
ineffectiveness on this swap which is accounted for as a cash flow hedge. The change in the fair value of
the swap and the related after-tax adjustments recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss were
insignificant at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

(B) Junior Subordinated Debt Issued to Trust Preferred Subsidiaries

Junior subordinated debt consisted of the following at both December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in
thousands):

Independence Preferred Trust I - Trust Preferred $ 10,000 
Independence Preferred Trust I - Common Stock  310 
 Junior subordinated debt security -Trust I  10,310 
   
Independence Preferred Trust II -Trust Preferred  12,000 
Independence Preferred Trust II - Common Stock  372 
 Junior subordinated debt security - Trust II  12,372 
   
Independence Preferred Trust III – Trust Preferred  15,000 
Independence Preferred Trust III – Common Stock   464 
 Junior subordinated debt security – Trust III  15,464 
   
 Total junior subordinated debt securities $ 38,146 
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The Company has three statutory business trusts that were formed for the purpose of issuing trust
preferred securities, totaling $37,000,000, to institutional investors in pooled issuances. Although the
Company owns all of the trusts' common securities, it is not the primary beneficiary for purposes of FASB
Interpretation 46R, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities," and, accordingly, the trusts are
unconsolidated subsidiaries for financial reporting purposes. As a result, the Company recognized
liabilities of $38,146,000 for junior subordinated debt and assets of $1,146,000 for the investments in trust
subsidiaries at both December 31, 2008 and 2007. The Company's subordinated debt securities, which are
the sole assets of the subsidiary trusts, are unsecured obligations of the Company and are subordinate and
junior in right of payment to all present and future senior indebtedness of the Company. The Compa ny
has provided a full and unconditional guarantee of amounts due on the trust preferred securities. The
terms of the junior subordinated debt securities, including interest rates and maturities, are the same as the
related trust preferred securities.

The distributions payable on the capital securities are cumulative and payable quarterly in arrears.
The Company has the right, subject to events of default, to defer payments of interest for a period not to
exceed 20 consecutive quarters, provided that no extension period may extend beyond the maturity dates
which range from April 2033 to December 2034. The Company has no current intention to exercise its
right to defer interest payments. The rates on the capital securities are as follows: Independence Preferred
Trust I, fixed at 7.4% for the first five years through April 7, 2008 and 400 basis points over the three-
month LIBOR thereafter, or 8.8% and 7.4% at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively; Independence
Preferred Trust II, 390 basis points over the three-month LIBOR, or 8.7% and 9.1% at December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively; and Independence Preferred Trust III, fixed at 7.2% through December 15, 2009
and 35 0 basis points over the three-month LIBOR thereafter.

The capital securities are mandatorily redeemable upon maturity. The Company has the right to
redeem the capital securities, in whole or in part and with certain prepayment penalties, on certain dates
prior to April 7, 2008, January 8, 2009 and December 15, 2009, with respect to Independence Preferred
Trust I, Independence Preferred Trust II and Independence Preferred Trust III, respectively. If the capital
securities were redeemed on or after those dates, the redemption price would be 100% (without penalty)
of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Cash payments for interest on debt and junior subordinated debt securities were $3,592,000
$3,992,000 and $3,660,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Note 14. Preferred Stock

IHC has 100,000 authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share, none of which
was issued as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Note 15. Common Stock

In 1991, IHC initiated a program of repurchasing shares of its common stock. In August 2007, the
Board of Directors authorized an additional 100,000 shares to be purchased under the 1991 plan. Through
December 31, 2008, the Company has repurchased 5,984,047 common shares at a cumulative cost of
$37,967,000. This total includes repurchases of 23,015 shares, 19,865 shares and 58,315 shares in 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. All of the repurchased shares have been either retired, reissued, or have
become treasury shares. At December 31, 2008, there were 108,642 shares still authorized to be
repurchased under the plan authorized by the Board of Directors.

In January 2008, IHC issued 127,520 shares of common stock as a private placement of
unregistered securities under section 4(2) of Securities Act of 1993 (“Securities Act”). The IHC shares
were issued from treasury stock at a fair value of $1,401,000. The difference between the fair value and
the $2,422,000 cost basis of the treasury stock resulted in a $1,021,000 charge to retained earnings.
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During 2006, the Company issued 446,663 and 46,250 shares of its common stock in connection
with the acquisitions of IAC and CAIS, respectively (see Note 9). The shares issued in connection with
the IAC acquisition were issued at a value of $21.54 per share and the shares issued in connection with
the CAIS acquisition were issued at a value of $22.87 per share. Effective February 22, 2006, IHC issued
125,000 shares of common stock to First Integrated Health, Inc. (a.k.a. Employers Direct Health) at
$20.00 per share. All shares issued by IHC in the foregoing transactions were issued in reliance upon the
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, as private placements of unregistered
securities under Section 4(2) thereof. Any resale or other disposition of the securities in the United States
must be made either under a registration statement filed by IHC with the SEC or under an exemption from
the r egistration requirements of the Securities Act.

Note 16. Share-Based Compensation

In June 2003, the stockholders approved the Independence Holding Company 2003 Stock
Incentive Plan (the "2003 Plan") under which 630,000 shares of common stock were reserved for options
and other common stock awards. The final option grants under the 2003 Plan were made during 2006.

In June 2006, the stockholders approved the Independence Holding Company 2006 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan") under which 1,300,000 shares of common stock were reserved for
options and other common stock awards.

Under the terms of the Company’s share-based compensation plans, option exercise prices are
equal to the quoted market price of the shares at the date of grant; option terms range from five to ten
years; and vesting periods are three years for employee options.  The Company may also grant shares of
restricted stock, share appreciation rights (“SARs”) and share-based performance awards. Restricted
shares are valued at the quoted market price of the shares at the date of grant and have a three year vesting
period. Exercise prices of SARs are equal to the quoted market price of the shares at the date of grant and
have three year vesting periods. There were 744,383 shares available for future stock-based compensation
grants under the 2006 Plan at December 31, 2008.  

Total share-based compensation expense recorded for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006 was $1,180,000, $1,325,000 and $1,567,000, respectively, and the related tax benefits
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $471,000, $528,000 and
$625,000, respectively.

Stock Options

The Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2008 was as follows:

  No. of Shares  Weighted-Average
  Under Option  Exercise Price
     
December 31, 2007  839,310  $ 17.56  

Granted  225,000   10.99  

Exercised  (291,800)   11.29  

Forfeited  (7,917)   22.19  

Expired  (5,500)   22.55  

December 31, 2008  759,093   17.94  
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The following table summarizes information regarding outstanding and exercisable options as of
December 31, 2008:

  Outstanding  Exercisable
     
Number of shares under option  759,093  443,669
Weighted average exercise price per share $ 17.94 $ 20.73
Aggregate intrinsic value $ - $ -
Weighted average contractual term remaining  2.3 years  1.2 years

The fair value of an option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $3.44, $6.51 and $7.25 per share, respectively. The assumptions
set forth in the table below were used to value these grants:

  2008  2007  2006
       
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate  2.2% 4.4% 4.9%
Annual dividend rate per share $ .05 $ .05 $ .05
Weighted-average volatility factor of the       
 Company's common stock  36.6%  30.3%  32.1%
Weighted-average expected term of options  4.5 years  4.5 years  4.5 years

Compensation expense of $855,000, $836,000 and $1,104,000 was recognized in the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, for the portion of the grant-date fair value of stock
options vested during that period.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company received cash proceeds of $173,000
upon the exercise of 15,608 options with an intrinsic value of $31,000. In addition, another 276,192
options were exercised and, pursuant to the terms of the Company’s applicable stock option plans,
payments were made equal to the difference between the fair value of such shares, with respect to the
options at such exercise date, and the aggregate option strike price. The intrinsic value of such totaled
$640,000 and the payments were made in the form of IHC common stock totaling 29,486 shares after
deducting applicable income taxes. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $333,000 and $6,685,000, respectively. Cash proceeds received from
options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $570,000 and $3,488,000,
respectively.

At December 31, 2008, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock
options was $838,000 which is expected to be recognized as compensation expense over a weighted
average period of 1.27 years.

Restricted Stock

The Company issued 2,250, 7,050 and 49,325 restricted stock awards during the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, with weighted-average grant-date fair values of $12.26,
$20.67 and $22.20 per share, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock that vested in 2008, 2007
and 2006 was $223,000, $372,000 and $26,000, respectively. Restricted stock expense was $347,000,
$393,000 and $319,000 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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The following table summarizes restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2008:

  No. of  Weighted-Average
  Non-vested     Grant-Date
  Shares  Fair Value
     
December 31, 2007  38,329  $ 21.89  

Granted  2,250   12.26  

Vested  (18,476)   21.90  

Forfeited  (3,127)   22.55  

December 31, 2008  18,976   20.66  

At December 31, 2008, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted
stock awards was $ $126,000 which is expected to be recognized as compensation expense over a
weighted average period of 0.67 years.

SARs and Other Share-Based Performance Awards

The fair value SARs is calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model at the grant date and
each subsequent reporting period until settlement. Compensation cost is based on the proportionate
amount of the requisite service that has been rendered to date. Once fully vested, changes in fair value of
the SARs continue to be recognized as compensation expense in the period of the change until settlement
No SARs were exercised in 2008, 2007 or 2006. Other liability-classified awards include share-based
performance awards. Compensation costs for these plans are recognized and accrued as performance
conditions are met, based on the current share price. The intrinsic value of share-based liabilities paid in
2008 and 2007 was $70,000 and $101,000, respectively. No share-based liabilities were paid in 2006.
Included in Other Liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 are liabilities of $47,000 and $138,000, respectively, pertaining to SARs and other
shared-based performance awards.   

Note 17. Income Taxes

The Company and its 80% or more owned subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax
return on a June 30 fiscal year. The provision for income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income from
continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

    2008    2007    2006
    (In thousands)
             
CURRENT:             
 U.S. Federal   $ 1,913   $ 6,669   $ 3,376 
 State and Local    (211)    13    211 
    1,702    6,682    3,587  
             
DEFERRED:             
 U.S. Federal    (17,533)    (5,868)    2,878 
 State and Local    (568)    (386)    167 
    (18,101)    (6,254)    3,045 
             
   $ (16,399)   $ 428   $ 6,632 
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Taxes computed at the Federal statutory rate of 35% in 2008, 2007 and 2006, attributable to pretax
income from continuing operations, are reconciled to the Company's actual income tax expense on
income from continuing operations as follows:

  2008   2007   2006
  (In thousands)
         
Tax computed at the statutory rate $ (14,309)  $ 676  $ 7,390 
Dividends received deduction and tax         
 exempt interest  (1,433)   (373)   (523)
State and local income taxes, net of Federal effect  (506)   (242)   246 
Other, net  (151)   367   (481)
         
Income tax expense $ (16,399)  $ 428  $ 6,632 

The deferred income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2008 allocated to stockholders'
equity (principally for net unrealized losses on investment securities) was $21,241,000, representing the
increase in the related net deferred tax asset to $30,267,000 at December 31, 2008 from $9,026,000 at
December 31, 2007.

Temporary differences between the Consolidated Financial Statement carrying amounts and tax
bases of assets and liabilities that give rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2008
and 2007 are summarized below. The net deferred tax asset or liability is included in Other Assets or
Other Liabilities, as appropriate, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company has certain tax-
planning strategies that were used in determining that a valuation allowance was not necessary on its
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2008 or 2007.

   2008   2007
   (In thousands)
       
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS:       
 Deferred insurance policy acquisition costs  $ 3,806  $ 4,478 
 Unrealized losses on investment securities   36,256   9,762 
 Investment write-downs   11,145   164 
 Loss carryforwards   10,741   4,268 
 Other   3,607   2,861 
         
  Total gross deferred tax assets   65,555   21,533 
       
       
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES:       
 Deferred insurance policy acquisition costs   (16,185)   (10,940)
 Insurance reserves   (6,227)   (5,331)
 Investment in AMIC   (1,791)   (2,154)
 Other   (1,414)   (2,207)
        
 Total gross deferred tax liabilities   (25,617)   (20,632)
       
 Net deferred tax asset  $ 39,938  $ 901 

101



As of December 31, 2008, the Company had net operating tax loss carryforwards arising from
limitations on offsetting non-life insurance company losses against life insurance company income. The
non-life insurance company tax loss carryforwards amount to approximately $24,618,000 at December
31, 2008, which expire as follows (in thousands):

2025  $ 498
2026   1,309
2027   7,294
2028   2,166
2029   13,351

    
  $ 24,618

In addition, as of December 31, 2008, the Company had capital tax loss carryforwards of
approximately $6,071,000 expiring in 2014 arising from the excess capital losses realized by the life
insurance company group.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the
period in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making
this assessment. Management believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the
benefits of these net deferred tax assets recorded at December 31, 2008.

The Internal Revenue Service is currently auditing the Company’s 2003 and 2004 consolidated
income tax returns and associated refund claims for the carryback of net operating losses and capital
losses.  Management believes that it has made adequate provision for all income tax uncertainties, such
that the outcome of any unresolved issues or claims will not result in a material change to our financial
position or results of operations.

Interest expense and penalties for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are
insignificant, however $969,000 of interest income related to tax refunds is included in selling, general
and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December
31, 2008.

Net cash payments for income taxes were $3,022,000, $6,571,000 and $6,802,000 in 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively.
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Note 18. Commitments and Concentration of Credit Risk

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are obligated under non-cancelable operating lease
agreements for office space. Total rental expense for the years 2008, 2007 and 2006 for operating leases
was $4,048,000, $4,004,000 and $3,495,000, respectively.

The approximate minimum annual rental payments under operating leases that have remaining
non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2008 are as follows (in thousands):

2009  $ 3,279
2010   3,152
2011   3,088
2012   2,183
2013   1,623
2014 and thereafter   5,560
    
 Total  $ 18,885
     

At December 31, 2008, the Company had no investment securities of any one issuer or in any one
industry which exceeded 10% of stockholders' equity, except for investments in obligations of the U.S.
Government and its agencies, and mortgage-backed securities issued by GSEs, as summarized in Note 4.

Fixed maturities with a carrying value of $10,340,000 and $12,053,000 were on deposit with
various state insurance departments at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had net receivables of $43,352,000 and $18,542,000 from
two different reinsurers which are both rated A+ by A.M. Best.  These are the only reinsurers with a net
receivable that individually exceed 10% of the stockholders' equity of the Company. The Company
believes that these receivables are fully collectible.  

We are involved in legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our
businesses. We have established reserves that we believe are sufficient given information presently
available relating to our outstanding legal proceedings and claims.  We do not anticipate that the result of
any pending legal proceeding or claim will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
cash flows, although there could be such an effect on our results of operations for any particular period.
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Note 19. Acquisitions of Policy Blocks   

In addition to its core life and health lines of business, IHC has acquired blocks of business from
other insurance companies, guaranty associations and liquidators. Most of the acquired business has been
life, annuities, disability or credit business.

Effective April 1, 2008 Madison National Life acquired a block of life insurance and annuity
policies by entering into a coinsurance agreement with an unaffiliated insurer whereby Madison National
Life assumed 25%  of the business covered under the agreement. Under terms of the acquisition, Madison
National Life assumed administration of the policies on November 1, 2008.

In 2007, Madison National Life did not record any significant acquisitions.

During 2006, Madison National Life acquired a total of $8.0 million of reserves in three
transactions. In the principal transaction, effective October 1, 2006, Madison National Life entered into an
agreement with an unaffiliated insurer to 100% coinsure life insurance policies totaling approximately
$7.7 million of reserves.

A summary of the policy blocks acquired by the Company as of the effective dates is as follows
(in thousands):

   2008  2007  2006
Liabilities:        
 Insurance reserves - life  $ 32,183 $ 104 $ 7,872 
 Insurance reserves - health   -  -  49 
 Funds on deposit   32,251  -  - 
 Other policyholders' funds   4,700  -  71 
 Other   27  -  - 
    69,161  104  7,992 
        
Non-cash assets:        
 Deferred acquisition costs   8,850  -  2,273 
 Other investments (policy loans)   2,971  -  442 
 Due and unpaid premiums   61  -  286 
 Due from reinsurers   -  -  1 
 Other   -  -  11 
    11,882  -  3,013 
         
Cash received  $ 57,279 $ 104 $ 4,979 
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Note 20. Reinsurance

 Standard Security Life and Madison National Life reinsure portions of certain business in order to
limit the assumption of disproportionate risks. Standard Security Life and Madison National Life retain
varying amounts of individual life or group life insurance. Amounts not retained are ceded to other
companies on an automatic or facultative basis.  In addition, Standard Security Life and Madison National
Life participate in various coinsurance treaties on a quota share basis. Standard Security Life and Madison
National Life are contingently liable with respect to reinsurance in the unlikely event that the assuming
reinsurers are unable to meet their obligations.  The ceding of reinsurance does not discharge the primary
liability of the original insurer to the insured.

The effect of reinsurance on life insurance in-force, benefits to policyholders and premiums
earned is as follows:

          PERCENTAGE
    ASSUMED  CEDED     OF AMOUNT
  GROSS  FROM OTHER  TO OTHER  NET  ASSUMED
  AMOUNT  COMPANIES  COMPANIES  AMOUNT  TO NET
  (In thousands)   
           
Life Insurance In-Force:           
           
December 31, 2008 $ 7,224,141 $ 554,219 $ 2,326,940 $ 5,451,420  10.2%
December 31, 2007  7,538,793  674,020  2,758,084  5,454,729  12.4%
December 31, 2006  7,636,981  779,198  3,196,064  5,220,115  14.9%
           
Benefits to
Policyholders:

          

           
December 31, 2008 $ 320,869 $ 77,464 $ 176,736 $ 221,597  35.0%
December 31, 2007  349,585  65,966  197,612  217,939  30.3%
December 31, 2006  245,381  69,922  139,347  175,956  39.7%
           
Premiums Earned:           
           
December 31, 2008           
 Health $ 428,186 $ 89,972 $ 237,944 $ 280,214  32.1%
 Life and annuity  35,888  10,073  8,887  37,074  27.2%
 $ 464,074 $ 100,045 $ 246,831 $ 317,288  31.5%

           
December 31, 2007           
 Health $ 460,528 $ 90,512 $ 278,292 $ 272,748  33.2%
 Life and annuity  37,084  7,265  10,212  34,137  21.3%
 $ 497,612 $ 97,777  $ 288,504 $ 306,885  31.9%

           
December 31, 2006           
 Health $ 350,630 $ 76,900 $ 202,266 $ 225,264  34.1%
 Life and annuity  34,025  10,998  11,617  33,406  32.9%
 $ 384,655 $ 87,898 $ 213,883 $ 258,670  34.0%

           

Included in Gross Amount in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are $76,835,000, $85,749,000
and $90,518,000 of premiums written through AMIC subsidiaries. Included in Ceded to Other Companies
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are $57,031,000, $68,143,000 and $56,854,000 of Premiums
Earned and $39,670,000, $50,128,000 and $39,611,000 of Benefits to Policyholders for business ceded to
Independence American, a subsidiary of AMIC.
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Note 21. Segment Reporting

The Insurance Group principally engages in the life and health insurance business. Interest
expense, taxes, and general expenses associated with parent company activities are included in Corporate.
Identifiable assets by segment are those assets that are utilized in each segment and are allocated based
upon the mean reserves and liabilities of each such segment. Corporate assets are composed principally of
cash equivalents, resale agreements, fixed maturities, equity securities, partnership interests and certain
other investments. Information by business segment for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006 is presented below.

   2008   2007   2006
   (In thousands)
REVENUES          

Medical Stop-Loss (A)  $ 165,285  $ 169,057 $ 160,905 

Fully Insured Health (B)   121,195   115,490  62,720 

Group disability; life, annuities and DBL (C)   57,664   56,410  54,228 

Individual life, annuities and other   62,941   60,112  61,605 
Corporate   (2,750)

 
  (5)  2,179 

   404,335   401,064  341,637 
Net realized investment gains (losses)   (50,648)   1,258  625 
         
Total revenues  $ 353,687  $ 402,322 $ 342,262 
         
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

        

 BEFORE INCOME TAXES         

Medical Stop-Loss (A)  $ 4,431  $ (3,251) $ 12,624 

Fully Insured Health (B)   548   (793)  1,091 

Group disability; life, annuities and DBL (C) (D)   7,356   6,931  7,097 

Individual life, annuities and other   6,817   7,944  8,040 
Corporate   (5,611)   (5,963)  (4,474)
   13,541   4,868  24,378 
Interest expense   (3,776)   (4,194)  (3,890)
Net realized investment gains (losses)   (50,648)   1,258  625 
         
Income (loss) from continuing operations         
 before income taxes  $ (40,883)  $ 1,932  $ 21,113 

(A) The amount includes equity income from AMIC of $338,000, $268,000 and $699,000 for the
years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(B) The amount includes equity income from AMIC of $96,000 and $218,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007. In 2006 equity income (loss) from AMIC in this line of business was
insignificant.

(C) The amount includes equity income from AMIC of $46,000 and $60,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007. In 2006 equity income (loss) from AMIC in this line of business was
insignificant.

(D)  The Fully Insured Health segment includes amortization of intangible assets recorded as a result
of purchase accounting for the recent acquisitions. Total amortization expense was $2,722,000,
$2,912,000 and $1,478,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Amortization expense for the other segments is insignificant.
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   2008  2007
   (In thousands)
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS AT YEAR END       

Medical Stop-Loss (A)  $ 156,187  $ 185,763

Fully Insured Health (B)   165,450   160,360

Group disability; life, annuities and DBL   231,031   246,965
Individual life, annuities and other   618,877   645,065

Corporate (C)   102,349   68,802
  $ 1,273,894  $ 1,306,955

(A) The Medical Stop-Loss segment includes allocated goodwill of $4,205,000 and
$3,321,000, respectively, at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

(B) The Fully Insured Health segment includes allocated goodwill of $43,904,000 at
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

(C) The Corporate segment includes the investment in AMIC (including goodwill) of
$45,439,000 and $44,945,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Note 22. Dividend Restrictions on Insurance Subsidiaries and IHC

Dividends from Madison National Life are subject to the prior notification to the Commissioner
of Insurance of the State of Wisconsin if such dividend distribution exceeds 115% of the distribution for
the corresponding period of the previous year.  In addition, if such dividends, together with the fair market
value of other dividends paid or credited and distributions made within the preceding twelve months,
exceed the lesser of (i) total net gain from operations for the preceding calendar year minus realized
capital gains for that calendar year and (ii) 10% of surplus with regard to policyholders as of December
31 of the preceding year, such dividends may be paid so long as such dividends have not been
disapproved by the Wisconsin Insurance Commissioner within 30 days of its receipt of notice thereof.  No
dividends were declared or paid by Madison National Life in 2008 or 2007. Madison National Life
declared an d paid a dividend of $3,000,000 in 2006. Madison National Life's statutory capital and surplus
was $138,243,000 (unaudited) and $136,569,000 as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. For the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, Madison National Life's statutory net income (loss) was
$(4,824,000) (unaudited), $7,357,000 and 7,806,000, respectively.
 

The payment of dividends by Standard Security Life to its parent, Madison National Life, is
subject to the prior notification to the New York State Insurance Department if such dividends, together
with other dividends in such calendar year exceed the lesser of (i) 10% of surplus as regards policyholders
as of the immediately preceding calendar year and (ii) net gain from operations for the immediately
preceding calendar year, not including realized capital gains. Such dividends may be paid so long as they
have not been disapproved by the New York State Department of Insurance within 30 days of its receipt
of notice thereof. Standard Security Life declared and paid dividends to Madison National Life of
$4,500,000 and $2,000,000 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. No dividends were declared or paid by
Standard Security Life in 2006. Standard Security Life's statutory capital and surplus was 114,274,000
(unaudited) and $109,648, 000 as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, Standard Security Life's statutory net income (loss) was $(3,803,000)
(unaudited), $4,617,000 and $11,416,000, respectively.

Under Delaware law, IHC is permitted to pay dividends from surplus or net profits for the fiscal
year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year. IHC declared cash dividends of
$771,000, $763,000 and $757,000 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Note 23. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of total comprehensive income include net income and certain amounts reported
directly in stockholders' equity, principally the after-tax unrealized gains and losses on investment
securities available-for-sale.

Amounts reported in stockholders’ equity and included in total other comprehensive income for
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

  Before   Tax   Net of
  Tax   Effect   Tax
 (In thousands)
2008         
Unrealized losses, arising during the year $ (114,993)  $ 37,065  $ (77,928)
Allocation to deferred acquisition costs  11,340   -   11,340 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for net losses         
 realized in net income  44,246   (15,824)   28,422 
Unrealized losses, net $ (59,407)  $ 21,241  $ (38,166)
         
2007         
         
Unrealized losses, arising during the year $ (9,325)  $ 3,332  $ (5,993)
Allocation to deferred acquisition costs  203   -   203 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for net gains         
 realized in net income  (1,589)   556   (1,033)
Unrealized losses, net $ (10,711)  $ 3,888  $ (6,823)
         
2006         
         
Unrealized losses, arising during the year $ (3,284)  $ 1,134  $ (2,150)
Allocation to deferred acquisition costs  7   -   7 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for net losses         
 realized in net income  1,932   (677)   1,255 
Unrealized losses, net $ (1,345)  $ 457  $ (888)
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Note 24. Quarterly Data   (Unaudited)

The quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are
summarized below:

  FIRST   SECOND   THIRD   FOURTH
  QUARTER   QUARTER   QUARTER   QUARTER
  (In thousands, except per share data)
            
2008            
            
Total revenues $ 104,418  $ 89,318  $ 81,934  $ 78,017 
            
Income (loss) from continuing
operations

$ 3,072  $ (6,693)  $ (9,456)  $ (11,407)

Income (loss) from discontinued
operations

 -   -   541   (17)

Gain (loss) on disposition of
discontinued

       167   (47)

 operations  -   -       
            
Net income (loss) $ 3,072  $ (6,693)  $ (8,748)  $ (11,471)
            
Basic (loss) income per
common share:

           

Income (loss) from continuing
operations

$ .20  $ (.43)  $ (.61)  $ (.74)

Income (loss) from discontinued
operations

 -   -   .03   -

Gain (loss) on disposition of
discontinued

           

 operations  -   -   .01   -
             
 Basic income per common

share
$ .20  $ (.43)  $ (.57)  $ (.74)

            

Diluted income (loss) per
common share:

$   $   $   $  

Income (loss) from continuing
operations

 .20   (.43)   (.61)   (.74)

Income (loss) from discontinued
operations

 -   -   .03   -

Gain (loss) on disposition of
discontinued

           

 operations  -   -   .01   -
             
 Diluted income per share $ .20  $ (.43)  $ (.57)  $ (.74)
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  FIRST   SECOND   THIRD   FOURTH
  QUARTER   QUARTER   QUARTER   QUARTER
  (In thousands, except per share data)
            
2007            
            
Total revenues $ 103,398  $ 99,538  $ 100,565  $ 98,821 
            
Income from continuing
operations

$ 5,164  $ 3,774  $ (8,278)  $ 844 

Loss from discontinued
operations

 (562)   155   (145)   328 

Loss on disposition of
discontinued

           

 operations  -   -   -   (3,608)
            
Net income $ 4,602  $ 3,929  $ (8,423)  $ (2,436)
            
Basic income per common
share:

           

Income from continuing
operations

$ .34  $ .25  $ (.54)  $ .06 

Loss from discontinued
operations

 (.04)   .01   (.01)   .02 

Loss on disposition of
discontinued

           

 operations  -   -   -   (.24)
             
 Basic income per common

share
$ .30  $ .26  $ (.55)  $ (.16)

            

Diluted income per common
share:

           

Income from continuing
operations

$ .34  $ .25  $ (.54)  $ .06 

Loss from discontinued
operations

 (.04)   .01   (.01)   .02 

Loss on disposition of
discontinued

           

 operations  -   -   -   (.24)
             
 Diluted income per share $ .30  $ .26  $ (.55)  $ (.16)
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 SCHEDULE I
 

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS – OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED

PARTIES
DECEMBER 31, 2008

       
      AMOUNT
      SHOWN IN
      BALANCE
TYPE OF INVESTMENT  COST  VALUE  SHEET
  (In thousands)
FIXED MATURITIES:       
 United States Government and       
 Government agencies and       
 authorities $ 51,135 $ 51,849 $ 51,849 
 GSEs(1)  9,815  9,573  9,573 
 States, municipalities and       
 political subdivisions  283,237  245,113  245,113 
 Public utilities  45,289  37,287  37,287 
 All other corporate securities  301,399  264,665  264,665 
       
 TOTAL FIXED

MATURITIES
 690,875  608,487  608,487 

       
EQUITY SECURITIES:       
 Non-redeemable preferred       
 stocks  68,538  54,007  54,007 
       
 TOTAL EQUITY

SECURITIES
 68,538  54,007  54,007 

       
Short-term investments  52    52 
Securities purchased under       
 agreements to resell  60,823    60,823 
Investment partnership interests  5,821    5,821 
Operating partnership interests  5,810    5,810 
Policy loans  24,947    24,947 
Investment in trust subsidiaries  1,146    1,146 
       
 TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 858,012   $ 761,093 

(1) Government-sponsored enterprise securities consist of Federal National Mortgage Association
mortgage-backed securities and other fixed maturity securities issued by the Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation and Federal National Mortgage Association.  
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 SCHEDULE II
 

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
   DECEMBER 31,
   2008   2007
   (In thousands, except share data)
       
ASSETS:       
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 257  $ 248 
 Other investments   4,491   6,849 
 Investments in continuing consolidated subsidiaries   190,798   265,338 
 Investment in AMIC   10,781   11,008 
 Taxes receivable   11,360   10,769 
 Goodwill   3,732   3,732 
 Other assets   878   452 
       
 TOTAL ASSETS  $ 222,297  $ 298,396 
       
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       
LIABILITIES:       
 Accounts payable and other liabilities  $ 3,753  $ 5,462 
 Amounts due to consolidated subsidiaries, net   13,086   8,716 
 Income taxes payable   680   274 
 Net liabilities related to discontinued operations   3,542   22,563 
 Junior subordinated debt securities   38,146   38,146 
 Dividends payable   388   384 
       
 TOTAL LIABILITIES   59,595   75,545 
       
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:       
 Preferred stock (none issued)   -   - 
 Common stock, $1.00 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized;       
 15,434,891and 15,366,281 shares issued, respectively,       
 15,402,136 and 15,228,521 shares outstanding, respectively   15,435   15,366 
 Paid-in capital   101,086   99,805 
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (54,291)   (16,125)
 Treasury stock, at cost;  32,755 and 137,760 shares, respectively   (326)   (2,626)
 Retained earnings   100,798   126,431 
       
 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   162,702   222,851 
       
 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 222,297  $ 298,396 

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only)
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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 SCHEDULE II
 
 (Continued)
 

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
                   
  2008   2007   2006
  (In thousands)
         
REVENUES:         
 Net investment income (expense) $ (2,194)  $ (448)  $ 1,144 
 Net realized investment gains (losses)  (38)   (679)   117 
 Other income  2,986   3,037   3,289 
         
  754   1,910   4,550 
         
EXPENSES:         
 Interest expense on debt  2,993   3,243   3,212 
 General and administrative expenses  3,052   5,346   5,750 
         
  6,045   8,589   8,962 
         
Loss before tax benefit  (5,291)   (6,679)   (4,412)
Income tax benefit  (1,918)   (2,232)   (1,967)
         
Loss before equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries  (3,373)   (4,447)   (2,445)
Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries  (21,111)   5,951   16,926 
         
Income (loss) from continuing operations  (24,484)   1,504   14,481 
         
Discontinued operations:         
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  524   (224)   (420)
 Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued

operations
 120   (3,608)   - 

         
Net income (loss) $ (23,840)  $ (2,328)  $ 14,061 

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only)
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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 SCHEDULE II
 
 (Continued)
 

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

  2008   2007   2006
  (In thousands)
         
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY)         
 OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
 Net income (loss) $ (23,840)  $ (2,328)  $ 14,061 
 Adjustments to net income:         
 Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries  21,111   (5,951)   (16,926)
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations  (524)   224   420 
 Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations  (120)   3,608   - 
 Other  (1,940)   (2,731)   1,229 
 Changes in other assets and liabilities  1,091   2,696   (5,652)
         
 Net change in cash from operating activities  (4,222)   (4,482)   (6,868)
         
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY)         
 INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
 Decrease (increase) in investments in and advances to         
 consolidated subsidiaries  1,563   3,176   (887)
 Net distributions from other  investments  2,358   632   710 
 Other  -   (1)   - 
          
 Net change in cash  from investing activities  3,921   3,807   (177)
         
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY)         
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         

 Proceeds from issuance of common stock  1,401   -   2,500 
 Repurchases of common stock  (133)   (398)   (1,180)
 Exercises of common stock options  173   570    3,488 
 Excess tax benefits from exercises of common stock options  (363)   35   1,821 
 Dividends paid  (768)   (760)   (729)
          

 Net change in cash from financing activities  310   (553)   5,900 
         
 Net change in cash and cash equivalents  9   (1,228)   (1,145)
 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  248   1,476    2,621 
         
 Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 257  $ 248  $ 1,476 

         

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only)
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE III 
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
(In thousands)

 
   FUTURE          
   POLICY  OTHER   INSURANCE AMORTIZATION SELLING   
  DEFERRED BENEFITS, UNEARNED POLICY- NET NET BENEFITS, OF DEFERRED GENERAL &  NET

  ACQUISITION LOSSES & PREMIUMS HOLDERS’ PREMIUMS INVESTMENT CLAIMS & ACQUISTION ADMINISTRATIVE  PREMIUMS

  COSTS CLAIMS (3) FUNDS EARNED  INCOME (1) RESERVES COSTS EXPENSES (2)  WRITTEN

December 31, 2008             
Medical Stop-Loss $ - 89,684 - - 159,392 4,273 117,076 - 43,778 $ 159,392
Fully Insured Health  144 38,197 1,921 385 81,020 895 51,559 80 69,008  79,755

Group disability; life,             
 annuities and

DBL
 5,115 214,440 1,824 59 46,957 10,323 33,718 149 16,441  46,992

Individual life,
annuities

            

 and other  57,142 570,654 12,982 21,444 29,919 31,306 38,184 6,116 11,824  29,912

Corporate  - - - - - (2,753) - - 2,861  -

 $ 62,401 912,975 16,727 21,888 317,288 44,044 240,537 6,345 143,912 $ 316,051

December 31, 2007             
Medical Stop-Loss $ - 95,289 - - 162,438 4,579 128,409 - 43,899 $ 162,438
Fully Insured Health  223 40,999 4,591 304 72,048 651 50,901 234 65,148  73,713

Group disability; life,             
 annuities and

DBL
 3,096 205,933 1,770 45 45,220 10,671 34,774 141 14,564  46,085

Individual life,
annuities

            

 and other  42,128 512,795 16,054 17,389 27,179 30,226 36,621 5,736 9,811  27,171

Corporate  - - - - - (5) - - 5,958  -

 $ 45,447 855,016 22,415 17,738 306,885 46,122 250,705 6,111 139,380 $ 309,407

December 31, 2006             
Medical Stop-Loss $ - 86,265 - - 153,087 3,950 107,864 - 40,417 $ 153,086
Fully Insured Health  257 14,526 1,300 - 32,590 192 19,128 102 42,399  33,110

Group disability; life,             
 annuities and

DBL
 2,269 194,412 1,139 17 44,206 9,594 31,866 165 15,100  44,216

Individual life,
annuities

            

 and other  44,482 525,396 17,543 18,282 28,787 31,761 39,034 5,103 9,428  28,786

Corporate  - - - - - 2,179 - - 6,653  -

 $ 47,008 820,599 19,982 18,299 258,670 47,676 197,892 5,370 113,997 $ 259,198

             

(1) Net investment income is allocated between product lines based on the mean reserve method.
(2) Where possible, direct operating expenses are specifically identified and charged to product lines. Indirect expenses are allocated based on time studies; however, other acceptable methods of allocation might

produce different results.    
(3) 2008 and 2007 includes $12,781,000 and $15,742,000, respectively of unearned premium reserves related to the co-insurance agreement for the sale of the Company’s credit segment.    
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number

Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Independence Holding Company. (Filed as Exhibit 3(i) to
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

3.2 Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Independence Holding Company. (Filed
as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 30, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

3.3 By-Laws of Independence Holding Company. (Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Acquisition Agreements and Related

10.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2006, by and among Mr. Scott M. Wood, Mr.
Steven A. Wood, IAC Holding Corp. and Independence Holding Company. (Filed as Exhibit 10(i)
to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.2 Rights Modification Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2008, by and between Independence
Holding Company and Mr. Scott M. Wood.  (Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2008, by and among Independence Holding Company,
Mr. Stephen A. Wood, Mr. Scott M. Wood, SAW Trust, dated April 1, 1991 and SAW Trust I,
dated November 1, 1986.  (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 23, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Management Contracts / Compensatory Plans or Arrangements

10.4 Independence Holding Company 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), Form of Stock
Option Agreement pursuant to the 2006 Plan, Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement
pursuant to the 2006 Plan and Form of Share Appreciation Rights Award Agreement pursuant to
the 2006 Plan. (The 2006 Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on June 21, 2006 and is incorporated herein by reference; the form of stock option
agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 21, 2006 and is incorporated herein by reference; the form of restricted share award
agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 21, 2006 and is incorporated herein by reference; and the form of share appreciation rights
award agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on F orm 8-K filed with the SEC
on June 21, 2006 and is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.5 Independence Holding Company 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), as amended and
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement pursuant to the 2003 Plan. (The 2003 Plan was filed
as Exhibit A to our Definitive Proxy Statement, Commission File No. 0-10306, and is
incorporated herein by reference; the First Amendment to the 2003 Plan was filed as Exhibit
10(iii)(A)(7)(a) to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 14, 2005 and is
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incorporated herein by reference; and the form of restricted stock grant agreement was filed as
Exhibit 10(iii)(A).8-2 to our Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005
and is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.6 Independence Holding Company 1988 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “1988 Plan”), Form
of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 1988 Plan and Form of Stock Appreciation Rights
Agreement pursuant to the 1988 Plan. (The 1988 Plan was filed as Exhibit A to our Definitive
Proxy Statement, Commission File No. 0-10306, and is incorporated herein by reference; the First
Amendment to the 1988 Plan was filed as Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(5) to the Company Annual Report on
For 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997 and is incorporated herein by reference; the form
of stock option agreement was filed as a Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1988 and is incorporated herein by reference; the form of stock appreciation
rights agreement was filed as Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(6) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1999 and is incorporate d herein by reference.)

10.7 2006 Deferred Compensation Agreements for Performance Bonus, dated as of June 15, 2006,
between Independence Holding Company and, respectively, Ms. Teresa A. Herbert, Mr. David T.
Kettig and Mr. Jeffrey C. Smedsrud. (Filed, respectively, as Exhibit 10(iii)(A).9-3, Exhibit 10(iii)
(A).9-4 and Exhibit 10(iii)(A).9-5 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June
21, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.8 Employment Agreement, dated January 31, 2006, between Independence Holding Company and
Mr. Scott M. Wood, as amended. (The original agreement, as amended by amendments first and
second thereto, was filed as Exhibit 10.6 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and is incorporated herein by reference; the third amendment to the original
agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2007 and is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.9 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2006, between
Independence Holding Company and Mr. Jeffrey C. Smedsrud. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.10 Salary Continuation Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2006, by and between Mr. Scott M.
Wood and Insurers Administrative Corporation, as amended. (Filed as Exhibit 10(iii)(A).10-2 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and incorporated herein
by reference; amendment thereto filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.11 2005 Deferred Compensation Agreements for Performance Bonus, dated as of June 17, 2005,
between Independence Holding Company and, respectively, Ms. Teresa A. Herbert and Mr. David
T. Kettig. (Filed, respectively, as Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(8)(a) and Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(8)(b) to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.12 Retirement Benefit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 1991, between Independence Holding
Company and Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, as amended. (Filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference;
Amendment No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(4a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference; Amendment No. 2 filed as
Exhibit 10(iii)(4)(b) to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 22, 2005 and
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incorporated herein by reference; Amendment No. 3 filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.13 Senior Leadership Team Annual Cash Bonus Plan, effective as of November 9, 2005.  (Filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.14 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2007, by and between Independence
Holding Company and Mr. Bernon R. Erickson, Jr., as amended, (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 and incorporated herein by
reference; amendment thereto filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Other Exhibits

21 Subsidiaries of Independence Holding Company, as of March 16, 2009.*

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.*

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.*

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002.*

*Filed herewith.

Exhibits will be furnished upon request for a reasonable fee.
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EXHIBIT 21
 

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
 

Subsidiaries as of March 16, 2009

Subsidiary  Jurisdiction
  
Independence Capital Corp. Delaware
 Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. Wisconsin
 Credico Life Insurance Company Nevis
 Madison Investors Corporation Delaware
 Actuarial Management Corporation California
 Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York New York
 Standard Security Investors Corporation New York
 Majestic Underwriters LLC Delaware
 IHC Health Holdings Corp. Delaware
  IHC Health Solutions, Inc. Delaware
  Insurers Administrative Corporation Arizona
  Interlock Corporation Arizona
  Health Plan Administrators, Inc. Illinois
  HPA Marketing, Inc. Illinois
  GroupLink, Inc. Indiana
  GroupLink Reinsurance Company, Ltd. Turks & Caicos
     Wisconsin Underwriting Associates, Inc. Delaware
 On-Line Brokerage, Inc. Delaware
Madison Standard Corp. Wisconsin
Independence Holding LLC Delaware
G.P. Associates Holding Corp. Delaware
Independence Preferred Trust I Delaware
Independence Preferred Trust II Delaware
Independence Preferred Trust III Delaware



EXHIBIT 23
 
 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
The Board of Directors
Independence Holding Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (No. 333-134424) on Form S-
3 and (Nos. 33-23302, 333-117792, 333-118388 and 333-135070) on Form S-8 of Independence Holding
Company (the “Company”) of our reports dated March 16, 2009, with respect to the consolidated balance
sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2008, and all related financial statement schedules, and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, which reports appear in the December 31, 2008
Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 16, 2009



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRESIDENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
CERTIFICATION

I, Roy T. K. Thung certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Independence Holding Company;
  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

  
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

  
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

  
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

  
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 16, 2009

/s/ Roy T. K. Thung
Roy T. K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer and President



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
CERTIFICATION

I, Teresa A. Herbert, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Independence Holding Company;
  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

  
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

  
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

  
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

  
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 16, 2009

/s/ Teresa A. Herbert
Teresa A Herbert
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



 
EXHIBIT 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT

 TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Independence Holding Company (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on the date hereof (the "Report"),
I, Roy T. K. Thung, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

March 16, 2009

/s/ Roy T. K. Thung   *
Roy T. K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer and President

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.





EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
 TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Independence Holding Company (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on the date hereof (the "Report"),
I, Teresa A. Herbert, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

March 16, 2009

/s/ Teresa A. Herbert   *
Teresa A. Herbert
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.


